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Criteria CaixaHolding S.A.U. Management Report
for 2014

The financial information set out in this Management Report was obtained from the
accounting and management records of Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU ("Criteria") and is
presented in accordance with the National Chart of Accounts.
This report describes the key data and events of 2014 shaping the financial position of Criteria
and the evolution of its businesses, risks and likely outlook. Criteria's 2014 financial
statements, which this Management Report supplements, were prepared in accordance with
the Spanish National Chart of Accounts.

Criteria CaixaHolding – Management Report 2014

-1-

Criteria
Management Report for 2014

CONTENTS

PAGE

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS IN THE YEAR ......................................................................................................... 3
1. GROUP STRUCTURE AND STRATEGY .................................................................................................. 5
1.1. Group Structure ............................................................................................................................ 5
1.2. Criteria’s management principles and Strategic plan ................................................................... 6
2. BUSINESS PERFORMANCE AND RESULTS ........................................................................................... 8
2.1. Macroeconomic scenario for 2014 ............................................................................................... 8
2.2. Net Asset Value (NAV) ................................................................................................................. 11
2.3. Business results ........................................................................................................................... 18
2.4. Investee and business portfolio .................................................................................................. 21
3. RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES .............................................................................................................. 44
4. CREDIT RATINGS .............................................................................................................................. 46
5. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES ..................................................................................... 46
6. OWN SHARES TRANSACTIONS ......................................................................................................... 46
7. "la Caixa" WELFARE PROJECTS: 9.5 million beneficiaries ................................................................. 47
8. OTHER INFORMATION ..................................................................................................................... 50
9. 2015 OUTLOOK AND FORECAST PERFORMANCE FOR THE CRITERIA GROUP .................................... 52
9.1. 2015 outlook .............................................................................................................................. 52
9.2. Outlook for the Group................................................................................................................. 55
10. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD ........................................................................................ 57
11. 2014 ANNUAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT ....................................................................... 58

Criteria CaixaHolding – Management Report 2014

-2-

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS IN THE YEAR
Spin-off of the business activity of "la Caixa" Banking Foundation not connected with
Welfare Projects to Criteria (see Note 1 to the accompanying financial statements)
The deed relating to the spin-off of ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation to Criteria was entered in
the Barcelona Companies Registry on 14 October 2014. The assets and liabilities spun off
included: (i) the 58.91% of the share capital in CaixaBank, S.A. stake held by ”la Caixa” Banking
Foundation; and (ii) the debt instruments for which ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation was the
issuer (together with the hedging instruments entered into by ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation
and the valuation adjustments connected with these debt instruments). As a result of the spinoff, Criteria replaced ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation as the issuing entity of these instruments.
The ”la Caixa” Group successfully passed the comprehensive assessment exercice carried out
by the ECB with a CET1 capital ratio of 9.3%; under the adverse scenario, CaixaBank's ratio
would stand at 10.3% (see Note 4 ‘Managing capital adequacy’ to the consolidated financial
statements)
The ”la Caixa” Group has comfortably passed the comprehensive assessment conducted by the
European Central Bank (ECB), which involves a detailed asset quality review (AQR) and a strict
stress test coordinated by the European Banking Authority (EBA).
In performing their work, the European authorities designed an assessment plan for the entire
”la Caixa” Group, with information/data as of 31 December 2013, including Criteria’s industrial
stakes and real estate portfolio assets as at the date, and based also on the current prudential
consolidation when Caja de Ahorros y Pensiones de Barcelona was still a finantial institution,
which was eventually transformed into a banking foundation in 2014, in compliance with the
Law 26/2013. Following this scope, the ”la Caixa” Group obtained a capital surplus of EUR
6,777 million under the adverse scenario, with a Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) ratio of 9.3%.
CaixaBank carried out an internal process to apply the same assessment to itself under the
adverse scenario. The result was surplus capital of EUR 7,706 million and a Common Equity
Tier 1 (CET1) ratio of 10.3%. CaixaBank's greater capitalisation with respect to the ”la Caixa”
Group can largely be explained by the contribution made by the bank's non-controlling
shareholders and the impact on capital of the non-financial stakes of Criteria.
On the subject of the asset quality review (AQR), the authorities conducted an in-depth
analysis of the quality of the assets contained in the portfolios selected by the European
supervisor (those comprising SMEs, companies, large companies, corporations, real estate
developers and real estate). Together, these account for more than EUR 52,000 million of the
risk-weighted assets of the ”la Caixa” Group; over 50% of the total. During the probe, files
were assessed both jointly and individually, the latter requiring the authorities to sift through
935 different borrowers, selected from largest to smallest or by random sampling. All in all,
over 18,000 contracts were reviewed and the value of over 7,100 guarantees reappraised.
The process ultimately concluded that practically no further provisioning is required,
confirming that the Bank comfortably meets its coverage requirements and applies a prudent
policy of flagging and provisioning for impaired assets.
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Significant transactions regarding businesses and investees
1. Transfer of Agbar shares (stake held through Holding de Infraestructuras y Servicios
Urbanos, S.A.) (see Note 9.2 to the accompanying financial statements): on 18 July
Criteria signed an agreement with Suez Environnement Company, S.A. and Sociedad
General de Aguas de Barcelona, S.A. consisting of the transfer to Suez of Criteria's
24.14% stake in Agbar in exchange for 22 million shares of the new issue by Suez,
representing 4.1% of its share capital, and a cash amount of EUR 299 million. The
agreement also provided for the acquisition by Criteria of 15% of Aigües de Barcelona,
Empresa Metropolitana de Gestió del Cicle Integral de l’Aigua, S.A. from Agbar and of
a 14.5% stake in Aguas de Valencia, S.A. from Suez.
2. Contribution of Foment Immobiliari Assequible, SLU On 4 December 2014, the ”la
Caixa” Banking Foundation decided to increase Criteria's share capital by EUR 17
million, through the issue and circulation of 425,561 new shares with a par value of
EUR 40 each, along with a share premium of EUR 196 million in total. The new shares
were fully subscribed and paid by the Sole Shareholder, the Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions
de Barcelona ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation, through the non-monetary contribution
of all the shares that it owned of Foment Immobiliari Assequible, S.L.U.
Issue on wholesale markets
Issue of plain vanilla bonds amounting to EUR 1,000 million (see Note 17 to the
accompanying financial statements)
On 30 April 2014, ”la Caixa” issued unsecured plain vanilla (senior) bonds amounting to EUR
1,000 million, which form part of the assets and liabilities spun off by “la Caixa” Banking
Foundation to Criteria.
Other relevant developments
1. On 28 May 2014, ”la Caixa” redeemed early the outstanding nominal balance of the
"Subordinated Bond Issue of Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona – January 2009"
amounting to EUR 2,500 million (see Note 17 to the accompanying financial statements).
2. Mandatory conversion to CaixaBank shares of all Series I/2011 and Series I/2012,
mandatorily convertible subordinated bonds (see Note 9 to the accompanying financial
statements), amounting to EUR 1,179 million and EUR 743 million, respectively. The
percentage stake in CaixaBank dropped as a result.
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1.

GROUP STRUCTURE AND STRATEGY

1.1.

Group structure

At 31 December 2013, Criteria was a wholly owned subsidiary of Caja de Ahorros y Pensiones
de Barcelona, “la Caixa” (hereinafter, “la Caixa”).
Pursuant to Law 26/2013 on savings banks and banking foundations, on 16 June 2014, “la
Caixa” became a banking foundation, called Fundación Bancaria “la Caixa” (“la Caixa” Banking
Foundation), whose corporate purpose is the direct management of the welfare projects
traditionally carried out by “la Caixa” and management of its banking investment (CaixaBank),
as established by this Law.
Subsequently, in October 2014, in order to make a clear distinction between the management
of the welfare projects and the economic activities not associated with welfare activities, the
”la Caixa” Banking Foundation spun off the assets and liabilities not assigned to welfare
activities to Criteria, including the stake held by the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation in
CaixaBank, and the debt instruments for which it was the issuer. As a result, the ”la Caixa”
Banking Foundation now holds its stake in CaixaBank indirectly through Criteria.
Therefore, following the corporate restructuring, Criteria is a wholly owned subsidiary of the
“la Caixa” Banking Foundation, which manages the Group's business assets, specifically the
shareholdings in strategic sectors, including energy, infrastructure, services, and real estate. It
also manages the shareholdings of CaixaBank, the leading financial group in Spanish retail
banking market.

1.

Fully diluted stake of 56% in 2017. 2. Economic stake: 19.22%. Corporate interest: 23.09%. 3.Economic stake: 19.25%. Corporate
interest:23.12%
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1.2.

Criteria's management principles and Strategic plan

The 2011-2014 "la Caixa" Group Strategic Plan titled “Making a difference” has successfully
ended, having comfortably overcome the challenges raised despite having been implemented
against a testing macroeconomic, financial and regulatory backdrop. Within the framework of
this plan, one of the key aims of which was to be proactive in the face of changes in the
regulatory environment and the market, CaixaBank was listed on the stock market in 2011, the
”la Caixa” Banking Foundation was created in June 2014 and its assets and liabilities were spin
off to Criteria in October of the same year.
The plan was designed in line with the conviction that the long-term sustainability of the ”la
Caixa” Group is ensured by the commitment to excellence in daily dealings with customers,
employees, shareholders and other stakeholders. With that aim in mind and drawing from the
unique management model, proactive efforts and prudent approach, the Group set nine
strategic goals, with an underlying emphasis on quality, reputation and financial strength.
The commitment to quality and customer trust has been critical over recent years, as has our
flexible service, which has responded sensitively to the new social situations and needs that
have arisen. The financial system has undergone major changes and capacity adjustments and
CaixaBank has remained fully committed to this process of financial inclusion through an
extensive branch network and the efforts of MicroBank. The results obtained by the CaixaBank
Group, together with the management of a diversified portfolio of investees, and recurring
returns, enabled it to maintain a budget of EUR 500 million yearly in recent years for ”la Caixa”
welfare projects. As laid down in its strategic guidelines, projects to aid the most vulnerable
groups in society have been a priority.
In addition, the Group's stronger financial position resulting from the process has allowed it to
ease through the new capital adequacy and liquidity requirements while passing the asset
quality reviews and stress tests conducted by the European authorities. This financial strength
was key for taking an active part in the consolidation process of the Spanish banking system
and to implement a growth strategy, which cemented the Group's leadership in retail banking.
In these years, the Group has rolled out initiatives and set up transversal teams with the aim of
improving key processes and bringing the Bank and its operational management in line with
the long-term vision set out in the Strategic Plan. This has enabled it to meet virtually all of the
following strategic priorities for the 2011-2014 horizon, as shown previously:
 Leadership in retail banking in Spain
 Financial strengthImproving quality and reputation
 Focus on innovation
 Improving risk-adjusted returns
 Further expansion abroad
 Diversifying the business portfolio towards large companies and SMEs
 Strengthening Criteria CaixaHolding as the Group's investment arm
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 Confirming the role of Welfare Projects and MicroBank

Following the satisfactory conclusion of the 2011-2014 Strategic Plan, Criteria will develop
a new strategic vision that will fully include the organisational changes at the Group and the
new CaixaBank Group 2015-2018 Strategic Plan, while keeping Criteria’s historical
management principles, as folows:
•

•

Investment in top-level companies with a significant presence in their respective
markets, the capacity to create recurring value and profits, and manageable risk
levels.
Participation in the governing bodies of these companies, taking an active role in
defining the companies’ future policies and strategies and contributing to their growth
and development.
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2.

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE AND RESULTS

2.1.

Macroeconomic scenario for 2014

Global and market trends
In 2014 the world economy consolidated its recovery. This growth trend benefited many of the
leading major economies: the United States grew by 2.4%, China by 7.4% and even the
eurozone, an economy with a different medium-term pace of growth, grew by 0.8% in 2014
according to our estimates. However, the recovery was not uniform. There were notable
exceptions such as Japan, whose growth is estimated at 0.3%, as well as Russia and Brazil. The
main reason behind this uneven performance was the different cyclical positions in each
country - some were in a mature phase, others were in an incipient recovery phase.

International economy: GDP growth
Year-on-year change (%)
8
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World
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Japan
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2014

Source: “la Caixa” Research

In this context of a recovery at different speeds, the general guideline for economic policy was
to support the recovery, particularly through expansive monetary policies. Thus, the Federal
Reserve in the US held its benchmark rate at 0.25% and prolonged its third round of asset
purchases (QE3) until November. Meanwhile, the Bank of Japan unveiled a new, highly
ambitious asset purchase programme, which was added to other measures already in place. In
the eurozone, the European Central Bank (ECB) set the benchmark rate at 0.05%, following
two cuts, and launched a programme to purchase debt and covered bonds, and to grant credit
to credit institutions on advantageous terms with regard to duration and interest rates, under
the condition that they in turn grant credit to the real economy (except mortgage loans). Since
these measures had relatively modest results in terms of the use made of them by the financial
institutions, at year-end 2014, the ECB announced that it was ready to buy public debt if
conditions required such a move.
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Furthermore, the sharp decline in the price of oil (the 50% drop in a barrel of Brent in 2014 is
the largest fall recorded since 2008) certainly had a negative effect on some of the large
producers, such as Russia. This is despite the fact that, worldwide, the decline in fuel prices is
having a positive effect on growth and inflation. When taking into account the fact that the
prices of other commodities also fell, albeit less than crude, the list of countries affected
adversely grows, and includes many net commodity exporters from Latin America, Africa and
Asia.
As a result of this cyclical divergence and the uncertainty that surrounded future monetary
policy at times, the financial markets tended to undergo higher volatility in the second half of
2014. Stock markets in general suffered several episodes of falling prices and rising volatility in
July, October and December. Despite this turbulence, the US stock markets ended 2014 on a
significant high and even the most sluggish stock market in the eurozone was able to end the
year with gains. Beyond the equity markets, as a consequence of, among other factors, the
different monetary policy stance taken in the United States compared with that of the
eurozone, the dollar appreciated strongly against the main international currencies.
Performance in the eurozone and Spain
2014 in the eurozone was dominated by the difficulties in speeding up growth and in escaping
from the risk of deflation. However, as mentioned above, despite the estimated GDP growth of
0.8%, the significant differences between countries in growth terms, e.g. the contrast between
the positive 1.5% for Germany and the 0.4% decline in Italy (both estimates), certain times
when doubts emerged as to the robustness of the recovery, and a price trend persistently
lower than forecast, marred the performance for the year, to such an extent that the ECB had
to make a clear, expansive change in tack in June, as described above.
Against this somewhat disappointing backdrop in Europe, the Spanish economy posted 1.4%
growth in 2014, its best year since 2007. Various aspects were behind this differential
behaviour in comparison with the eurozone as a whole. From a circumstantial viewpoint, in
2014 a series of support factors for the recovery that first appeared in 2013 bore fruit in 2014:
the improvement in financial conditions (bolstered by the ECB's expansive monetary policy), a
significant recovery in the job market and a rebound in confidence in the Spanish economy's
growth capacity. All the above helped consolidate a clear improvement in domestic demand,
particularly household consumption, which grew above the historical average. Higher
household expenditure was accompanied by a sound performance in capital expenditure and
even residential investment in the final stretch of the year. This latter trend, together with
other indicators, demonstrates that 2014 was the year in which the adjustment in the
construction sector, following six years of contraction, came to an end.
As a result of the considerable growth in domestic demand, imports rose significantly. This
figure, combined with a more moderate performance by exports, gave rise to a negative
contribution from foreign trade in 2014. Within this environment of recovery and positive
macroeconomic valuation, the note of discord came from falling prices. While it is true to say
that inflation fell largely on the back of the sharp decline in oil prices, even excluding this
impact the change in prices still failed to reach positive territory. Therefore, general inflation
stood at -0.1% and underlying inflation (excluding energy and fresh food) was 0%. The general
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diagnosis is that this level of prices is temporary and that, as the economy approaches more
mature phases of the cycle, inflation will bounce back to less troubling levels.
The positive performance by the Spanish economy was supported by the banking sector,
which has benefited from not only the restructuring of previous years but also the progress
made on the institutional front. In 2014 decisive steps were taken with regard to regulations
and to institutional progress towards the European Banking Union. In particular, the launch of
the Single Supervisory Mechanism, which involves the assumption by the ECB of the
supervisory functions for all the banks in the eurozone (and of those from European Union
countries that so desire), is a major milestone on the road to constructing a European Banking
Union. Prior to the transfer of supervisory powers from the domestic to the transnational
arena, a series of stress tests were performed on European banks that threw up very positive
results for Spanish banks and dispelled most of the regulatory uncertainty that might have
existed in respect of the individual situation of certain entities in Spain. This process to finalise
the institutional framework in which Spanish banks will operate in the future will continue
over the next few years, when the Single Resolution Mechanism becomes operational and the
directive aimed at harmonising national deposit guarantee funds enters into force.
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2.2

Net asset value (NAV)

This section details various financial aggregates, mainly investments and debt, in line with the
management criteria.
Criteria's Net Asset Value (NAV) is as follows:
Millions of euros

3

31/12/2014

01/01/2014

Change

28,965

25,379

14.1%

...of which, listed assets

25,125

21,388

17.5%

% of listed assets over GAV

86.7%

84.3%

2.4pp

(8,925)

(9,309)

-4.1%

NAV (net asset value)

20,040

16,035

25.1%

Net debt / GAV (%)

30.8%

36.7%

-5.9pp

GAV (gross asset value)

Net debt position

2

1

(1) Listed investees were valued taking the number of shares and the closing price at the date considered. Non-listed investees
and property assets were valued using their carrying amount at 31 December of each year.
(2) Pro-forma figures are based on the aggregate net debt/cash position reflected in the separate financial statements of Criteria
and the holding companies. Not including the net debt position from the CaixaBank Group scope.
(3) Pro-forma figures taking into consideration whether the spin-off of the assets and liabilities of "la Caixa" Banking Foundation to
Criteria had been formally completed.
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Breakdown of, and trend in, Criteria's GAV, at 31 December 2014

Note: The ratings for the investees follow the following order: Moody’s/S&P/Fitch

The following chart illustrates the trend, by investee, in the GAV in 2014:
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The main changes in the foregoing chart are explained below:
Divestment in Agbar and investment in Suez Environnement and other investees
As described in Note 9.2 to the accompanying financial statements, an agreement was entered
into between Criteria and the French group Suez Environnement (which had controlled 75.35%
of Agbar's share capital until then) for the sale of its 24.14% indirect holding in Agbar in
exchange for 22 million newly-issued shares of Suez Environnement, representing 4.1% of its
share capital, and EUR 299 million in cash.
As part of the agreement, Criteria declared its intent to allocate part of the cash received to
purchase Suez Environnement shares on the stock market, for the purpose of obtaining,
depending on market conditions, up to 7% of the share capital of Suez Environnement. In
doing so, Criteria became Suez Environnement's second largest shareholder.
As part of the deal, Suez Environnement undertook to ensure that Criteria is represented on its
board of directors and strategy committee. In turn, Criteria agreed to maintain its investment
in Suez Environnement over the next four years.
Within the framework of the historical cooperation with Suez Environnement in the Spanish
market, the agreement between the two groups included a clause in which Criteria undertook
to acquire from Agbar 15% of Aigües de Barcelona, Empresa Metropolitana del Cicle Integral
de l’Aigua, SA, a company that manages the end-to-end water cycle in the metropolitan area
of Barcelona, and to purchase from Suez Environnement 14.51% of its holding in Aguas de
Valencia (see Note 10 to the accompanying financial statements).
The impact on the Company's results of the sale of the Agbar shares was not material. At 31
December 2014, the stake in Suez was 5.67%.
Non-monetary contribution of the shares of Foment Immobiliari Assequible
As explained in Notes 1 and 9.1 to the accompanying financial statements, the non-monetary
contribution of the total capital of Foment Immobiliari Assequible, SAU owned by the ”la
Caixa” Banking Foundation to Criteria was filed in the Barcelona Companies' Registry in
December 2014.
The aim of this contribution is to group all the real estate assets being commercially exploited
and debt related thereto within the current scope of the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation and
Criteria under one owner, thereby unlocking synergies.
This transaction signals the addition to Criteria of a portfolio of internally developed real estate
assets not originating from CaixaBank's lending activity mainly earmarked for the subsidised
housing market. The carrying amount of the assets received is EUR 595 million. In addition,
banking debt instruments were received that are linked to this activity, in the amount of EUR
376 million. All the debt is with CaixaBank.
Therefore, the non-monetary contribution of Foment Immobiliari Assequible to Criteria
represents an improvement in the NAV of approximately EUR 219 million.
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Other transactions
In 2014 the Company sold its 5.79% stake in Inmobiliaria Colonial for EUR 14,997 thousand,
which gave rise to a pre-tax gain of EUR 4,760 thousand.
Also, it sold 0.19% of Gas Natural and increased capital at Vithas Sanidad, which for Criteria
gave rise to a payment of EUR 10,400 thousand.
Breakdown and trend in Net Debt
For management purposes, Criteria considers net debt to be all debt instruments and cash or
cash equivalents held by Criteria and by companies wholly owned by it. Therefore, for
management purposes, the debt of, for example, the CaixaBank Group scope or of the Saba
Infraestructuras Group is not taken into consideration.
Criteria’s gross debt for management purposes amounted to EUR 9,445 million at 31
December 2014. Taking cash and cash equivalents into consideration, net debt at that date
amounted to EUR 8,925 million.
The following chart contains a detail of gross debt, by maturity:

As can be observed in the chart, Criteria does not have any significant maturities until 2017.
The following chart shows the positive quarterly trend of both net debt and the debt ratio, i.e.
Net Debt / GAV:
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Note: The figures prior to 2014 are calculated on a pro-forma basis taking into consideration the structure at 1 January 2014
following the spin-off of the Banking Foundation's assets and liabilities to Criteria.

The change in gross and net debt in 2014 is illustrated below:
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In 2014 the main transactions connected with the management of debt consisted of:
Refinancing of the subordinated bonds of "la Caixa" for EUR 2,500 million
On 28 May 2014, the entire issue of subordinated bonds, amounting to EUR 2,500 million, was
redeemed early. The initial maturity was February 2019 and the coupon was 3-month Euribor
plus a 200 basis point spread, with a floor for the customer of 3.94% The redemption price was
100% of the nominal amount of the issue, plus, where applicable, the accrued unpaid coupon.
An interest rate derivative had been arranged for this issue, for which the Company paid an
effective variable rate tied to the three-month Euribor rate plus a spread of 200bp. In April
2014, this hedge was cancelled, giving rise to income in cash of EUR 158,150 thousand, which
was recognised under "Gains (losses) on sales and other items" in Criteria's income statement,
for management purposes.
In order to refinance the subordinated bonds described above, Criteria carried out the
following transactions:
•

•

EUR 1,000 million senior bond: on 30 April 2014, “la Caixa” approved the terms and
conditions of an unsecured plain vanilla (senior) bond issue for a total nominal amount
of EUR 1,000 million. The issue price was 99.5777%, with an annual return of 2.375%.
The investment was aimed exclusively at Spanish and foreign qualified and/or
institutional investors. The issue closed and the bonds were allocated on 9 May 2014,
maturing in five years. This issue formed part of the spin-off of assets and liabilities not
assigned to ”la Caixa” welfare projects to Criteria described in Notes 1 and 2 to the
accompanying financial statements.
Bilateral loans with financial institutions: in May 2014, four Spanish financial
institutions, including CaixaBank, granted unsecured bank financing to “la Caixa”,
maturing in 2019 (five years), for a total amount of EUR 1,175 million.

By means of these operations the following goals were achieved: diversification of the sources
of funding, giving access to the institutional investors and financial institutions, and a reduction
in the cost of debt.
Partial redemption of plain vanilla bonds with Group companies
In July 2014, Criteria reduced the nominal value of the plain vanilla bonds subscribed by
CaixaBank in June 2012, to EUR 37 million each.
As a result, the total value of the plain vanilla bonds that mature on 1 January 2020, decresead
from EUR 1,350 million to EUR 999 million.
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Interest rate management
Criteria’s policy is to hedge interest rate risk, when it is considered to be more profitable than
not doing it. In this respect, given that the interest rates have fallen to the historical
minimums, Criteria has contracted interest rate hedging instruments (IRS) for the long-term
loans with a variable interest rate.
Applying this policy, 79% of Criteria’s debt is at fixed rates.
Interest coverage ratio
This ratio measures the capacity to generate internal recurring funds to meet the interest
payments on debt.
The trend in this ratio from 2013 to 2014 is detailed below:
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2.3. Business results
Criteria's individual income statement, for management purposes:

Millions of euros
CaixaBank dividend
Industrial portfolio dividend
Gas Natural
Abertis
Agbar
Other holding
Management of real estate assets
Structural costs
Net financing costs
Gains/losses on sales and others
Corporate income tax
Net profit/loss Criteria Individual

ACTUAL
2014
72
440
310
110
19
1
(147)
(32)
(294)
66
242
346

ACTUAL
2013
435
310
106
19
1
(681)
(13)
(48)
241
175
110

CHANGE
%

1
4
(78)
143
(73)
38
-

Criteria's net profit in 2014 amounted to EUR 346 million, after the impact of segregating the
assets and liabilities not related to the Welfare Projects of the “la Caixa” Banking Foundation in
favour of Criteria, which included cash dividends received from CaixaBank, funding costs for
debt originally issued by “la Caixa” and operating expenses.
Dividends from CaixaBank
In 2014, CaixaBank distributed 4 dividends amounting to a total of EUR 0.20 euros per share,
all as part of the scrip dividend programme.
From the 4 Caixabank scrip dividends, Criteria opted to receive EUR 72 million in cash
(recognised in the accompanying income statement) and EUR 584 million in shares (resulting in
a larger holding of shares in the investee, a lower carrying cost per share but no impact on the
accompanying income statement).
Dividends from the industrial portfolio
Dividends on the industrial portfolio in 2014 amounted to EUR 440 million, up 1.1% on 2013.
This once again reflects the stability of the dividend policy of the two main industrial
shareholdings -Gas Natural and Abertis- which contribute 95% of the dividends on this
portfolio.
Furthermore, and although this had no impact on the accompanying income statement,
Abertis continued to apply its usual scrip issue policy, delivering one new share for each 20
existing shares.
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Real estate management
Criteria bases its real estate management strategy on maximising its value, to the detriment of
high sales volumes. Consequently, in 2014, Criteria carried out a more selective sale policy,
prioritising margins. Its sales totalled EUR 71 million, with a margin of almost 20%. In addition,
rentals generated EUR 21 million in income.
Pursuant to the Bank of Spain's valuation rule and the annual appraisal process for the real
estate portfolio, a further write-down of EUR 72 million was recognised on this portfolio. This
amount is significantly lower than that of previous years in view of the slower decline in
housing and land prices.

Financial result
Since 1 January 2014, the financial result incorporates the funding expenses resulting from the
EUR 7,805 million of debt of “la Caixa” at that date, which was segregated in favour of Criteria
in October.
At 31 December 2013, Criteria's debt amounted to EUR 2.3 billion, whilst its gross debt at 31
December 2014 amounted to EUR 8.779 billion as a result of the segregation of assets and
liabilities in favour of Criteria.
Although the liability management carried out in the year generated a reduction in the debt
service cost, this is not reflected fully for accounting purposes, due to the impact of
cancellation of the hedge on the subordinated bonds totalling EUR 2.5 billion, which generated
up-front income of EUR 158 million. The latter amount was not reflected under this line item
but rather under Gains (losses) on sales and other items.
Gains (losses) on sales and other items
In 2014 Gains (losses) on sales and other items mainly related to the following transactions:
•

The cancellation in April of the hedging derivatives relating to the subordinated bonds
totalling EUR 2,500 million, which generated a gain of EUR 158 million.

•

The gain on the sale of the entire stake in Inmobiliaria Colonial, amounting to EUR 5
million.

•

The gain of EUR 13 million on the sale of securities and options relating to Gas Natural.

•

Changes in the fair value of the bond issue exchangeable for CaixaBank shares for a
value of EUR 750 million, generating a loss of EUR 102 million in 2014(Notes 18 and 20
to the accompanying financial statements).

•

The gain on the sale of the entire stake in Hisusa (which held shares in Agbar), which
had an insignificant impact on the company's results.
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In 2013, the following transactions were recognised:
•

Sale of 3.3% of the stake in Abertis, generating a gain of EUR 150 million.

•

Sale of the real estate management business to CaixaBank, which subsequently
transferred it to a new company controlled by the US fund, TPG. This gave rise to EUR
81 million in income for Criteria.

•

A gain of EUR 7 million on the sale of securities and options relating to Gas Natural.

•

The gain on the sale of the entire stake in Metrovacesa, amounting to EUR 6 million.

Corporate income tax
In 2014 the Corporate Income Tax line item includes the non-recurring impact on Criteria of
the tax reform which particularly affects the non-taxable gains on certain stakes sold. At 31
December 2014, the impact on Criteria represented income of EUR 127 million (Note 19 of the
accompanying financial statements).
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2.4.

Investee and business portfolio

The key aspects of Criteria's investee and business portfolio are detailed below:
2.4.1. Banking business: Caixabank
Business model
At 31 December 2014, Criteria CaixaHolding held a 58.96% stake in CaixaBank. CaixaBank is an
integrated financial group with insurance activities. It also holds stakes in international banks
and in leading service sector companies.

Leadership
CaixaBank is the leader in retail banking in the Spanish market, with a customer base of 13.4
million and 5,251 branches. In 2014 market penetration for customers stood at 27.6% (+ 20
basis points) with 23.5% of customers having CaixaBank as their preferred bank. This
commercial strength enables CaixaBank to maintain high market shares in the main retail
products and services.
1

Market share, by product

2014

2013

Loa ns from res i dent pri va te s ector (ORS)

14.9%

15.0%

Depos i ts from res i dent pri va te sector (ORS)

14.5%

14.4%

Sa vi ngs i ns ura nce

21.3%

21.1%

Pens i on pla ns (indi vidua l + guaranteed)

19.4%

18.7%

Mutual funds

15.3%

14.1%

Fa ctori ng + revers e factori ng

18.4%

17.6%

Commerci al l oa ns

13.1%

14.4%

Loa ns wi th mortga ge col l a teral

15.9%

15.8%

2014

2013

Pa yrol l depos i ts

23.1%

21.6%

Pens i on depos i ts

Market share, by service

1

20.0%

19.9%

Ca rds (revenue own cards )

21.4%

21.1%

Ma rket s hare, bra nch offi ces

17.3%

16.8%
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Market share

2

2014

2013

Ma rket s hare among i ndi vi dual cus tomers (>18 years )

27.6%

27.4%

Indi vidua l s ci ti ng Cai xa Ba nk a s thei r preferred ba nk

23.5%

22.7%

Sel f-empl oyed

31.3%

29.9%

1

Latest information available. Market shares prepared in-house. Source: Bank of Spain, Social Security, INVERCO, AEF (Spanish Factoring
Association) and ICEA.
2

Source FRS Inmark.

Specialisation
In order to adapt to the various profiles and needs of its customers, CaixaBank offers a wide
range of personalised, value-added services to each customer, thanks to a specific catalogue of
financial and non-financial solutions and a dedicated teams of expert professionals.
Innovation and a multi-channel model
This specialised business model is complemented by a leading multi-channel distribution
system nourished by the Bank's entrenched culture of innovation and ongoing investment in
technology. CaixaBank is the leader in electronic banking, with more than 13.7 million cards
and new channels with 5.5 active customers in online banking, and 3.4 million in mobile
banking.
CaixaBank is a benchmark in the financial sector in terms of innovation and new technologies.
It has received the following awards:
•

•
•

The prize for the bank most committed to innovation in the Global Banking Innovation
Awards in 2013 and 2014. The award for the best innovation in products and services
for the Recibox application.
Euromoney prize for the best retail bank in innovation and technology in 2013 and
2014.
"The Banker" award for best innovation in technological channels, for the stock market
investment application for wearable devices.

Business activity
At 31 December 2014, total assets amounted to EUR 338,623 million.
Customer funds grew by 5.2% (EUR 13,467 million) to EUR 271,758 million, with particular
growth in off-balance-sheet products.
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31-12-14

YoY
change %

31-12-13

€ million

Financial liabilities - due to customers
Funds from customer activity
Demand depos i ts
Term depos i ts
Debt s ecuri ti es (retai l )
Reta il s ubordi nated debt
Repurchase agreements and other accounts
Liabilities under insurance contracts

175,034
172,551
93,583
72,682
2,933
3,353
2,483
32,275

171,491
168,374
80,482
81,216
3,075
3,601
3,117
30,831

2.1
2.5
16.3
(10.5)
(4.6)
(6.9)
(20.3)
4.7

Total on-balance sheet customer funds
Mutua l funds and SICAVs
Pens i on pl ans
1
Other accounts

207,309
37,482
19,941
7,026

202,322
27,952
16,797
11,220

2.5
34.1
18.7
(37.4)

64,449

55,969

15.2

271,758

258,291

5.2

Total off-balance sheet customer funds
Total customer funds
1

Includes, among other items, financial assets sold to retail customers, which embrace placements of subordinated debt issued by “la
Caixa” (now “la Caixa” Banking Foundation).

Gross customer lending of EUR 197,185 million (-4.8%). This change, affected by the general
deleveraging process, was caused mainly by the reduction in lending to the real estate
development sector (-29.6%) and default management. For the performing portfolio excluding
real estate developers, the decline was limited to 1.7%, increasing by 2.7% in the fourth
quarter.

31-12-14

YoY
change %

31-12-13

€ million

Loans to individuals

111,350

117,760

(5.4)

Res i denti a l mortga ges

80,421

84,412

(4.7)

Other

30,929

33,348

(7.3)

72,276

79,305

(8.9)

Non rea l -es ta te bus ines s es

56,793

58,667

(3.2)

Rea l es ta te devel opers

14,069

19,980

(29.6)

1,414

658

114.9

13,559

10,166

33.4

197,185

207,231

(4.8)

171,111

174,144

Loans to companies

Criteri a Ca i xa Hol ding a nd Ba nking Founda ti on “l a Ca ixa ”
Public sector
Total gross customer lending
Of which:
Non-real estate businesses performing loans

(1.7)

NPL provi s i ons

(10,587)

(14,976)

(29.3)

Total net customer lending

186,598

192,255

(2.9)

10,242

10,299

(0.6)

Memorandum items:
Total contingent risks
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Results
January-December
2014

€ million

Finance income

2013

1

Change
(%)

8,791

9,301

(5.5)

(4,636)

(5,346)

(13.3)

4,155

3,955

5.1

Dividends

185

107

73.4

Result of companies accounted for using the equity method

306

339

(9.8)

1,825

1,760

640

679

(5.8)

Other operating income and expense

(171)

(475)

(64.0)

Gross income/(loss)

6,940

6,365

9.0

(3,773)

(3,947)

(4.4)

Finance costs
Net interest income

Net fee and commission
Gains on financial assets and liabilities and exchange differences

Recurring operating expenses
Non-recurring operating expenses

(839)

Pre-impairment income/(loss)
Recurring pre-impairment income

3.7

2

Impairment losses on financial and other assets
Gains/(losses) on disposal of assets and others

3,167

1,579

100.5

3,167

2,685

18.0

(2,579)

(4,329)

(40.5)

(386)

Profit/(loss) before tax

202

Income tax

418

Consolidated profit/(loss) for the period

620

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests
Profit/(loss) attributable to the Group

1,770
(980)
1,288
308

(67.6)
101.1

(8)
620

316

96.3

1

The income statement for 2013 has been re-estimated in accordance with the new entry for the contributions to the Deposit
Guarantee Fund in application of the IFRIC 21 and NIC 8.

2

In 2013, does not include €-267 million for the impact of the new accounting entry for the Deposit Guarantee Fund, or €-839 million in
Group restructuring costs.

Attributable profit amounted to EUR 620 million, featuring:
•
•
•
•

•

Growth in the core banking business income (net interest income up 5.1% and fee and
commission income up 3.7%), thus demonstrating the strength of the branch network.
Cost containment and synergy generation led to a reduction in recurring expenses (4.4%).
An 18.0% increase in recurring operating income with an improvement in the recurring
cost-to-income ratio to 54.4% (-5.1 percentage points in 2014).
Lower insolvency provisions (-48.4%) following the improvement in credit quality in
2014 and one-off impacts in 2013 (mainly, the recognition of EUR 902 million for the
coverage of 100% of the provision requirements arising from Royal Decree Law
18/2012 for real estate developer risk). Reduction in the cost of risk to 1.00% (1.86% in
2013).
Provisions recognised in relation to early retirement, write-downs on real estate assets
and extraordinary tax income.
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•

•

2014 profit amounted to EUR 620 million (+96.3%). It stood at EUR 316 million in 2013
following the new accounting recognition of the contribution to the Deposit Guarantee
Fund (a net impact of EUR -187 million).
One-off impacts in 2013, particularly: the negative goodwill in business combinations
relating to Banco de Valencia, amounting to EUR 2,289 million and the gain on the sale
of a portion of the stake in Group Financiero Inbursa, of 51% of the real estate
management business (EUR 255 million, gross) and of the non-life insurance business
from Banca Cívica and Banco de Valencia to SegurCaixa Adeslas (EUR 79 million, gross).

Financial strengths
Liquidity

Excellent liquidity position....

(€ million)

...with a strong financing structure

Net Interbank
Deposits

60,762

Wholesale
Funding

56,665
9%
Unused
ECB
discount
facility 1

31,620
30,740

16%

100%
Immedi
ately
availabl
e

75%
Balance
Sheet
Liquidity

29,142

25,925

16.7%
Group
Assets

Retail
Funding

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2014

Drawn down - ECB facility: €6,868 M

Total financing: €230,797 M
Loan-to-deposit ratio: 104%

At 31 December 2014, the banking liquidity amounted to EUR 56,665 million, all of which was
immediately available (16.7% of assets).
CaixaBank has a robust retail financing structure with a loan-to-deposit ratio of 104% (-5.6
percentage points in 2014).
Early repayment in 2014 of all the ECB LTRO funding, in the amount of EUR 15,480 million.
Since 2013, taking the inclusion of Banco de Valencia into consideration, a total of EUR 34,048
million has been repaid. In turn, it obtained further long-term financing from the ECB (TLTRO)
totalling EUR 6,868 million, maturing on 28 September 2018.
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Capital adequacy
CaixaBank has attained a Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) of 13.1% under Basel III at December
2014, according to the progressive application approach in effect in 2014 and pursuant to the
definitions contained in Bank of Spain Circular 3/2014, of 30 July. An increase of 128 basis
points in 2014 as a result of the generation of capital, after applying the extraordinary
contribution for 2013 and the pre-payment of the ordinary contributions paid in 2014 and
2013 to the Deposit Guarantee Fund as an expense in 2013 and 2012, respectively.
Total eligible equity (Tier Total) stood at 16.2%, up 163 basis points on 1 January 2014.
Under the new Basel III standards, the CRR sets out a minimum CET1 ratio under Pillar 1 of
4.5% in 2014 and maintains the Tier Total at 8%. At 31 December 2014, CaixaBank had a
surplus over the minimum requirement of EUR 12,011 million in Tier 1 capital (CET1) and of
EUR 11,489 million in Tier Total (up 14.1% on the beginning of the year).
Risk-weighted assets (RWA) amounted to EUR 139,519 million. This is EUR 12,983 million less
than at December 2013, due largely to the decline in lending activity.
Applying the criteria expected for the end of the transitional period, CaixaBank had a fullyloaded CET1 ratio of 12.3%, implying a buffer of EUR 7,232 million over the fully-loaded
minimum regulatory Pillar 1 requirement of 7%, which includes a 2.5% capital cushion.
In 2014, the European Central Bank (ECB) and the European Banking Authority (EBA)
conducted a comprehensive assessment of the European banking sector. The process involved
an asset quality review (AQR) and a raft of stress tests on the position of European banks at 31
December 2013. According to the official results published in October, the ”la Caixa” Group
comfortably passed the assessment with a CET1 ratio of 9.3% in an adverse scenario.
An internal assessment of CaixaBank using the same methodology threw up a CET1 ratio of
10.3% in an adverse scenario. CaixaBank's greater capitalisation with respect to the ”la Caixa”
Group can largely be explained by the contribution made by the bank's non-controlling
shareholders and the impact on capital of the non-financial stakes of Criteria CaixaHolding, a
subsidiary of the ”la Caixa” Group.
At 31 December 2014, the leverage ratio stood at 5.8% (5.4% in fully-loaded).
Risk management
In 2014 there was a sustained decline in doubtful balances (down EUR 5,255 million) and in the
non-performing loans ratio with robust coverage.
The non-performing loans ratio fell by two percentage points to 9.7%, with a reduction in each
segment. The trend featured a substantial drop in doubtful balances (-242 basis points), which
helped offset the deleveraging effect (+45 basis points).
Stripping out the impact of the real estate developer sector, the NPL ratio stood at 6.4%,
(down 40bp on 2014).
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31.12.14

31.12.13

20,110

25,365

NPL ratio

9.7%

11.7%

NPL ratio (non real-estate
companies)

6.4%

6.8%

NPL provisions

11,120

15,478

Coverage ratio

55%

61%

Coverage ratio, stripping out realestate developers

54%

63%

(loans + contingent risks)

Non-performing assets

At 31 December 2014, net foreclosed assets totalled EUR 6,719 million. In addition, CaixaBank
foreclosed real-estate assets held for lease (classified as investment property for accounting
purposes) amounted to EUR 2,771 million, net of provisions, at December 31, 2014.
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2.4.2. Portfolio of industrial holdings: Gas Natural (34.3%)
Gas Natural Fenosa is a leading multinational company in the gas and electricity sector,
operating in over 25 countries, serving more than 24 million customers and with an installed
capacity of ~15 GW.
After the acquisition of the electricity company Unión Fenosa in 2009, the third largest in the
Spanish market, Gas Natural Fenosa reached its goal of integrating the gas and electricity
businesses in a company with wide experience in the energy sector that is equipped to
compete efficiently in markets undergoing a process of growing integration, globalisation and
heightened competition.
Gas Natural Fenosa is the largest end-to-end gas and electricity company in Spain and Latin
America, the leader in the natural gas sales market in the Iberian Peninsula and the largest
distributor of natural gas in Latin America. The company is also a benchmark in LNG and
natural gas from the Atlantic and Mediterranean basin.
2014 highlights
During 2014 and in line with its strategic plan, Gas Natural Fenosa continued optimising its
business portfolio, selling its telecommunications subsidiary in July and extending its
international operations with the acquisition of the Chile-based CGE in November.
The CGE Group was purchased through a tender offer accepted by 96.5% of the share capital.
The related payment was approximately EUR 2,550 million. The total amount of the
transaction, including CGE's consolidated debt and the non-controlling interests in its
subsidiaries, amounted to EUR 6,000 million.
This is the largest international transaction carried out by the Group in its history, which
enables it to gain a foothold in a key country in Latin America, where it previously had no
presence, and will provide it with a leadership position in each activity carried on by CGE. CGE
is the top gas and electricity distribution company in Chile and the leader in the electricity
subtransmission business.
Thus, Gas Natural Fenosa is consolidating its leadership position in gas distribution in Latin
America and is creating an attractive electricity distribution platform that provides it with
various alternatives with regard to new projects. Entry in this market could also help the Group
carry out electricity generation projects in the country, and provides it with new opportunities
in the LNG business.
As expected, 2014 was a complex year in view of the demanding regulatory, macroeconomic
and energy situation in Spain and Europe (as well as the depreciation of currencies against the
euro). One of the actions carried out by the Group to mitigate this adverse situation is the
implementation of an efficiency plan. This plan, together with the internationalisation of Gas
Natural Fenosa and a balanced business mix, enabled the company to post robust results and
to maintain the targets set for 2015 in its 2013-2015 Strategic Plan: (i) EBITDA exceeding EUR
5,000 million; (ii) Net Profit of around EUR 1,500 million; and (iii) Net Debt / EBITDA of around
three times (3x).
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Furthermore, in its Strategic Plan, Gas Natural Fenosa identified three growth drivers: (i) Gas
distribution; (ii) the LNG business; and (iii) international electricity generation.
In 2014, the Group made efforts to bolster these three drivers. As a result, Gas Natural Fenosa
won two new gas distribution contracts in Mexico, increased its LNG portfolio by winning a
new supply contract with the US company Cheniere and another in Chile.
Lastly, in reference to the third growth driver, the Group created an international electricity
generation subsidiary (Global Power Generation) which pools together all the assets it holds
outside Europe. In 2014 this subsidiary incorporated a 234 MW wind farm, Bii Hioxo, in Mexico
(operational since October 2014) and the 50 MW mini-hydro plant, Torito, in Costa Rica (in the
final stage of construction).
Financial Position and Shareholder Remuneration Policy
One of the priorities identified in the 2013-2015 Strategic Plan is to maintain a sound financial
structure to ensure both an attractive, sustainable shareholder remuneration policy (in cash
terms) and the ability to carry out investments if the appropriate conditions are in place to do
so.
In line with this, the Group evidenced its ability to tap debt markets at highly competitive
prices, performing two issues in 2014 (EUR 0.5 billion in 10-year bonds and EUR 1.0 billion in
perpetual subordinated bonds). As such, it assured its financial soundness, reflected in the fact
that the returns on its bonds are lower than that of Spanish government debt with the same
maturity (i.e. the market sees Spanish government bonds as riskier than those of Gas Natural
Fenosa).
At year-end 2014, the Group's liquidity amounted to EUR 11 billion, EUR 3.6 billion of which in
cash. This liquidity is sufficient to cover financial needs over more than 24 months.
Gas Natural Fenosa announced a dividend against 2014 results of EUR 909 million (up 1.2% on
2013). This dividend represents a 62% payout, in line with the commitment in the Strategic
Plan. The company will pay the interim dividend (EUR 398 million) in January 2015 and the
final dividend (EUR 511 million) in July, pending approval by the Annual General Meeting to be
held in April 2015.
Corporate social responsibility
For Gas Natural Fenosa, corporate social responsibility comprises a series of actions aimed at
fostering trustworthy, stable, solid and mutually-beneficial relationships with its stakeholder
groups. In that regard, Gas Natural Fenosa upholds seven commitments related to corporate
social responsibility: (i) customer focus; (ii) commitment to results; (iii) respect for
environment; (iv) interest in people; (v) health and safety, (vi) commitment to society and (vii)
integrity.
Gas Natural Fenosa has been a member of the FTSE4Good index since 2001, the year it was
incorporated. In 2014, for the third year running, the Dow Jones Sustainability Index
recognised Gas Natural Fenosa as a leader in the gas distribution sector. In 2013, the company
garnered the highest score given to any utility in the world under the Carbon Disclosure
Project (which primarily measures transparency and climate change strategy).
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In January 2015, Gas Natural Fenosa was named the worldwide leading company in
sustainability it is sector in the 2015 Sustainability published by RobecoSam (a company
specialising in sustainability).
Key financial data

Income statement (€M)
Revenue
EBITDA
Net profit

Dec-14
24,742
4,853
1,462

Dec-13
24,322
4,849
1,445

Balance sheet (€M)
Total assets
Equity
Net debt

Dec-14
50,328
18,020
16,942

Dec-13
43,511
14,967
14,252

Operating indicators
Gas distribution (GWh)
Electricity distribution (GWh)
Gas supply points (thousands)
Electricity supply points (thousands)
Generation capacity (MW)
Electricity production (GWh)

Dec-14
424,290
51,412
12,276
7,561
14,785
48,282

Dec-13
422,352
51,247
11,948
7,439
14,517
51,080
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2.4.3. Portfolio of industrial holdings: Abertis (19.3%)
Abertis is the leading international group in motorway and land and satellite
telecommunications infrastructure management, with over 7,300 km worldwide. As a result of
its ongoing international expansion, Abertis is present in 15 countries in Europe and the
Americas, which has allowed it to diversify its geographic risk and successfully adjust to global
economic cycles.
With regard to telecommunications infrastructure, the Group has a leadership position in the
land telecommunications infrastructure and services segment in Spain and it is an international
benchmark operator in the satellite broadcasting sector, after becoming the majority
shareholder (57.05%) of Hispasat at year-end 2013. Furthermore, the Group has 7,493 sites in
total, 5,914 of which can be used for providing infrastructure leasing services to
telecommunications operators.
At present, nearly two-thirds of the Abertis Group's income is generated outside Spain,
particularly in France, Brazil and Chile. Abertis trades on the Spanish stock market and forms
part of the Ibex 35 index, as well as of international indexes such as the FTS Eurofirst 300 and
Standard & Poor’s Europe 350.
2014 highlights
Toll roads
The Group continues to focus its efforts on highly selective growth through consolidation
transactions and by bolstering firstly its positions in companies in which it already invests (as
was the case when it took control of Metropistas and strengthened its control position in
I2000 and Invin), and secondly its operating investments, in order to improve management
through increased efficiency.
In this regard, in February 2014, Abertis acquired 6% of Metropistas (two motorways in Puerto
Rico) from the investment funds managed by Goldman Sachs, raising its ownership interest to
51%. Metropistas, which operates two toll roads in Puerto Rico, is now fully consolidated.
Abertis also purchased an additional 8.6% of the share capital of Infraestructura 2000 (owner
of 100% of Autopista Los Libertadores and Autopista del Sol) from Metlife, shoring up its
controlling position in the company and bringing its total stake to over 50%.
In May 2014, Abertis and Capital Riesgo Global (a Santander Group company) reached an
agreement whereby Abertis would acquire Infraestructuras Americanas, the owner of 42.3% of
Inversora de Infraestructuras, S.L. (Invin). With this move, Abertis gained, directly and
indirectly, 100% of Rutas del Pacífico and 50% of Autopista Central.
In any event, the toll road sector continues to increase its capacity. In the first half of 2014, as
part of the project to widen the AP-7 highway in Gerona, two new branches came into service,
completing the Figueres Norte junction, between the AP-7 highway and the N-II national road,
making it possible or easier to travel on certain routes and make connections between these
two sets of infrastructure that were not possible before. Also in 2014, construction work was
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finalised on the new Vilademuls junction that completes the Gerona ring road on the AP-7,
which came into service in its definitive design at year-end 2014.
Furthermore, as part of the efficiency and cost optimisation plan under way at the Group,
further progress was made in the implementation of the modernisation plan (launched in
2012). This plan focuses mainly on implementing new automatic payment systems in Spain's
toll road network, in order to ensure the Group's competitiveness by adjusting its resources to
the drop in traffic on the network, and to match the level of technology and service provided
by the world's top concessionaires.
Meanwhile, the Sanef subgroup continued to work on improving its toll road network. In this
respect, it is important to note that in October 2014 the European Commission approved the
"Plan Relance" for French toll roads whereby concessionaires provide improvements to the toll
road network in exchange for the extension of concession arrangements entered into in 2004
(two years for Sanef and three years and eight months for Sapn).
Also, in 2014 the new toll road payment system became operational for the Dartford Crossing,
one of the main access routes to London. The French subgroup Sanef ITS Technologies was
awarded the contract to design, install and manage this concession over a seven-year period,
which may be extended for a further three years.
It is also important to note that, as from 2015, Sanef will start to manage the Boulevard
Périphérique Nord de Lyon (BNPL), a 10-kilometre toll road with four tunnels and a viaduct, for
a 20-year period.
With regard to the Arteris subgroup, work continued on widening and improving toll roads
(particularly in the case of the concessions for which the federal government is responsible, in
relation to the widening of lanes of the Litoral Sul and Fernão Dias toll roads, and the
construction of junctions on the Regis Bittencourt and Fluminense toll roads) pursuant to the
respective concession arrangements. Noteworthy in 2014 was the delivery of 20 kilometres of
the duplicated lanes on the BR-101/RJ Norte toll road by Fluminense.
Land telecommunications
In the telecommunications infrastructure business, the Group continued working to enlarge its
market presence. This objective was furthered by the purchase of 1,211 mobile telephone
towers in late 2013, as well as 530 towers in January 2014 and 113 towers in June 2014. All
these purchases related to the framework agreement reached with Telefónica and Yoigo in
2013, which is now considered closed by the parties involved on acquisition of 1,854
telephone towers for a total amount of EUR 183 million.
Moreover, in November 2014, a further 1,090 towers were added for a total amount of EUR
154 million, as part of a new framework agreement entered into in July 2014 with Telefónica.
This agreement could give rise to the acquisition of approximately 2,120 additional mobile
telephony towers for approximately EUR 300 million in total. In this connection, a further
purchase was made in January 2015 of 300 mobile telephony towers for EUR 43.5 million.
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In late May 2014, Abertis acquired from Atlantia 100% of the share capital of TowerCo, an
Italian company that manages 321 towers located along the Atlantia motorway network and
provides co-location services to mobile operators, for EUR 95 million.
Lastly, as announced on 30 October 2014, the Group continues to work on the possible
flotation, in the first half of 2015, subject to market conditions, of its subsidiary Abertis
Telecom Terrestre, S.A.U., a wholly-owned investee.
Satellite telecommunications
In the satellite telecommunications infrastructure sector, business activity in 2014 was clearly
affected by the impact of the purchase at year-end 2013 of an additional 16.42% stake in
Hispasat. As a result, the Group took control of this company, which was fully consolidated as
from November 2013.
Also through its stake in Hispasat, the Group continues to work on increasing its satellite
capacity. To this end, the Amazonas 4ª satellite was launched in 2014 to strengthen its
presence in Latin America.
Divestments
Lastly, as part of its continued strategy to focus and optimise its asset portfolio, in 2014 Abertis
sold 5.01% of the share capital of Eutelsat that it still held in this company, for EUR 274 million.
It also continued to work to complete the airport sector divestment process launched in 2013.
To this end, the sale of Codad (the concessionaire for El Dorado Airport in Bogotá) was
completed in late January 2014, the 16.67% remaining stake in Aerocali (the concessionaire for
Alfonso Bonilla airport in Cali, Colombia) was sold in late May, and the 33.33% stake in
Aeropuertos Mexicanos del Pacífico (AMP), a company through which Abertis held a 5.80%
effective stake in the Grupo Aeroportuario Pacífico (GAP) subgroup, was sold at year-end.
Corporate social responsibility
Abertis sees social corporate responsibility as a way of understanding the company’s role in
society, taking into consideration the environmental, social and economic impacts of its
activity and its relationships with various stakeholder groups.
Abertis’ strategic corporate responsibility plan is its road map for implementing CSR within the
Group, involving participation in various initiatives, such as the United Nations Global Compact
and the Carbon Disclosure Project, and Dow Jones Sustainability Index (DJSI), in the World
category.
Activity and Results
At year-end 2014, Abertis' activity in toll roads posted a positive performance, thanks to the
increased activity registered in the main countries where the Group operates, including Spain,
where there are clear signs of a recovery in economic activity, and in France, which
experienced stagnant growth the previous year. Toll road activity in Brazil and Chile continued
to grow faster than in the other countries where the Group operates. Meanwhile, the
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telecommunications infrastructure also posted a clearly positive performance as a result of the
acquisition of telecommunications towers by Abertis Telecom Terrestre and the takeover of
Hispasat.
Operating revenue totalled EUR 4,889 million, up 7% with respect to 2013. This increase was
affected by the full consolidation of Hispasat and Metropistas following the takeover of these
two companies, as described above, and by the positive business performance and the impact
of the review of average tariffs at the toll road concessionaires. However, it is important to
note that in 2014 the trend in the exchange rates of the Brazilian real, the Chilean peso and
the Argentine peso had a significant adverse effect on the Group's income.
As regards the relative importance of the various business units in relation to income,
following the takeover of Hispasat at year-end 2013, and the increase in the telephony tower
business, the relative weight of the toll road business fell to 87% of the total (91% at year-end
2013, restated), and the telecommunications infrastructure business accounts for 13% (9% at
year-end 2013, restated).
Gross operating profit increased by 10.5% at year-end 2013, due also to the impact of the
assets acquired at year-end 2013 and early 2014, and thanks to the plan launched in previous
years to implement a series of measures to improve efficiency and optimise operating costs,
on which the Group continues, and will continue, to focus. In this connection, following the
finalisation of the 2011-2014 efficiency plan above initial expectations, the Group is now
working on a new efficiency plan for 2015-2017, to consolidate the efficiencies obtained so far
and to further improve efficiency and cost optimisation.
Taking this into consideration, consolidated profit for 2014 attributable to the shareholders
amounted to EUR 655 million.
Key financial data
2014
4,889
3,122
655

2013*
2013*
4,568
2,826
617

Balance sheet (€M)
Total assets
Equity
Net financial debt

2014
27,769
6,010
13,789

2013*
27,769
6,562
12,930

Income / Operating indicators
ADT (average daily traffic)
Revenue from the toll road
business from the telecommunications
Revenue
businessincome
Holding

2014
21,686
4,262
623

2013*
2013*
21,202
4,147
418

4

3

Income statement (€M)
Revenue
EBITDA
Net profit

*Data adjusted for the application of IFRS 10 and IFRS 11
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2.4.4. Portfolio of industrial holdings: Suez Environnement (5.7%)
Suez Environnement is a global benchmark in end-to-end water and waste management. The
company has more than 79,550 employees working together in over 70 countries on five
continents. In the water business, Suez supplies drinking water and provides wastewater
services to 92 million and 66 million people, respectively, as the leading operator in Spain and
Chile and the second-largest in France. In the waste business, Suez manages collection of
waste generated by 52 million people, and provides waste treatment and disposal services.
Suez is the leading operator in France and in the Benelux region in this business.
As of 30 june 2014, company had total asset of EUR 26,387 million, financial debt of EUR 7,295
million and equity of EUR 6,951 million.
2014 highlights
In 2014, Suez Environnement acquired Criteria CaixaHolding's 24.1% stake in Agbar, in
exchange for a 4.1% interest in Suez Environnement itself and nearly EUR 300 million in cash.
Criteria CaixaHolding undertook to reinvest this cash in bolstering its stake in Suez
Environnement, and to acquire Suez's 15% interest in Aigües de Barcelona and 14.5% in Aguas
de Valencia. The last transactions were carried out in the fourth quarter of 2014.
During 2014, the Group continued demonstrating the resilience of its activities to the weak
macro-economic situation in Europe, thanks to the strong performance of the European and
international water business, which offset stagnancy in the European waste business.
Suez Environnement continued implementing its two-pronged strategy of shoring up its
traditional businesses while at the same time developing its four strategic priorities (recycling,
industrial water, new services and international development).
These efforts included the sale of non-strategic assets, such as Compañía Eléctrica de Macau
(gains of EUR 129 million), the acquisition of different companies in the industrial water
business, the opening of new recycling plants and the increasing of the stake in the Italian
utility ACEA.
The Suez Group also demonstrated its ability to tap debt markets, issuing EUR 500 million in
hybrid bonds and EUR 350 million in zero-coupon bonds exchangeable in 2020.
Corporate social responsibility
Suez Environnement nurtures and deepens its local roots through sponsorships and alliances.
The Suez Group supports different initiatives affecting the communities in which it operates
(culture, the environment and biodiversity) as well as social responsibility efforts and
economic-social integration.In 2014, for the sixth year running, Suez Environnement formed
part of the Dow Jones Sustainability Index (DJSI) in the World category. Once again, the
company is the only French concern to form part of the utility sector DJSI (environmental,
energy production and energy distribution services).
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2.4.5. Portfolio of industrial holdings: Saba Infraestructuras (50.1%)
Saba Infraestructuras (Saba) is a benchmark operator in the car parks and logistics parks
sector. Operating in six countries in 2014 (Spain, Italy, Chile, Portugal, France and Andorra), the
Saba group manages nearly 190,000 spaces distributed over 350 car parks, following the
transactions with Aena, Adif and Bamsa. It also manages a network of seven logistics parks,
with a built surface area of more than 730,000 m² over nearly 620 hectares and buildable land
covering almost 3 million m2.
2014 highlights
As well as its long-standing primary lines of action (efficiency, innovation and a proactive
commercial approach), the main highlight in 2014 was undoubtedly the materialisation of the
growth of Saba, evidenced through the incorporation of new operations centres. Among the
most relevant projects affecting the group's scope, the Adif and Bamsa car parks are of special
note, as is the integration of the final stage of the Aena car parks.
In addition to the 2013 award of the Adif train station network car park rental contract (22,000
new parking spaces at 51 train stations, for a 10-year period) and of the management of the
Mediterranean group of 14 Aena airports (57,000 parking spaces, for a five-year period), in July
2014 Saba was awarded a contract for Bamsa. The contract entails the renewal until 2039 of
the company's main concessions, which were set to expire, as well as the incorporation of 15
additional concessions.
The integration of Adif car parks, along with the final stage of integrating the Aena airport car
parks, posed the primary management challenge during 2014. In addition to the quantitative
increase in centres and parking spaces, the new management model also entailed a qualitative
change. The new model calls for, inter alia: (i) consolidation of remote management, (ii)
service-level invoicing, and (iii) technological change geared toward efficiency and customer
service.
In this context of growth, the refinancing of Saba Aparcamientos, completed in 2014, has
ensured sufficient resources, in optimal conditions, as well as a streamlining of the corporate
structure.
In terms of the ordinary day-to-day business, the second half of 2014 saw signs of economic
recovery in Europe, although not quite evenly across the board. In the case of Spain and
especially in hourly parking, there was a sustained upward trend. Recovery in the monthly pass
portfolio was somewhat slower, undoubtedly affected by the economic downturn. The
situation in Portugal was affected by local mobility and commercial activity factors, which led
to excellent growth ratios in demand, both in hourly parking and monthly pass holders. Of all
the European countries in which Saba operates, recovery is lagging the most in Italy, in line
with the country's macro-economic backdrop. However, the outlook for 2015 is moderately
positive. Lastly, local factors (works, competition centres) played a particular role in Chile in
2014, leading to a reversal of the trend seen in recent years. Once these factors cease to exist,
the activity seen previously should gradually resume.
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In logistics parks, in August 2014 Saba and Prologis agreed to the sale of Saba's logistics assets
in Madrid and Penedés. In November 2014, an agreement was reached with the Barcelona
Tax-Free Zone Consortium whereby, through the divestment of the office building currently
occupied by the Consortium, Saba Parques Logísticos gained a 75% interest in the company
managing the Parque Logístico de la Zona Franca (PLZF). Average occupancy of the parks
during 2014 was 85%. The most noteworthy new clients gained during the year were
Supergroup - Logista (Zal Toulouse), Molenbergnatie (PLZF) and World Duty Free and Agility
(Cilsa).
Corporate social responsibility
Corporate social responsibility is an integral part of Saba's strategy. Initiatives mainly target the
environmental dimension (e.g. the roll-out of LED technology and the reduction in the
company's carbon footprint), the social arena (e.g. agreements to hire workers with
disabilities) and mobility (active cooperation with the government to find long-term urban
solutions (e.g. the deployment of VIA T in the main car parks).
Key financial data(1)
€ million

Income statement

2014*

2013**

Revenue
EBITDA
Net profit

186
75
-44

158
59
-0

Balance sheet

2014

2013**

1,540
532
588

1,169
506
299

Total assets
Equity
Net debt

*Net profit includes the impact from the sale of logistics parks, not included in Ebitda
**Data adjusted for the application of the NIIF 10 and 11
(1)

Consolidated results of Saba Infraestructuras.
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2.4.6. Portfolio of industrial holdings: Other investments
AIGÜES DE BARCELONA (15.0%)
Aigües de Barcelona, Empresa Metropolitana de Gestió del Cicle Integral de l’Aigua, SA
(“Aigües de Barcelona”) manages the end-to-end water cycle, from collection to treatment for
drinking, transport and distribution. The company is also entrusted with the waste water
treatment and purification service to return this water to the environment or reuse it.
Aigües de Barcelona, with assets close to EUR 700 million, provides drinking water distribution
service to 23 towns (2.8 million people), wastewater treatment and purification to a total of 36
towns in the metropolitan area (3.2 million people), and sewer service to another 10 towns.
Among other infrastructures, the company manages a 4,600+ km distribution and transport
network, five water treatment plants, seven purification plants, 303 km of collection systems
and four marine outfalls.
2014 highlights
During 2014, the company's first complete calendar year, the drinking and non-potable water
activities that had historically been carried out by Sociedad General de Aguas de Barcelona,
together with the treatment and purification activities contributed by AMB, were fully
integrated.
Aigües de Barcelona (through its investee Aigües de Barcelona Finance, SAU), issued sevenyear senior bonds for a total of EUR 200 million, bearing a fixed coupon of 1.944%.
The Catalonia Price Commission authorised a 2.47% increase in water supply rates for 2015.
Within the framework of the transaction between Criteria and Suez Environnement, Criteria
acquired a 15% stake in Aigües de Barcelona from Agbar.
Corporate social responsibility
Aigües de Barcelona is aware that having a sustainable business model is the only way to
ensure a successful future, and that this model must be based on social, environmental and
economic responsibility. Accordingly, the company mainstreams these responsibilities in its
benchmark corporate values and transmits them to its customers, to public administrations, to
the companies with which it works, and to its professionals, who are participants in and
guarantors of these principles.
Aigües de Barcelona's commitment to its communities is clearly embodied in its Solidarity
Fund, its educational programmes, and the activities of its Foundation and its Museum.

MEDITERRÁNEA BEACH & GOLF COMMUNITY (100%)
Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community is the owner of a 600,000 m2 developed land reserve
and the three-course Lumine Golf Club, designed by Greg Norman and Alfonso Vidaor. Since
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2010, the golf clubs have been managed by Troon Golf, an international company with over 20
years experience and a successful history of managing, developing and promoting top-level
golf clubs.
At 31 December 2014, the company had total assets of EUR 300 million and equity amounting
to EUR 295 million.
2014 highlights
In late 2014, Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community signed a conditional purchase option with
the regional government (Generalitat) over the plots of land earmarked integrated tourist
centres (CTI) , for EUR 110 million, expiring in September 2016.
Additionally in 2014, Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community's courses hosted key
tournaments, as well as the International Golf Travel Market (IGTM), the world's most
important golfing trade fair.
It managed 56,586 green fees in 2014.Corporate social responsibility
Lumine Golf Club maintains high quality standards, recognised and accredited by the
International Gold Signature Sanctuary certificate from the Audubon Society, one of the
oldest, most respected and exigent conservation organisations. This certificate recognises
some of the best golf courses in the world for their respectful and sustainable integration in
their natural surroundings.
During 2014, Lumine Golf Club's courses earned certification from the Golf Environment
Organization (GEO), evidencing that its activities are carried out with the intention of
supporting the environment, improving the natural surroundings and safeguarding their future
development.

VITHAS SANIDAD (20.0%)
Vithas, a leading hospital group in Spain, currently has 12 hospitals and a supply platform
(PlazaSalud24).
Vithas' 12 hospitals are benchmark institutions in their areas of influence (Alicante, Almeria,
Granada, Las Palmas de Gran Canaria, Lerida, Madrid, Malaga, Tenerife, Vigo and VitoriaGasteiz), treating patients covered by all healthcare insurers and mutual accident insurance
schemes, private patients, and cases handled in conjunction with the national healthcare
system. Vithas hospital group believes that the best healthcare requires the joint effort of both
the public and private sector, to the benefit of people.
Vithas has a firm commitment: to care for the health and well-being of people. To do so, Vithas
combines a local, specialised and proximity-based management model that responds to the
health needs of the communities in which it operates, coupled with a cross-cutting vision
ensuring a high-quality standard across all services rendered.

Criteria CaixaHolding – Management Report 2014

- 39 -

Vithas plans to gradually incorporate new hospitals and specialised centres, upholding its
commitment to continually reinvest up to 7% of its annual earnings (around EUR 15 million per
year, in absolute terms) in order to improve infrastructures and technological resources.
The hospital group provides services to approximately 1.7 million patients. Its revenue is over
EUR 200 million and posts EBITDA of around EUR 40 million.
2014 highlights
During 2014, Vithas added two hospitals to its group, including the 110-bed Xanit Hospital,
located in Benalmádena (Málaga), shoring up its presence in that area, where Vithas already
owns the 100-bed Parque San Antonio hospital. Vithas also strengthened its presence in
Alicante by acquiring the Medimar de Alicante Hospital, with 66 beds. In the region, Vithas
already owned the 96-bed Perpetuo Socorro Hospital.
In 2014, Vithas acquired the Fimega physiotherapy and rehabilitation centres network, located
in the Pontevedra province.
Also during the year, Vithas announced an investment of over EUR 25 million in the new
Nuestra Señora de la Salud Hospital in Granada, slated to open in 2016.
Corporate social responsibility
The group is committed to corporate social responsibility, with its hospitals acting as sociallyand environmentally-responsible companies. Noteworthy in this respect is the group's new
initiative, called “Vithas Aula Salud,” designed to provide training for different segments of the
population on healthcare issues (e.g. healthy eating, road safety and assisted reproduction).
Several conferences were held in all the group's hospitals.

CAIXA CAPITAL RISC (100%)
Caixa Capital Risc, the venture capital arm of the Group, is a benchmark funds investor
providing capital and participating loans for innovative start-up companies.
It now has EUR 154 million under management, chiefly in Spanish companies operating in the
digital technology, life sciences and industrial technology sectors.
Caixa Capital Risc uses seven specialist vehicles to invest in the first rounds of funding (“seed”
phase) and help companies grow.
The management company's team of professionals focus on identifying, analysing, investing in
and supporting innovative start-ups in Spain.
2014 highlights
Caixa Capital Risc invested heavily in 2014, analysing 585 opportunities and carrying out 55
investments, making it one of Spain's most active players. It also carefully managed its
portfolio, making four divestments during the year.
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Corporate social responsibility
In addition to its investments, the management company is a major supporter of
entrepreneurs in Spain. Through the Emprendedor XXI initiative, Caixa Capital Risc promotes
projects that bring recognition, training and visibility to new, high-potential companies, while
helping to generate value-added contacts.
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2.4.7. REAL ESTATE MANAGEMENT
After the incorporation of Foment Immobiliari Assequible in the Criteria Group - December
2014 - Criteria manages a real estate portfolio of 3,173 million Euros, half of which are for
rent.
The origin of the property portfolio is twofold: first property assets that 'la Caixa' had at the
time of the reorganization of mid-2011, and secondly, the assets from the integration of
Foment Immobiliari Assequible.
REAL ESTATE PORTFOLIO2
The real estate portfolio comprises approximately 24,000 properties consisting of homes,
parking spaces, storerooms, offices, premises, industrial buildings and land located throughout
Spain.
Criteria's strategy is to manage this real estate portfolio to create long-term value through the
selective sale of certain assets in the short term and the exploitation of a portfolio of
properties to enhance returns over the long term. Besides, Criteria owns a portfolio of land
that intends to develop in the long term.
Breakdown of the real estate portfolio by Criteria’s NAV

Includes the properties owned by Criteria CaixaHolding SAU, Servihabitat Alquiler, SL, Servihabitat
Alquiler II, SLU and Els Arbres de la Tardor
2

Servihabitat Servicios Inmobiliarios, S.L. carries out the commercial and administrative
activities relating to Criteria's real estate business, except for the properties associated with
the subsidised housing schemes, which are managed by Foment Immobiliari Assequible,
S.A.U., a wholly owned subsidiary of Criteria.
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In 2014 properties were sold for a total of EUR 71 million, from which a sales margin of around
20% was obtained. With regard to rental property, the occupancy rate was 81% for the year.
Rental income amounted to EUR 32 million, which represents gross return over NAV of 3.6%.
FOMENT IMMOBILIARI ASSEQUIBLE (100%)
The Foment Immobiliari Assequible Group carries on its activity through two companies,
Foment Immobiliari Assequible, S.A.U., and its subsidiary Arrendament Immobiliari Assequible
S.L.U. Its business is carried out through the "Vivienda Asequible" (Affordable Housing)
Scheme, consisting of the development, management, administration and rental of homes.
This scheme is part of the Welfare Projects of "la Caixa" Banking Foundation.
The Affordable Housing Scheme was launched in 2014 for the purpose of developing a
proprietary stock of 3,000 homes to alleviate the housing deficit and to meet the needs of
sectors of society with more difficulties in accessing the property market. It was extended in
2009 as a result of the property and economic crisis. 1,000 more homes were set aside for
families whose income had decreased due to the difficult economic situation. In an adverse
economic environment, with growing social needs, the Scheme remains faithful today to the
vocation of service to its customers, by improving access to decent housing for the young, the
elderly and families in financial difficulties. It currently offers 3,990 homes for rental at
affordable prices, below the prices for government-subsidised housing and below market
prices.
2014 highlights
At 31 December 2014, all the Affordable Housing Scheme (3,990 homes with an investment of
EUR 650 million) 3,936 homes are in use and 54 are under construction (which commenced in
2014). The homes are distributed throughout Spain, mainly in the autonomous communities of
Catalonia (66%), Madrid (14%), the Basque Country (7%) and Andalusia (7%). In 2014 the set
targets were met and the level of occupancy was 93% over the twelve-month period.
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3.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Criteria Group's main risk in recent years relates to the investee portfolio, i.e. the
possibility of incurring losses due to changes in market prices and/or losses on the positions
comprising the investment portfolio, in the medium to long term.
In October 2014 the spin-off process was carried out (see Note 1 to the accompanying financial
statements). As a result, not only is Criteria the holding for the stakes held by the "la Caixa"
Group in various sectors other than the financial sector but it also manages the stake held by
"la Caixa" in CaixaBank and the debt instruments for which "la Caixa" was the issuer.
As a consequence of this process, the vast majority of the risks faced and managed by the
Group are risks linked to the banking and insurance activity.
The areas and functions entrusted with controlling risks are functionally and organizationally
independent of the risk-taking areas in order to enhance the autonomy of management,
monitoring and control activities, thus securing the comprehensive management of the various
risks involved.
In order to measure and analyse risks appropriately, Criteria's management uses the tools and
methodologies of the CaixaBank Group, which has its own Corporate Risks Models and Policies
Division, in accordance with financial sector best practices.
3.1

Governance Structure and Organisation of Criteria CaixaHolding

Criteria's Board of Directors oversees the performance of its investees and is responsible for
the existence of an adequate and effective internal control system.
Furthermore, the Audit and Control Committee's objectives include supervising the process of
preparing and presenting financial reporting and the effectiveness of the Company's internal
control and risk management systems.
The Company has an Internal Control System over Financial Reporting in place that is based on
the set of general principles and best practices recommended by the CNMV in the draft
Guidelines on Internal Control over Financial Reporting in Listed Companies, published in June
2010 and in the international standards of the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the
Treadway Commission
3.2

CaixaBank Group

As a result of the spin-off process mentioned above, CaixaBank assumed significant
importance in the consolidated financial reporting of Criteria. For this reason, in the Note 3 of
the Consolidated Financial Statements there is provided a detailed description of Governance
Structure and Organization of CaixaBank Group related to risk management, as well as the
description of its Corporate Risk Map, Risk Appetite Framework and Internal Control
Framework.
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3.3

The Group's Risk Map

In 2013 the Criteria Group was primarily exposed to market risk, arising from its investment
activity, liquidity risk, credit risk and operational risk. As a result of the reorganisation carried
out by the "la Caixa" Group last year, the Group also became exposed to risks linked with the
banking activity.
A detail is provided below of the risks associated with the Group's activities and those relating
to business continuity:
•

•

Risks associated with the Group's activities:
o

Liquidity

o

Credit

o

Market risk

Risks affecting continuity of activity
o

Legal/Regulatory

o

Compliance risk

o

Operational risk

o

Reputational risk

Global risk management and control ensures that the Group's risk profile is aligned with its
strategic objectives, preserves the solvency and liquidity mechanisms and enables it to achieve
an optimal risk-return ratio (see Note 24 to the accompanying financial statements).
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4.

CREDIT RATINGS

Criteria is rated BBB- by Fitch Ratings, with a positive outlook (latest review on 25 February
2015).
Fitch Ratings considers that Criteria is a banking holding company and therefore, linking
Criteria's rating to that of CaixaBank, gives it a rating one notch below the bank. This agency
also has a positive view of Criteria's holdings in major quoted companies (CaixaBank, Gas
Natural, Abertis Infraestructuras, Suez Environnement), its ability to generate recurring cash
flow from its assets, and the fact that no significant payables fall due until 2017.

5.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES

Criteria has not engaged in any research and development activities.
Among the Criteria Group companies, it is worth highlighting the investment made in
technology by CaixaBank, amounting to EUR 179 million in 2014, of which EUR 72 million
related to R&D.
On the other hand, Criteria - through its subsidiary Caixa Capital Risc - operates seven
investment vehicles that drive and organize activities and initiatives to encourage synergies
and national and international networking.
Highlights: Caixa Innvierte BioMed II, which invests in early stage biotech and medical
technology companies; Caixa Capital Tic II, which invests in corporate software companies,
communication equipment and Internet / mobility businesses, and; Caixa Innvierte Industria,
which invests in industrial SMEs with a strong technology component and based in Spain.
Furthermore, the Entrepreneur XXI Awards are held since 2007. These Awards aim to
encourage the development of new innovative companies and to identify those with the
greatest growth potential in Spain. Throughout its eight editions, over 3,200 Spanish
companies have participated and more than 180 have been laureates in various categories.

6.

OWN SHARES TRANSACTIONS

At 31 December 2014, “la Caixa” Banking Foundation (which performs the Group’s welfare
projects) owned 100% of the shares of Criteria, through which it manages the Group’s assets.
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7.

"la Caixa" WELFARE PROJECTS: 9.5 million beneficiaries

In 2014, Welfare Projects was successfully merged into “la Caixa” Banking Foundation, the sole
shareholder of Criteria. This structural change, which was prompted by the need to adapt to
the new legal framework, has led to an increase in operational capacity and further reinforced
- if indeed this is possible - the Banking Foundation's unwavering commitment to society,
which has remained its true calling and one of its hallmarks ever since it started life in 1904.
For 2015, “la Caixa” Banking Foundation intends to keep its Welfare Projects budget
unchanged at EUR 500 million for 2015, the same figure as for the last seven years. This
allowance for welfare projects makes “la Caixa” Banking Foundation Spain's leading private
foundation and one of the most important in the world.
The foundation will continue to focus heavily on social programmes geared towards pressing
social issues, such as unemployment, the fight against social exclusion and access to housing.
The bulk of the investment, representing 67.1% of the total budget (EUR 336 million), will be
earmarked for social and welfare initiatives; cultural work will be awarded 13.4%EUR 67
million); science and environmental programmes 11.2% (EUR 56 million); and support for
education and research 8.2% (EUR 41 million).
The commitment of Welfare Projects to creating jobs and fostering employment is articulated
chiefly through its job integration programme, called Incorpora, which in 2014 provided 18,405
jobs to people at risk of exclusion (up 3,767 year on year) at 4,426 companies across Spain.
Since 2006, the scheme has secured jobs for a total of 86,176 people at 31,207 different
companies. As part of the same project, the Reincorpora programme has provided training to
1,884 inmates nearing the end of their prison term in order to help them fit back into society
and find work.
The CaixaProinfancia programme was set up to combat child poverty and has handed out aid
to 56,875 socially excluded children. The budget awarded to this worthy initiative was raised to
EUR 43.8 million in 2014. Fundación de la Esperanza (Hope Foundation) which focuses its
efforts mainly in the districts of Barrio Gótico, Raval and Ciutat Vella in Barcelona, has lent
support to over 1,600 people in its first year of life.
Health promotion is another cornerstone of Welfare Projects. On the subject of hospital
treatment and care, support has been given to 13,956 terminally ill patients nearing the end of
their life as part of an initiative that also provides support for their family members (19,630
individuals cared for). Welfare Projects also extended the scope of the project to 104 hospitals
across Spain.
Health promotion knows no boundaries, as shown by the international cooperation
programme in developing countries. A prime example of this is the ambitious “la Caixa”
programme to fight malaria, which was rolled out in 2014 alongside the Bill & Melinda Gates
Foundation in a bid to eradicate the disease in Sub-Saharan Africa. At an experimental stage,
the vaccination being developed by the team led by Doctor Pedro Alonso has to date achieved
success rates of almost 50% in infants aged 5 to 17 months. In the same area, a total of 2.1
million children have already been immunised thanks to the joint Child Vaccination
programme with GAVI Alliance and a total of 65 socioeconomic development cooperation
projects are currently under way.
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The elderly and housing: key priorities
Since its inception, “la Caixa” has always strived to foster active and healthy ageing. The elderly
remain a key priority for the entity and 763,250 individuals have taken part in the various
initiatives rolled out under the Gente 3.0 programme of Welfare Projects at a total of 609
centres across Spain.
In addition, the various programmes to provide access to social housing (affordable housing
through both charity-assisted renting and social renting) currently have upwards of 23,600
flats available to low-income members of society at below market prices.
The Banking Foundation is backing 950 projects being developed by community-interest
entities across Spain through aid schemes (with investment of EUR 20 million) and initiatives
aimed towards intercultural coexistence, prevention of violence and victim support,
volunteering (with over 12,000 people actively involved), and care for hospital children; these
being just some of the many areas Welfare Projects targeted in 2014.
Welfare Projects continues to view education as the best driver of individual and social
progress. The eduCaixa platform is an excellent example of the Banking Foundation's support
for training initiatives aimed at students aged 3 to 18 and for teachers and parents
associations. Over two million pupils from 7,755 different schools have already taken part in
these educational schemes.
Support for research and culture
On the subject of science outreach, CosmoCaixa Barcelona has just celebrated its tenth
anniversary, a period during which the science museum has welcomed over seven million
visitors. In addition to this commitment to science outreach, we have the Banking Foundation's
tireless support for research, embracing all areas of investigation and the most prevalent
diseases in the world today: research into AIDS (IrsiCaixa), cancer (”la Caixa” Molecular
Therapy Unit at Hospital Vall d’Hebron); Alzheimer's, Parkinson's and neurodegenerative
diseases (working alongside CSIC and, within the framework of the BarcelonaBeta project, with
Fundación Pasqual Maragall), cardiovascular diseases (with CNIC as partner) and genetic
diseases (with IDIBGI as partner), among others. On top of this, the Banking Foundation
actively supports universities and handed out a further 200 grants in 2014, allowing students
to study postgraduate courses at the world's finest universities.
Turning to the environment, Welfare Projects rolled out a total of 219 projects, with staff
hiring for these focusing on individuals at risk of social exclusion. A total of 987 beneficiaries
found work through these projects in 2014 alone.
Cultural projects also enjoyed considerable attention in 2014. During the year, Welfare
Projects broadened its network of cultural centres by unveiling CaixaForum Zaragoza, which in
barely six months has already become a landmark in Aragon's capital city. This latest opening
underscores the entity's vocation to staging as many cultural events as possible to interest
people from all walks of life. This impressive range of cultural events now includes the new
CaixaForum Seville, which is under construction, and the entity's project to restore and refit
the Seville Royal Dockyards (Atarazanas de Sevilla).
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On the subject of exhibitions, events included Sorolla. The colour of the sea; The captive
beauty. Small treasures from the Prado Museum; Genesis. Sebastião Salgado; or Pixar. 25
years of animation, all of which proved hugely successful with the public at the different
CaixaForums staged during the year. In total, over 4.6 million people marvelled at the social,
cultural, scientific and educational exhibitions organised by "la Caixa" Welfare Projects. This
figure is 1.9% higher than in 2013.
The entity's cultural commitment was also borne out through support for Fundación Arte y
Mecenazgo, the staging of El Mesías participatory concerts and conferences and other events
relating to the humanities (with Palau Macaya the flagship centre here), promotion of the
Classic Library Collection edited by the Royal Spanish Academy (RAE), and aid for cultural
projects with a social impact.
In short, a busy year in which all the activities, programmes and initiatives organised and
promoted by the “la Caixa” Banking Foundation through its Welfare Projects arm reached out
to 9,562,191 people (surpassing the 8,784,752 participants in 2013).
This figure for “la Caixa” Welfare Projects is mightily impressive and the entity would like to
thank all the volunteers, collaborators, employees, clients and shareholders who made this
possible. Titled simply “Thank you”, the “la Caixa” Banking Foundation's first advertising
campaign is dedicated to all those who through their trust and aid have helped build a fairer
society and one richer in opportunities.
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8.

OTHER INFORMATION

8.1.

Environmental information

The Group is committed to carrying out its business, projects, products and services in the
most environmentally-friendly way possible. To that end, the Group encourages financing for
projects that take environmental aspects into account, such as energy efficiency and long-term
sustainability.
8.2.

Information on average payment periods to suppliers:

Information on payments to suppliers: Disclosure requirements under the third
supplementary provision of Law 15/2010 of 5 July
The entry into force of Law 15/2010, of 5 July, amending Law 3/2004, of 29 December,
establishing measures to combat late payment in commercial transactions, establishes the
obligation for companies to expressly publish information on the payment periods to their
suppliers in the notes to the financial statements. Pursuant to this disclosure obligation, on 31
December 2010, the corresponding resolution was issued by the Spanish Accounting and Audit
Institute (ICAC) was published in the Official State Gazette (BOE).
In accordance with Transitional Provision Two of this ruling, following is a breakdown of the
information required relating to payments made and pending at the balance sheet date:

31/12/2014

31/12/2013

Amount
(Thousands of %
euros)

Amount
(Thousands
euros)

Payments within statutory period

87,134

92%

158,477

84%

Other

7,927

8%

30,525

16%

Total payments in the year

95,061

100%

189,002

100%

-

129 days

-

-

69 days

-

-

991

-

Weighted average days for payments outside
115 days
statutory period (days)
Weighted average days late
55 days
Payment deferrals surpassing statutory period
at the reporting date

45

of %

The Company made payments of EUR 95,061 thousand in 2014, of which EUR 87,134 thousand
were paid within the stipulated maximum statutory period and EUR 7,927 thousand were paid
outside the maximum statutory period.
Weighted average days late were calculated as the quotient whose numerator is the result of
multiplying the payments made to suppliers outside the maximum payment period by the
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number of days of late payment and whose denominator is the total amount of the payments
made in the year outside the maximum payment period.
In 2014 and 2013, in accordance with Transitional Provision Two of Law 15/2010, the
maximum statutory period was 60 days.
8.3.

Criteria information channels

Criteria has the following information channels in place:
• Corporate website (www.criteria.com) which provides information primarily on the
investment portfolio and the company's issuing activity. It received 104,161 visits in
2014.
• Two e-mail accounts: one for investor relations (investor.relations@criteria.com) and
the other for general information (info@criteria.com)
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9.

2015 OUTLOOK AND FORECAST PERFORMANCE FOR THE CRITERIA GROUP

9.1.

2015 outlook

Thanks to the acceleration in growth in the final stretch of 2014, practically worldwide, 2015
will begin with a growth trend which, based on current forecasts, will gain pace as the year
progresses. In total, the global economy is forecast to grow at 3.6%, which is above the
average for the last three years. This growth will largely occur as a result of the effects of the
trends that arose in 2014, such as falling energy prices and others that will fully come to bear
as 2015 progresses, such as monetary expansion by the Bank of Japan and the ECB.
With respect to the advanced economies, it is important to note that the United States is
facing a decisive year. Firstly, according to forecasts, with 3.5% growth, it will post its best year
since 2004. The factors behind this increase are growth in consumption, on the back of a clear
recovery in the job market, better investment figures and a fiscal adjustment with a narrower
scope than in previous years. Against this backdrop of a solid business performance and the
lack of appreciable inflationary pressure, monetary policy will enable the economy to take a
further step in the normalisation process with the first interest rate rise since 2006. The
forecast path will, however, be very gradual. Over the year as a whole, the benchmark rate
could rise from 0.25% to 0.50%, while in 2016 the pace of change will increase. In Japan,
according to forecasts, following its relapse into recession last year, 2015 will be a year of
recovery (growth forecast at 1.2%) in which the expansive effects of the monetary and fiscal
policy will bear fruit. In order to avoid hampering this recovery, the increase in VAT, initially
planned for October 2015, was postponed until 2017.
In general, emerging economies should enjoy higher growth in 2015 than last year. However,
the pace of growth will be very uneven, ranging from 6.5% GDP growth in India's dynamic
economy to just 1% in the weaker economy of Brazil. While this is the general forecast trend,
there are two exceptions worth mentioning. Economic growth in China is forecast at 7% in
2015, compared with 7.4% the previous year. Despite that this is undoubtedly a slowdown, it is
worth pointing out certain aspects that are particular to China's current situation. Firstly, this is
a process that the country actually wants, since it is transforming its economic model from one
based on exports and investment to another in which consumption should play a more
significant role. Therefore, this is a trend that is being guided by the authorities and that will
receive support from any economic policy measures that may be necessary (expansive
measures when the slowdown is considered excessive, restrictive when a particular variable
signals excesses). There is wide room for manoeuvre, in both monetary and fiscal terms, to
ensure that this slowdown occurs in a controlled manner. The other exception is Russia. As a
consequence of a complicated combination of falling oil prices and geopolitical risks (which led
to an international sanction process and a significant outflow of capital), Russia is set to suffer
a recession in 2015, and probably in 2016 too, that may be serious (forecasts are for GDP to
drop by around 3% to 5% in 2015).
Despite the particular situation in Russia, the general economic context is, as mentioned
above, positive in general terms. For all that, certain downside risks appeared in recent
months. Firstly, despite the fact that its overall effect is favourable for economic activity, falling
commodity prices should drag down the economic prospects of the exporters from these
countries. A second area of risk is that relating strictly to geopolitical issues, which became
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entrenched in 2014 and are behind some of the peaks of uncertainty occurring in recent
months. On the political front, electoral uncertainty in a particular year featuring a large
number of elections may also contribute to occasional spikes in risk aversion. In 2014 it was
the Brazilian economy that suffered in growth terms during the build-up to elections. This
year, attention will focus on several countries in Europe, including the United Kingdom, Spain
and Portugal and, outside the European Union, Turkey. A fourth source of risk is that arising
from potential imbalances in economic policies, particularly monetary policies. Although the
general trend is one of higher growth in practically all economies, the various phases of the
economic cycle are experiencing significant differences in monetary conditions. Against this
backdrop, one of the points of friction that could continue in 2015 relates to exchange rates.
Last year, expectations of a reduction in the provision of liquidity in the United States caused
the dollar to rise and the euro, and practically all other currencies, to fall. The trend in 2015
could continue in the same vein, particularly in emerging countries with a less balanced
macroeconomic framework.
In the closest environment to the Spanish economy, i.e. the eurozone, 2015 began under the
effect of the same issues that defined the second half of 2014: the pace of growth will
increase, albeit gradually, and the risk that the low price situation will turn into a deflation
scenario will not disappear until a later point. With respect to business activity, in 2015 the
expansive effects of falling prices for oil and other commodities, and the depreciation of the
euro will be fully felt. Although there will be growth, the divergence in the pace of growth
witnessed among countries sharing the single currency will not disappear: forecast growth for
the eurozone in 2015 (1.3%) includes low growth in Italy (0.5%) but also dynamic growth in
Spain (2.3%). This divergent growth is compounded by a very busy electoral agenda, which
could trigger episodes of uncertainty, as occurred at certain times in the first polls of 2015, in
Greece. While the presence of less Greek debt on investors' balance sheets might reduce the
risk of contagion compared with the difficult situation in 2011 and 2012, the change in
government in Greece and the new focus to its economic policy are factors that could come to
bear at a time when the European economic recovery is relatively weak.
The other focus of attention is inflation. Recent data continue to confirm growth in minimum
prices, even discounting the effects of more volatile components such as oil and food. In this
context, and in view of the modest results of the liquidity auctions held in 2014, on 22 January
the ECB unveiled a large-scale programme to purchase public and private debt. Specifically,
from March, the ECB will expand the asset purchase programmes to EUR 60,000 million. This
programme may be considered a milestone in the way the ECB operates. The ambitious nature
of the programme is demonstrated by the amount involved (EUR 1.1 billion) and the timetable
(if there are no signs of inflation converging towards the medium-term target of 2%, it may be
prolonged beyond September 2016). As a result, although the reason behind monetary
expansion was ultimately the falling inflation expectations, we believe that its most tangible
effects will be a reduction in risk premiums in the peripheral economies and downward
pressure on the euro, which are two effects of an expansive nature that will be critical for
making the eurozone recovery more robust. In terms of credibility, the programme received
approval from the markets, as borne out by the positive performance by risk assets (the
eurozone's central stock markets made considerable gains) and the faster decline in the value
of the euro.
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Spain: GDP growth
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As for the Spanish economy, the outlook is its best for many years. Following clear growth in
2014, average growth for 2015 is forecast at 2.3%. The basis for this considerable recovery is
the positive trend in domestic demand, which became more dynamic as 2014 progressed. In
view of the inertia of consumption, this trend is expected to continue in 2015. However, in
contrast to last year, in 2015 forecasts are for exports to rise and imports to lose some of their
previous momentum. This would mean that the contribution from foreign trade would be less
negative than in 2014. If this scenario comes to pass, given that the negative performance by
inflation is mostly due to oil prices, inflation should return to positive territory in the second
half of the year.
Even more so than in 2014, the recovery of the Spanish economy should be buoyed in part by
the improved situation of the banking sector. Forecasts for 2015 point to growth in lending to
SMEs and households (excluding mortgages), to exceed the 2014 figures (annual rises of 8.6%
and 18.6%, respectively). This upward trend in new credit should be boosted by the fact that
the Spanish credit institutions requested practically all the TLTROs offered by the ECB at the
liquidity auction in September and December 2014. This liquidity is dependent on the granting
of credit other than mortgages. The trend in the non-performing loans ratio should be another
support factor. It is forecast to decrease from the level estimated for 2014 (12.8%).
The characteristics of the macroeconomic environment expected for 2015 will determine
various industry-related matters. Three factors are considered particularly noteworthy. Firstly,
as a consequence of the expansive policies and slow growth in the eurozone, interest rates are
expected to remain low over the medium term, which would add further downward pressure
to net interest income. A second matter that is worth highlighting is the low inflation situation,
which is expected to correct gradually. In this situation, deleveraging by businesses and
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households will occur more slowly than in an environment of higher inflation. Lastly, as a
result of the global divergence in relation to the economic cycle, country risk will vary even
more among countries.
Given the entities' different international exposure, the impact on financial results may be vary
for some. Despite these three factors, the level of banking sector risk appears to be lower than
in previous years.
In this macroeconomic and industry-related context, expectations for returns in the Spanish
banking sector in 2015 are better than those for 2014, thanks to the combined effect of a
gradual return to normality of the cost or risk and the improvement in cost-to-income ratios.
However, it is important to note that the expected returns are still below historical levels.

9.2.

Outlook for the Group

As the holding company of the Group that manages the business assets of “la Caixa” Banking
Foundation, Criteria expects the returns on its businesses to improve in 2015.
With regards to regulations, “la Caixa” Banking Foundation and Criteria are awaiting
clarification of the future implementing regulations relating to Law 26/2013 on Savings Banks
and Banking Foundations.
In relation to the businesses in which Criteria invests, the forecasts for the main investees
(CaixaBank, Gas Natural and Abertis) are for sustained growth in activity and, as a result,
further improvement is forecast in Criteria's GAV.
Meanwhile, the positive trend in the debt market and in interest rates should enable Criteria
to manage its level of debt with the aim of reducing borrowing costs, diversifying funding
sources and extending debt maturities.
CaixaBank, the Criteria Group's most important investee, has developed a new Strategic Plan
for 2015-2018. The plan was defined within a context of gradual economic recovery, the startup of the Banking Union and the presence of technology and innovation in customer relations.
In the Spanish financial system, low returns and a general loss of trust among the public are
impacts hanging over still from the recession.
A key issue for the Group in 2015 will be to develop and adapt to the new European
supervision and the new regulators. 2015 will be a crucial year for laying the groundwork for
growth in profitability, which will be based on the following aspects:
a. Growth in net interest income and fee income.
b. Maintaining operating expenses at 2014 levels.
c. Asset quality
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Following completion of the takeover of the Chilean operator, CGE, Gas Natural expects to
improve EBITDA in 2015 and to make progress in its internationalisation process.
Abertis, as it announced recently in its new strategic plan, plans to focus on its toll road
business and boost its land telecommunications division, which it expects to list on the stock
exchange in 2015. Abertis estimates stable growth in its EBITDA and its shareholder
remuneration policy.
With regard to the management of Criteria's real estate assets, the outlook is brighter, through
a more selective sale of assets and the target of generating value and growing the rental
property portfolio. Furthermore, the property market appears to have bottomed out with
respect to the valuation of this type of asset. Therefore, as in 2014, the levels of write-downs
are expected to fall further.
In view of this positive outlook, Criteria will be able to continue funding, through its dividend,
the EUR 500 million budget that, once again last year, “la Caixa” Banking Foundation approved
for its welfare projects
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10.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Acquisition of Barclays Bank, SAU
On 2 January 2015 and after securing the necessary clearance from the authorities, the
investee CaixaBank, SA acquired the entire share capital of Barclays Bank, SAU. CaixaBank paid
Barclays Bank PLC a sum of EUR 820 million to acquire Barclays Bank, SAU.
Take-over bid launched for ordinary shares of Portuguese bank, BPI
On 17 February 2015, CaixaBank submitted a notice to the Portuguese stock market regulator,
the Comissão do Mercado de Valores Mobiliários (CMVM), announcing its intention of
launching a take-over bid for ordinary shares in the Portuguese bank, BPI. The offer is
voluntary and sets a cash price of EUR 1.329 per share. The price is the weighted average of
the last six months' prices and considered to be fair in accordance with Portuguese
regulations.
The offer is directed at all BPI's share capital not owned by CaixaBank and is conditional on: (i)
obtaining acceptance from more than 5.9% of the shares issued - so that CaixaBank,
considering its current stake of 44.1%, will go on to hold more than 50% of the BPI's share
capital after the operation and (ii) the removal of the 20% restriction on the voting rights held
by a single shareholder established in Article 12.4 of BPI's Bylaws at the appropriate
shareholders' meeting.
For this restriction to be removed 75% of the share capital attending the shareholders'
meeting or represented therein must vote in favour of the motion and CaixaBank may only
exercise 20% of the voting rights. The transaction is expected to be completed in the second
quarter of 2015.
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11.

2014 ANNUAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Law 16/2007 of 4 July, reforming and adapting Spanish corporate accounting legislation for its
international harmonisation based on European legislation, redrafted Article 49 of the
Commercial Code regulating the minimum content of management reports. Pursuant to this
regulation, Criteria has included its Annual Corporate Governance Report in a separate section
of the Management Report.
A re-formatted edition of the comprehensive text of Criteria's Annual Corporate Governance
Report for 2014, approved by the Criteria Board of Directors on 26 February 2015, follows
below. The original report, prepared in accordance with the prescribed format and prevailing
regulations, is available at www.criteria.com and on the website of the Spanish National
Securities Market Commission (CNMV).
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2014 ANNUAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, S.A., SOCIEDAD UNIPERSONAL

ISSUER’S PARTICULARS

FINANCIAL YEAR-END

31/12/2014

Company Tax ID No. (C.I.F)

A-63379135

CORPORATE NAME
CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, S.A., SOCIEDAD UNIPERSONAL

REGISTERED OFFICE
AVENIDA DIAGONAL 621, BARCELONA

1

ANNUAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT FOR NON-SAVINGS BANKS ADMITTED TO
TRADING ON A REGULATED MARKET

A

OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE
A.1

List the shareholders or unit holders of significant ownership interests in the
entity at year-end:
Name or corporate name of shareholder or unit holder

% of share capital

CAIXA D'ESTALVIS I PENSIONS DE BARCELONA. “LA CAIXA”, BANKING
FOUNDATION

100,00%

A.2

Indicate, as applicable, any family, commercial, contractual or corporate
relationships between shareholders or unit holders of significant
shareholdings, insofar as these are known by the entity, unless they are
insignificant or arise from ordinary trading or exchange activities.

A.3

Indicate, as applicable, any commercial, contractual or corporate relationships
between shareholders or unit holders of significant shareholdings, and the
entity and/or its group, unless they are insignificant or arise from ordinary
trading or exchange activities.
Related-party name or corporate name

CAIXA D'ESTALVIS I PENSIONS DE BARCELONA. “LA CAIXA”, BANKING FOUNDATION

Type of relationship: Corporate
Brief description:
The Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, “la Caixa”, Banking
Foundation is the sole shareholder of the Company
A.4

Indicate, as applicable, any restrictions on exercising voting rights, as well as
any restrictions on the acquisition or transfer of ownership interests in the
share capital.
Yes

x

No
Description of restrictions

TRANSFER OF OWNERSHIP INTERESTS: article 9 of the Bylaws details the restrictions on share
transferability. Transfers are allowed to the following (i) other shareholders; (ii) the shareholders' spouse,
ascendants or descendants; and (iii) companies belonging to the same group. In all other cases,
shareholders must give written notice to the governing body, stating the name of the individual or legal
entity to whom they wish to transfer the shares, the price and the terms of the transaction. Pursuant to
the procedure and terms outlined in the Bylaws, the remaining shareholders may exercise their
preferential right of purchase, as may, if applicable, the Company itself.
EXERCISING VOTING RIGHTS: There are no restrictions on exercising voting rights at
CAIXAHOLDING, S.A.U.

2

CRITERIA

B

GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS MEETING OR EQUIVALENT BODY
B.1

Indicate the quorum required for constituting the General Shareholders’
Meeting or equivalent body established in the company Bylaws. Describe how
it differs from the system of minimum quorums established in the Corporate
Enterprises Act (“LSC”) or applicable regulations.
Pursuant to article 16 of the Bylaws, the General Meeting shall be considered quorate at first call
when shareholders in attendance or represented by proxy hold at least 25% of the subscribed
capital with voting rights. It shall be considered quorate at second call regardless of the
percentage of share capital in attendance. In order for the Ordinary or Extraordinary General
Meeting to validly agree to issue bonds, suppress or limit pre-emptive subscription rights,
increase or reduce capital, carry out a transformation, merger, spin-off, global transfer of assets
and liabilities, transfer the registered office to a foreign country or make any changes to the
Bylaws, shareholders at first call, whether present or represented by proxy, representing at least
50% of subscribed capital with voting rights must be in attendance. At second call, only 25% of
said capital is necessary, although when shareholders in attendance total less than 50% of
subscribed capital with voting rights, the agreements in the preceding paragraph may only be
validly adopted with a favourable vote by two thirds (2/3) of the capital in attendance or
represented by proxy at the Meeting. The system of minimum quorums detailed in article 16 is
identical to that established in the Corporate Enterprises Act .

B.2

Indicate and, as applicable, describe any differences between the company’s
system of adopting corporate resolutions and the framework established in
the LSC or applicable regulations.
Pursuant to article 18 of the Bylaws, resolutions will be adopted by the majority vote of the
holders of the share capital with voting rights present or represented at the
Meeting. Each share confers the right to one vote.The system of adopting corporate resolutions
detailed in article 18 is identical to that established in the Corporate Enterprises Act .

B.3

Briefly indicate the resolutions adopted at the General Shareholders’ Meetings
or equivalent bodies held during the year and the percentage of votes with
which each resolution was adopted.
RESOLUTIONS ADOPTED BY THE SOLE SHAREHOLDER:
27/03/2014: Remuneration of members of the Board of Directors.
24/04/2014: Approval of the Individual and Consolidated Financial Statements for the year
ended 31 December 2013 and the corresponding Management Reports. Approval of the
Directors' performance during 2013. Appropriation of 2013 profit. Authorisation to the members
of the Board in accordance with article 230 of the LSC. Delegation of powers regarding the
resolutions adopted.
22/05/2014: Amendment of article 26 of the Bylaws regarding Directors' remuneration.
Approval of the new restated text. Remuneration of members of the Board of Directors.
Granting of powers to record as a public deed the resolutions adopted.
26/06/2014: Removal of members of the Board of Directors. Establishing the number of
members of the Board of Directors. Appointment of members of the Board of Directors.
Delegation of powers regarding the resolutions adopted.
04/09/2014: Approval of the transfer of the Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, ”la Caixa”
Banking Foundation, to Criteria CaixaHolding, S.A., Sociedad Unipersonal. (a) approval of the
transfer balance sheet, (b) approval of the transfer project, (c) approval of the Criteria
CaixaHolding, S.A., Sociedad Unipersonal capital increase of EUR 435,623,360 (four hundred and
thirty-five million, six hundred and twenty-three thousand, three hundred and sixty) through the
issuance of 10,890,584 new shares with a share premium of EUR 2,445,367,099.94 (two
thousand four hundred and forty-five million, three hundred and sixty-seven thousand, ninetynine euros and ninety-four cents), EUR 224,53957473 for each new share issued, (d) approval of
amendments to the Bylaws, (e) information on the terms and conditions of the transfer

3

agreement, and (f) submission of the transfer to the special tax regime. Delegation of powers
regarding the resolutions adopted.
09/10/2014: Delegation in the Board of Directors of the powers to issue fixed income securities
or similar debt instruments for a combined total of up to EUR 3 billion (3,000,000,000).
Delegation of powers regarding the resolutions adopted.
04/12/2014: Capital increase of EUR 17,022,440 (seventeen million, twenty-two thousand, four
hundred and forty euros) through the issuance and circulation of 425,561 new shares, through
non-monetary contributions, with an issue premium of EUR 195,758,062 (one hundred and
ninety-five million, seven hundred and fifty-eight thousand, and sixty-two euros)
460,000,004,699 for each new share issued. Subscription and payment. Amendment of article 6
of the Company’s Bylaws Adherence of the above mentioned capital increase to the special tax
regime for mergers, transfers, asset contributions and share exchanges. Delegation of powers
regarding the resolutions adopted.
04/12/2014: Re-appointment of auditor for 2015. Delegation of powers regarding the
resolutions adopted.

B.4

Indicate the address and mode of accessing corporate governance content on
your entity’s website.
Corporate governance information for Criteria CaixaHolding, S.A.U. is available on the Entity's
website (www.criteria.com).

B.5

Indicate whether the entity has held meetings with the various syndicates, if
applicable, of holders of securities issued by the entity, the purpose of the
meetings held in the year to which this report relates and the main resolutions
adopted.
Issue of convertible bonds maturing in 2017 of the Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, ”la
Caixa” Banking Foundation, totalling EUR 750,000,000
First General Assembly of Bondholders
The first General Assembly of Bondholders of the issue of convertible bonds maturing in 2017 of
the Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, ”la Caixa”, Banking Foundation was announced on
30 July 2014 to be held on 10 September 2014. The following resolutions were adopted:
1. Management of the Provisional Trustee of the Bondholders' Syndicate
2. Ratification of the appointment of the Provisional Trustee of the Bondholders' Syndicate as
the Trustee of the Bondholders' Syndicate
3. Definitive version of the Syndicate Regulations
Second General Assembly of Bondholders
On 30 July 2014 a General Assembly of Bondholders was called to be held at first call on 10
September 2014 (immediately following the First General Assembly of Bondholders), to
authorise the change of issuer as a result of the transfer of the Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de
Barcelona, ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation to Criteria CaixaHolding, S.A.U.. This was not held as
the quorum needed to adopt the resolution was not obtained.
On 11 September 2014, a General Assembly of Bondholders was called to be held at second call
on 13 October 2014. At this Assembly the change of issuer (Criteria CaixaHolding, S.A.U. instead
of the Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation) was approved at
the date the transfer was registered in the Barcelona Companies' Registry.
Issue of senior plain vanilla bonds maturing in 2019 for EUR 1,000,000,000
First General Assembly of Bondholders
The first General Assembly of Bondholders of the issue of convertible bonds maturing in 2019 of
the Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, ”la Caixa”, Banking Foundation was announced on
12 September 2014 to be held on 13 October 2014. The following resolutions were adopted:
1. Management of the Provisional Trustee of the Bondholders' Syndicate
2. Ratification of the appointment of the Provisional Trustee of the Bondholders' Syndicate as
the Trustee of the Bondholders' Syndicate
3. Definitive version of the Syndicate Regulations
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Criteria CaixaHolding, S.A.U. became an issuer of the plain vanilla bonds maturing in 2019 as a
result of the transfer of the Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, ”la Caixa” Banking
Foundation to Criteria CaixaHolding, S.A.U., which came into force in October 2014.

C

ENTITY MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE
C.1

Board of Directors or governing body
C.1.1

List the maximum and minimum number of Directors or members of
the governing body included in the Bylaws.

Maximum number of Directors/governing body members

20

Maximum number of Directors/governing body members

8

C.1.2

Complete the following table on the members of the Board of
Directors or governing body and their position:
DIRECTORS/MEMBERS OF GOVERNING BODY

Name of corporate name of
Director/governing body member
Alejandro García-Bragado Dalmau
Francesc Homs Ferret
Francisco Javier García Sanz
Heinrich Haasis
Isabel Estapé Tous
Isidro Fainé Casas
Javier Godó Muntañola
Jean-Louis Chaussade
José Antonio Asiáin Ayala
Josep Francesc Zaragozà Alba
Josep Joan Simon Carreras
Josep-Delfí Guàrdia Canela
Juan José López Burniol
Justo Bienvenido Novella Martínez
Marcos Contreras Manrique
Víctor Grífols Roura
Salvador Gabarró Serra

Representative

Date of last
appointment
26/06/2014
18/12/2013
18/12/2013
18/12/2013
18/12/2013
18/12/2013
26/06/2014
18/12/2013
18/12/2013
18/12/2013
18/12/2013
18/12/2013
26/06/2014
18/12/2013
18/12/2013
26/06/2014
26/06/2014
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C.1.3

List the members of the Board of Directors or governing body, if any,
who hold office as Directors or executives in other companies
belonging to the listed entity’s group.

Name of corporate name of
Director/governing body member

Justo Bienvenido Novella Martínez
Marcos Contreras Manrique
Isidro Fainé Casas

Corporate name of the
group entity

Nuevo Micro Bank,
S.A.U.
Banco Europeo de
Finanzas, S.A.
CaixaBank, S.A.
Caixa d'Estalvis i
Pensions de Barcelona.
“la Caixa”, Banking
Foundation
CaixaBank, S.A.
Caixa d'Estalvis i
Pensions de Barcelona.
“la Caixa”, Banking
Foundation
CaixaBank, S.A.
Caixa d'Estalvis i
Pensions de Barcelona.
“la Caixa”, Banking
Foundation
Caixa d'Estalvis i
Pensions de Barcelona.
“la Caixa”, Banking
Foundation
Foment Immobiliari
Assequible, S.A.U.
Caixa d'Estalvis i
Pensions de Barcelona.
“la Caixa”, Banking
Foundation
VidaCaixa, S.A. de
Seguros y Reaseguros

Isidro Fainé Casas
Juan José López Burniol
Juan José López Burniol
Salvador Gabarró Serra
Javier Godó Muntañola

Alejandro García-Bragado Dalmau

Francesc Homs Ferret

Francesc Homs Ferret

Josep-Delfí Guàrdia Canela
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Position

Director
Deputy Chairman
Chairman of the
Board of Directors
Chairman of the
Board of Trustees
Director
Trustee
Director
Trustee
Deputy Chairman
and Deputy
Secretary of the
Board of Trustees
Deputy Chairman

Trustee

Director

C.1.4

Complete the following table on the number of female Directors on
the Board and various committees over the past four years.
Number of female Directors
Year 2014

Number

BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

AUDIT
COMMITTEE

APPOINTMENTS
AND
REMUNERAION
COMMITTEE

C.1.5

%

Year 2013

Number

&

Year 2012

Number

%

Year 2011

Number

%

1

5,88%

6

30,00%

N.A.

N.A.

0

N.A.

1

33,33%

N.A.

N.A.

N.A.

N.A.

N.A.

N.A.

1

33,33%

N.A.

N.A.

N.A.

N.A.

N.A.

N.A.

Complete the following table on the aggregate remuneration paid to
Directors or members of the governing body during the year.
Thousands of euros
Item
Individual
Fixed remuneration

Group

604

1.000

1.549

686

2.153

1.686

Variable remuneration
Attendance fees
Other
Total
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C.1.6

List any members of senior management who are not executive
Directors or members of the governing body and indicate total
remuneration paid to them during the year.

Name or corporate name

Position

Marcelino Armenter Vidal

Chief Executive Officer

José Antonio Alfonso Alepuz Sánchez

General Secretary

Francesc Bellavista Auladell

Deputy General Manager

Óscar Valentín Carpio Garijo

Assistant Deputy General Manager

Xavier Moragas Freixa

Assistant Deputy General Manager

Jaume Giró Ribas (1)

General Manager Communication

Jordi Gual Solé (1)

General Manager Planning
Strategic Development

Javier José Paso Luna (1)

Manager Fiscal Area

Enrique Goñi Beltrán de Garizurieta

Deputy Assistant to the Chairman

Total remuneration received by senior management (thousands of euros)

C.1.7

4.784

Indicate whether the Bylaws or the Board regulations set a limited
term of office for Directors or members of the governing body.
Yes

x

No
6

Maximum number of years in office

C.1.8

and

Indicate whether the individual and consolidated financial statements
submitted for authorisation for issue by the Board or governing body
are certified previously.
Yes

No

x

Identify, where applicable, the person(s) who certified the entity’s
individual
and consolidated financial statements prior for their
authorisation for issue by
the Board.
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C.1.9

Explain the mechanisms, if any, established by the Board of Directors
or governing body to prevent the individual and consolidated financial
statements it prepares from being laid before the General
Shareholders’ Meeting or equivalent body with a qualified Audit
Report.
The Audit and Control Committee is responsible for ensuring that the financial
information is correctly drawn up in addition to other functions which include the
following in order to avoid a qualified audit report:
(i) to serve as a channel of communication between the Board of Directors and the
auditors, to evaluate the results of each audit and the responses of the management
team to its recommendations and to mediate in cases of discrepancies between the
former and the latter in relation to the principles and criteria applicable to the
preparation of the financial statements, as well as to examine the circumstances
which, as the case may be, motivated the resignation of the auditor;
(ii) to establish appropriate relationships with auditors in order to receive information,
for examination by the Audit and Control Committee, on matters which may
jeopardise the independence of said auditors and any other matters relating to the
audit process and any other communications provided for in audit legislation and
technical audit regulations;
(iii) to supervise the compliance with the auditing contract, striving to ensure that the
opinion of the Annual Financial Statements and the principal contents of the auditor’s
report are drafted clearly and precisely;
(iv) to review the Company’s accounts and periodic financial reporting which the Board
must furnish to the markets and their supervisory bodies and, in general, to monitor
compliance with legal requisites on this subject matter and the correct application of
generally accepted accounting principles, as well as to report to the Board on
periodical financial reporting and proposals for modification of accounting principles
and criteria suggested by management.

C.1.10 Is the Secretary of the Board also a Director?
Yes
C.1.11

No

x

Indicate and explain, where applicable, the mechanisms implemented
by the entity to preserve the independence of the auditor, financial
analysts, investment banks and rating agencies.
The Audit and Control Committee is responsible for proposing to the Board of
Directors, for submission to the General Meeting or Sole Shareholder, the selection,
appointment, re-election
and substitution of the external auditor pursuant to the
Company's regulations, as well as the contracting conditions thereof, and to receive
regular information on the audit plan and its
execution, as well as preserving its
independence when carrying out its duties.
Annually, the Audit and Control Committee should receive from the auditors written
confirmation of their independence vis-à-vis the Entity or entities related to it directly
or indirectly, in addition to information on additional services of any kind
rendered to these entities by the aforementioned auditors or persons or entities
related to them as stipulated by auditing
legislation. In addition, the Audit and
Control Committee will issue annually, prior to the audit report, a report containing
an opinion on the independence of the auditors. This report should include in all
events, an assessment of the provision of any additional services referred to in this
section, both on an individual basis and as a whole, which are different to legal
auditing and concern the independent nature of auditors or auditing standards.
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The Company has policies governing the relationship with the external auditor,
approved by the Audit and Control Committee, to guarantee compliance with
applicable legislation and
the independence of auditing work.

C.2

Committees of the Board of Directors or governing body
C.2.1

C.2.2

List the governing bodies:
Name of governing body

No. of members

Duties

Audit and Control Committee
Appointments and Remuneration Committee

3
3

See section C.2.3
See section C.2.3

Board of Directors

17

See section C.2.3

Give details of all the committees of the Board of Directors or
governing body and their members:
Audit Committee
Name
Isabel Estapé Tous

Chairman

Position

Salvador Gabarró Serra
Marcos Contreras Manrique

Member
Member

Appointments and Remuneration Committee

C.2.3

Name

Position

Isabel Estapé Tous
José Antonio Asiáin Ayala
Juan José López Burniol

Chairman
Member
Member

Describe the organisational and operational rules and the
responsibilities attributed to each of the Board committees or
members of the governing body. If applicable, describe the Chief
Executive Officer’s responsibilities.
AUDIT AND CONTROL COMMITTEE
Rules and responsibilities
The responsibilities of the Audit and Control Committee are those contained in
prevailing legislation.
The Audit and Control Committee shall be formed in its majority by non-executive
Directors in the number to be determined by the Board of Directors, between a
minimum of three (3) and a maximum of five (5). At least two members of the Audit
and Control Committee will be independent Directors, and will be appointed on the
basis of knowledge and experience of accounting or auditing, or both.
The Chairman of the Audit and Control Committee shall be appointed from among the
independent Directors and must be replaced every four (4) years. They may be
reappointed once one (1) year has elapsed from the time they ceased to be Chairman.
It shall also appoint a Secretary and may appoint a Deputy Secretary, both of whom
need not be members thereof. In the event that such appointments are not made, the
Secretary and Deputy Secretary of the Board shall act as such.
Members of the Company’s management team or personnel shall be required to
attend meetings of the Audit and Control Committee and to provide it with their
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collaboration and access to the information available to them when the Committee so
requests. The Committee may also request the attendance at its meetings of the
Company’s auditors.
Responsibilities
Notwithstanding any other task which may be assigned thereto from time to time by
the Board of Directors, the Audit and Control Committee shall exercise the following
basic functions:
(v) to report at the General Shareholders’ Meeting on matters posed by shareholders
in the area of its competence;
(vi) to propose to the Board of Directors, for submission to the General Meeting or
Sole Shareholder, the selection, appointment, re-election and substitution of the
external auditor pursuant to the Company's regulations, as well as the contracting
conditions thereof, and to receive regular information on the audit plan and its
execution, as well as preserving its independence when carrying out its
duties;
(vii) to supervise the internal auditing services, verifying the adequacy and integrity
thereof, to propose the selection, appointment and substitution of their responsible
persons, to propose the budget for such services, and to verify that senior
management bears in mind the conclusions and recommendations of their reports;
(viii) to serve as a channel of communication between the Board of Directors and the
auditors, to evaluate the results of each audit and the responses of the management
team to its recommendations and to mediate in cases of discrepancies between the
former and the latter in relation to the principles and criteria applicable to the
preparation of the financial statements, as well as to examine the circumstances
which, as the case may be, motivated the resignation of the auditor;
(ix) to oversee the process for preparing and submitting mandatory financial account
information and the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control environment and
risk management system, including fiscal risk; and to discuss with auditors of accounts
any significant weaknesses in the internal control system identified during the course
of the audit;
(x) to establish appropriate relationships with auditors in order to receive information,
for examination by the Audit and Control Committee, on matters which may
jeopardise the independence of said auditors and any other matters relating to the
audit process and any other communications provided for in audit legislation and
technical audit regulations; Annually, the Audit and Control Committee should receive
from the auditors written confirmation of their independence vis-à-vis the Entity or
entities related to it directly or indirectly, in addition to information on additional
services of any kind rendered to these entities and fees received by the
aforementioned auditors or persons or entities related to them as stipulated by
auditing legislation. In addition, the Audit and Control Committee will issue annually,
prior to the audit report, a report containing an opinion on the independence of the
auditors. This report should include in all events, an assessment of the provision of any
additional services referred to in this section, both on an individual basis and as a
whole, which are different to legal auditing and concern the independent nature of
auditors or auditing standards.
(xi) to supervise the compliance with the auditing contract, striving to ensure that the
opinion of the Annual Financial Statements and the principal contents of the auditor’s
report are drafted clearly and precisely;
(xii) to review the Company’s accounts and periodic financial reporting which the
Board must furnish to the markets and their supervisory bodies and, in general, to
monitor compliance with legal requisites on this subject matter and the correct
application of generally accepted accounting principles, as well as to report to the
Board on periodical financial reporting and proposals for modification of accounting
principles and criteria suggested by management.
(xiii) to supervise compliance with regulations concerning related-party transactions
and to report to the Board of Directors on said transactions. In particular it shall
endeavour to report to the market on said transactions, in compliance with
prevailing legislation, and to report on transactions which imply or may imply conflicts
of interest.
(xiv) to supervise compliance with Internal Rules of Conduct on Matters Related to the
Securities Market and, in general, of the rules of corporate governance;
(xv) to report to the Board on the creation or acquisition of stakes in special purpose
vehicles or entities domiciled in countries or territories considered to be tax havens, as
well as any other transactions or operations of an analogous nature which, due to their
complexity, may deteriorate the transparency of the Company or of the group to
which it belongs;
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(xvi) to consider the suggestions submitted to it by the Chairman of the Board of
Directors, Board members, executives and shareholders of the Company, and to
establish and supervise a mechanism which allows the employees of the Company or
of the group to which it belongs confidentially and, if deemed appropriate,
anonymously, to report irregularities of potential significance, especially financial and
accounting ones, which they observe within the Company;
(xvii) to receive information and, as the case may be, issue a report on the disciplinary
measures intended to be imposed upon members of the Company’s senior
management team;
(xviii) any others attributed thereto by Law and other regulations applicable to the
Company.
APPOINTMENTS AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Rules and responsibilities
The responsibilities of the Appointments and Remuneration Committee are those
contained in prevailing legislation.
The Appointments and Remuneration Committee shall be formed in its majority by
non-executive Directors in the number of be determined by the Board of Directors,
between a minimum of three (3) and a maximum of five (5). At least two members of
the Appointments and Remuneration Committee shall be independent Directors.
The Chairman of the Appointments and Remuneration Committee shall be appointed
from among the independent Directors. It shall also appoint a Secretary and may
appoint a Deputy Secretary, both of whom need not be members thereof. In the event
that such appointments are not made, the Secretary and Deputy Secretary of the
Board shall act as such.
Responsibilities
Notwithstanding any other task which may be assigned thereto from time to time by
the Board of Directors, the Appointments and Remuneration Committee shall exercise
the following basic functions:
(i)
to evaluate the balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the Board; to
define the roles and capabilities required of the candidates to fill each
vacancy, and decide the time and dedication necessary for them to properly
perform their duties;
(ii)
to establish a target number of female Directors and advise on how this
target can be reached;
(iii)
to bring before the Board of Directors the proposals for appointment of
independent Directors in order that the Board may proceed to appoint them
(co-option) or take on such proposals for submission to the decision of the
General Meeting, and proposals for the re-election or removal of these
Directors by the General Meeting;
(iv)
to bring before the Board of Directors the proposals for appointment of
other Directors in order that the Board may proceed to appoint them (cooption) or take on such proposals for submission to the decision of the
General Meeting, and proposals for the re-election or removal of these
Directors by the General Meeting;
(v)
to report on the appointment and removal of senior executives and the basic
conditions of their contracts;
(vi)
to examine or organise, in appropriate form, the succession of the Chairman
and chief executive, making recommendations to the Board so the handover
proceeds in a planned and orderly manner;
(vii)
to propose to the Board of Directors the remuneration policy for Directors
and General Managers or those who carry out senior management duties
reporting directly to the Board, Executive Committees or CEOs, as well as
individual remuneration and further conditions of contracts for executive
Directors, and ensuring these are observed.

C.2.4

Indicate the number of Audit Committee Meetings held during the
year.
Number of meetings

1
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C.2.5

If there is a Nomination Committee, indicate whether all of its
members are Directors or members of external managing bodies.
Yes

D

x

No

RELATED-PARTY AND INTRAGROUP TRANSACTIONS
D.1

List any transactions between the entity or its group, shareholders,
cooperativist unit holders, holders of proprietary rights or any other
equivalent.
The following transactions were carried out between Criteria or its subsidiaries and the
Sole Shareholder, the Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, ”la Caixa”, Banking Foundation:

Name or
corporate name
of significant
shareholder

Name or
corporate
name of the
company or
its group
company

Nature of the
relationship

Type of transaction

Amount
(thousands
of euros)

”la Caixa” Banking
Foundation

Criteria
CaixaHolding

Corporate

Spin-off to Criteria of the
assets and liabilities not
assigned to welfare projects
(basically, the ”la Caixa”
Banking Foundation's holding
in CaixaBank, and of the debt
instruments of which it was
the issuer). See Notes 1 and 2
of the individual Notes to the
Financial Statements for
Criteria and Note 1 of the
consolidated Notes to the
Financial Statements of the
Criteria Group.

2,880,990

”la Caixa” Banking
Foundation

Criteria
CaixaHolding

Corporate

Capital increase with share
premium through the nonmonetary contribution of the
total capital of Foment
Immobiliari Assequible, S.A.U.
which was held by Fundación
Bancaria ”la Caixa”. See
Notes 1 and 9 of the
individual Notes to the
Financial
Statements
of
Criteria

212,780

”la Caixa” Banking
Foundation

Criteria
CaixaHolding

Corporate

Dividends

”la Caixa” Banking
Foundation

CaixaBank

Corporate

Receivables from the parent
of the tax group in respect of
corporate tax

161,950

”la Caixa” Banking
Foundation

CaixaBank

Corporate /
contractual

Loan

100,000

”la Caixa” Banking
Foundation

CaixaBank

Contractual

Demand deposits
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75,000

69,661

Note 40 of Criteria CaixaHolding, S.A., Sociedad Unipersonal's consolidated financial statements
shows all the balances of the sole shareholder with Criteria CaixaHolding Group companies in
aggregate form

D.2

List any relevant transactions between the entity or its group and the entity’s
Directors or members of the governing body or senior officers.
All transactions were carried out in the ordinary course of business and on an arm’s length basis.
Note 40 of the consolidated financial statements shows all the balances with managers
Directors

D.3

and

Intragroup transactions
The Company undertook the following relevant transactions with other companies in its
group:

Corporate name of the
group entity

Type of transaction

Amount
(thousands of
euros)

CaixaBank

Financing agreements: loans

650,000

CaixaBank

Financing agreements: others

999,000

CaixaBank

Interest rate hedge contracts
(notional value)

800,000

VidaCaixa

Purchase of CaixaBank issues held
by VidaCaixa.

3,558,834

VidaCaixa

Purchase of SAREB subordinated
bonds

388,710

The Company undertook the following relevant transactions with associates and joint ventures
in its Group:
Corporate name of the group entity Type of transaction Amount (thousands of euros)
Gas Natural Time and demand deposit balances in CaixaBank 1.651.000
See Note 40 of the Criteria Group annual financial statements

D.4

List the mechanisms established to detect, determine and resolve any possible
conflicts of interest between the entity and/or its group, and its Directors or
members of managing bodies or management.
The Company ensures all Directors are cognisant of their duties and, in particular, the duty
to avoid the conflicts of interest envisaged in the Corporate Enterprises Act. Each year the
Secretary of the Board of Directors sends Directors a detailed questionnaire to ascertain
whether there are any conflicts of interest. These are reported in the Notes to the Financial
Statements and, if applicable, assessed to determine whether, in exceptional cases, an
exemption shall be issued to enable the Director to participate in certain actions.
The Company also has an Internal Code of Conduct on Matters Relating to the Securities
Market applicable to all Directors and executives (as well as other employees). This code of
conduct stipulates, among other duties, that Directors shall abstain from carrying out certain
transactions in certain periods, the duty to inform the Company of certain transactions, and
the duty to safeguard privileged information and know how to handle it.
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E

RISK CONTROL AND MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS
E.1 Describe the risk management system in place at the entity.
Risk control is fully ingrained in the business and the organisation plays a proactive role in
ensuring that it is implemented. Senior management participates directly in maintaining the
internal control framework, ensuring that it is executed prudently, and in the ongoing
management and planning of capital.
Following the reorganisation of the “la Caixa” Group in October (see Note 1 of the attached
annual financial statements), Criteria (a solely-owned subsidiary of the “la Caixa” Banking
Foundation) now manages not only the “la Caixa” Group's ownership interests in industries
other than the financial services industry (as it did before) but also the ownership interest in
CaixaBank held by ”la Caixa” and the debt instruments issued by ”la Caixa”.
The risk management system at the Criteria Group is decentralised, with group companies
having their own control and oversight structure for their activities. However, as the Group's
Parent, Criteria offers a complementary structure for managing its own risks and overseeing the
risks of its investees.
CaixaBank Group:
It should be highlighted that as the Criteria Group includes the CaixaBank banking group, most of
the risks to which the Group is exposed and that it manages stem from the CaixaBank Group's
banking and insurance activity. CaixaBank's risk management system is aligned with guidelines
issued by the regulator and industry best practices. The Risk Management System of the
CaixaBank Group comprises the following elements:
· The corporate risk catalogue, signed within the framework of the Corporate Risk Map Project
(for more information see point E.3), classifies risks by category and facilitates their valuation,
thereby helping to determine the CaixaBank Group's risk profile, and to formalise a Risk Appetite
Framework which standardises risk terminology and facilitates the adaptation of risk reporting
to the requirements of the Single Supervisory Mechanism (SSM).
· The Risk Appetite Framework (RAF) is a comprehensive and forward-looking tool used by the
CaixaBank Group's Board of Directors to determine the types and thresholds of risk it is willing to
assume in achieving the financial conglomerate's strategic and profitability targets.
· Policies which are the regulatory framework defining how risk activities are conducted in
general in order to control and manage risks at corporate level.
· Procedures, methodologies and support tools, which allow policies to be articulated and the
"standardisation, comprehensiveness and consistency" principle to be adhered to.
· Risk culture at CaixaBank is constantly evolving. This is evident in (i) training: both classroombased and virtual, using the remote means available; (ii) information: publication of relevant
standards, circulars and manuals which are reported during monthly meetings of the CEO and
senior management with the directors of the branch network and Central Services; and (iii)
incentives: at present this applies to the variable remuneration of certain managers involved in
risk origination and management.
· A fully integrated Risk Monitoring and Control System which (i) mitigates operational losses,
provides information on thresholds, consumption and risk positions to (ii) avoid overexposure
and ensure reporting information, risk calculations and metrics are complete to (iii) guarantee
their reliability when measuring risks, and in relation to the data fed into risk software to ensure
(iv) no key data is missing or contains inaccurate or out-of-date information which means debtor
risks cannot be calculated properly.
· CaixaBank has an internal control framework which offers a reasonable degree of assurance
that the Group will achieve its objectives. Its internal control environment is aligned with
guidelines issued by the regulator and industry best practices, and is structured in accordance
with the Three Lines of Defence model: the first involves the Entity's own areas; the Internal
Control Area is the second line of defence, together with Global Risk Management, Internal
Control over Financial Reporting (ICFR) and Regulatory Compliance, among others, which
oversee the proper operation of risk management and control carried out by first line; and
finally, the third line of defence is the supervisory element which is formed by the Internal Audit
Area.
For more information see Note 3 of the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Criteria Group
for 2014.
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E.2

Identify the bodies responsible for preparing and implementing the risk
management system.
Governing bodies
The Board of Directors of Criteria carries out supervisory functions in relation to the
performance of the investees and periodically monitors the internal control and risk
management systems in place to oversee these investees.
Additionally, the Audit and Control Committee of Criteria, among its other duties, supervises the
process of preparing and presenting financial reporting and the effectiveness of Criteria's
internal control and risk management systems.
CaixaBank Group:
The Board of Directors of CaixaBank determines the risk-policy of the CaixaBank Group. In this
regard, the Board itself takes decisions on certain risk management issues at the CaixaBank
Group:
· Adopting and monitoring compliance with risk measurement approaches, as well as calculating
the related regulatory capital requirements;
· Organising control duties at the highest level of authority;
· Establishing global risk limits; and
· Ruling on general risk policies and progress made..
In general, the CaixaBank Board of Directors’ functions are:
· Defining general risk management principles;
· Establishing the distribution of functions within the organisation and the criteria for preventing
conflicts of interest;
· Approving and reviewing periodically the risk performance, management, control and
reduction strategies and policies;
· Approving the general internal control strategies and procedures; and
· Monitoring the results of the risk management and control function and the status of internal
control.
The Board has delegated certain issues to the Delegate Committees, whose activities are
described in the Regulations of the Board of Directors (articles 11 et seq.). Specifically, the
delegate Risks Committee (set up in 2014) closely monitors risk management. Its exact duties
and composition are detailed in section C.2.3., along with those of the Audit and Control
Committee (also detailed in section C.2.3).
The CaixaBank Risks Committee shall meet as often as necessary to fulfil its duties and shall
prepare an annual report on its operation, emphasising the principal incidents arising, if any, in
relation to the functions entrusted to it. Furthermore, when the Risks Committee deems it
appropriate, it shall include in the said report proposals to improve the Company’s risk
management.
Its main duties include:
· Advise the CaixaBank Board of Directors on the overall susceptibility to risk, current and future,
of the Entity and its strategy in this area, reporting on the risk appetite framework, assisting in
the monitoring of the implementation of this strategy, ensuring that the CaixaBank Group's
actions are consistent with the level of risk tolerance previously decided and monitoring the
appropriateness of the risks assumed and the profile established.
· Propose to the Board the CaixaBank Group's risk policy.
· Propose to the CaixaBank Board of Directors, the nature, quantity, format and frequency of the
information concerning risks that the Board of Directors should receive and establish what the
Committee should receive.
· Regularly review exposures with its main customers, economic business sectors and by
geographic area and type of risk.
· Examine the CaixaBank Group's risk reporting and control systems and information systems
and indicators.
· Evaluate regulatory compliance risk in its scope of action and determination, understood as risk
arising from deficient procedures that generate actions or omissions that are not aligned with
the legal, regulatory framework, or with the internal codes and rules, and which could result in
administrative sanctions or reputational damage.
· Report on new products and services or significant changes to existing ones.
As a final guarantee of the control mechanisms, notwithstanding the risk management and
control functions of the Board of Directors of CaixaBank, the Audit and Control Committee of
CaixaBank is entrusted with overseeing the process for preparing and submitting regulated
financial information and the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control environment,
internal audit and risk management system and to discuss with auditors of accounts any
significant weaknesses in the internal control system identified during the course of the audit.
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Management bodies
The priority of Criteria's management is to identify the main risks in terms of the most significant
businesses and apply policies with a high degree of decentralisation in view of the wide variety
of businesses and their high level of specialisation.
In order to properly measure and analyse risks inherent to Criteria's activity as Parent of the
Group, Criteria's management uses the tools and methodology of CaixaBank (which has its own
Corporate Risk Models and Policies Division), in accordance with financial sector best practices.
Senior management at CaixaBank acts within the framework of powers delegated by the Board
of Directors of CaixaBank, both collegiately (Management Committee) and individually through
the Chief Risks Officer.
CaixaBank's General Risk Division ensures the correct working of the Risk Management System
of the CaixaBank Group. It is not directly responsible for reputational risk (which is managed by
the Deputy General Division for Communication, Institutional Relations, Brand and Corporate
Responsibility) nor legal/political/regulatory risk or regulatory compliance (which are the
responsibility of the General Secretary).
Senior management of the CaixaBank Group sits on the various risk management committees
which establish general action policies, approve transactions at the highest level, and manage
business risk across the CaixaBank Group. These committees are:
· Global Risks Committee
· Risk Policies Committee
· Subsidiaries' Risk Policies Committee
· Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO)
· Permanent Lending Committee
· Real Estate Acquisition and Appraisal Committee
· Operational Risk Committee
· Parameters and Models Committee
· Risk Monitoring Committee
· Default and Recovery Committee
· New Investment Products Committee
· Corporate Rating Committee
· Major Auctions Committee
· Major Customer Monitoring Committee
· Dations Committee
For more information see Note 3 of the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Criteria Group
for 2014.

E.3

Indicate the main risks which may prevent the entity from achieving its targets.
A list of the risks that might affect the profitability of Criteria’s activities, as the Parent of the
Criteria Group, its financial solvency and its corporate reputation as a result of its holdings in
financial assets is provided hereon:
· Market risk - includes fluctuations in the value of the ownership interests in other companies,
classified as available-for-sale financial assets, and changes in interest rates. This type of risk also
includes real estate risk, i.e. the risk that a change in value of a real estate asset could lead to
losses. It includes the value of investments in real estate assets classified as real estate
investments, non-current assets held for sale and inventories.
· Liquidity risk - relates mainly to the lack of liquidity of certain of the Company's investments or
needs arising from its commitments or investment plans.
· Credit risk - relates mainly to the risk that a counterparty is unable to meet its payment
obligations and to possible losses due to changes in a counterparty's credit rating. Conceptually,
this type of risk includes investments in the portfolio of Group companies, jointly controlled
entities and associates.
· Operational risk - Relates to errors in the implementation and execution of operations.
CaixaBank Group:
It should also be noted, as we have mentioned in section E.1, that as the Criteria Group includes
the CaixaBank banking group, most of the risks to which the Criteria Group is exposed and that it
manages stem from the CaixaBank Group's banking and insurance activity. We have therefore
listed below the CaixaBank Group's risks which are grouped into the following categories: risks
affecting the Entity's financial activity and risks affecting business continuity.
The main risks reported periodically to management and the governing bodies are:
Risks inherent in financial activity:
· Liquidity risk: Risk of insufficient liquid assets due to outflows of funds and market closure to
meet contractual maturities of liabilities, regulatory requirements, or the needs of the business.
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· Credit risk: Risk of a decrease in the value of the CaixaBank Group's assets due to uncertainty in
a counterparty's ability to meet its obligations.
· Market risk: Risk of a decrease of the value in the CaixaBank Group's assets held for trading or
increase in the value of its liabilities held for trading due to fluctuations in interest rates or prices
in the market where the assets/liabilities are traded.
· Interest or exchange rate risk: Risk of a negative impact on the economic value of the balance
sheet or results, arising from changes in the structure of the interest rate curve or exchange rate
fluctuations.
· Actuarial risk: Risk of an increase in the value of commitments assumed through insurance
contracts with customers and employee pension plans due to the differences between the
claims estimates and actual performance.
· Capital adequacy risk: Risk caused by a restriction of the CaixaBank Group's ability to adapt its
level of capital to regulatory requirements or to a change in its risk profile.
Risks affecting continuity of corporate activity
· Legal/Regulatory risk: Risk of a loss or decrease in profitability of the CaixaBank Group as a
result of changes to the regulatory framework or court rulings that are unfavourable to the
Entity.
· Compliance risk: Risk arising from a deficient procedure that generates actions or omissions
that are not aligned with the legal or regulatory framework, or with the internal codes and rules,
and which could result in administrative sanctions or reputational damage.
· Operational risk: Risk of losses arising from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and
systems, or from external events. Includes the risk categories encompassed in the regulation.
· Reputational risk: Risk associated with reduced competitiveness due to the loss of trust in
CaixaBank by some of its stakeholders, based on their assessment of actions or omissions, real
or purported, by CaixaBank, its Senior Management or Governing Bodies.
For more information see Note 3 of the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Criteria Group
for 2014.

E.4

Identify if the entity has a risk tolerance level.
The CaixaBank Group has various risk tolerance levels in its Risk Appetite Framework (already
detailed in point E.1, as part of its Risk Management System).
CaixaBank's Risk Appetite Framework includes qualitative and quantitative statements.
· The risk appetite statement transmits the target risk profile with four key dimensions
1. Loss protection: The Entity wishes to maintain a medium-low risk profile and a comfortable
level of capital.
2. Liquidity and financing: In order to have a stable and diversified financing base, the Entity
must be certain it has the capability to meet its financing obligations and needs, including under
adverse market conditions.
3. Business combination: The Entity aspires to hold a leading position in the retail banking
market and be able to generate revenue and capital in a balanced and diversified manner.
4. Franchise risks: the CaixaBank Group adheres to the highest ethical and governance
standards, encouraging sustainability and social responsibility, and actively strives to ensure
operating excellence.
· Quantitative metrics, which are summarised in scorecards:
1.

Primary metrics, with the appetite and tolerance levels set by the Board of CaixaBank

2.

Complementary indicators, to breakdown or complement risk monitoring by the
management team

· Management levers, to ensure the business and risks are managed in a coherent and efficient
manner. These are included in:
1.

Human Resources policies

2.

Risk communication and training

3.

Processes and tools

4.

Delegation of authority

5.

Policies and methodologies
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6.

Limits (e.g. concentration)

For each key dimension defined, and in addition to the qualitative statements, there are also
various quantitative metrics with the appetite and the tolerance thresholds to be maintained.
Along with the management levers, these help steer the risk profile assumed by the
management team.
There are various “Appetite” and “Tolerance” levels for each of the metrics which have a system
of alert traffic lights:
•

“Green traffic light”: risk target

•

“Amber traffic light”: early alert

•

“Red traffic light”: breach

There is also a "Black traffic light" for certain metrics included in the Recovery and Resolution
Plan. Once activated, the stipulated communication and governance processes will be triggered.
This ensures a comprehensive and scaled monitoring process of potential impairments in
CaixaBank's risk profile, and regulates the opportune and selective involvement of the governing
bodies.
For more information (risk assessment process) see Note 3 of the Consolidated Financial
Statements of the Criteria Group for 2014.

E.5

Identify any risks which have occurred during the year.
In line with the primary metrics defined in CaixaBank's Risk Appetite Framework, credit risk at
the CaixaBank Group rose above the risk appetite thresholds in 2014, although it remained
within the tolerance levels.
Specifically, there were losses due to impairment of the loan portfolio, while real
non-core assets on the CaixaBank Group's consolidated balance
amount, against a backdrop of a drawn-out
private sector and stagnation in

estate

and

sheet exceeded the desired

economic crisis in Spain, deleveraging of the

the real estate sector.

The initiatives adopted and the current action plans should enable the risk levels to be brought
back into line with CaixaBank's risk appetite.
The main figures which affected credit risk at the Criteria Group in 2014 are:
· NPLs. At 31 December 2014 the Group's non-performing loans totalled EUR 20,119 million
(9.76%).
· Property development and foreclosed assets. At 31 December 2014, the Group's gross
financing of real estate development stood at EUR 14,069 million and the net carrying amount of
foreclosed assets was EUR 8,355 million (EUR 1,673 million at 31 December 2013).
· The Criteria Group's NPL ratio compares very favourably with that of the private sector resident
lending for the total system, which in 11 months has gone from 13.8% (31 December 2013 ) to
12.8% (30 November 2014, the last available date). (Source: Bank of Spain).
· For the NPL coverage ratio, in 2014 the Group recognised insolvency provisions of EUR 2,055
million, stripping out recoveries. Including these provisions, total credit loss provisions were EUR
11,136 million at the end of 2014.
· This gave a Cost of Risk of 1.00% in 2014 and an expected loss of EUR 8,713 million at the end
of 2014.
Operation of control systems
The Group's ability to generate value over the long term has not been affected.
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Here we would note the positive result obtained by the “la Caixa” Group in the Asset Quality
Review and the stress tests which were carried out in preparation of the Single Supervisory
Mechanism (SSM) assuming full powers.
Control systems have worked correctly, enabling it to manage the risk effectively. The Group's
Board of Directors has been informed of their performance.
For more information see Note 3 of the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Criteria Group
for 2014.

E.6

Explain the response and monitoring plans for the main risks the entity is
exposed to.
The Board of Directors of Criteria carries out supervisory functions in relation to the
performance of the investees and periodically monitors the internal control and risk
management systems in place to oversee these investees.
Additionally, the Audit and Control Committee of Criteria, among its other duties, supervises the
process of preparing and presenting financial reporting and the effectiveness of Criteria's
internal control and risk management systems.
Criteria’s specialised teams continually monitor investee transactions, in accordance with the
degree of influence the Group has on these companies. The teams use a combination of
indicators that are updated periodically. Also, in conjunction with CaixaBank's Corporate Risk
Models and Policies Division, investment risk measurements are taken, both from the standpoint
of the risk inherent in market price volatility, using Value at Risk (VaR) models on the risk-free
interest rate yield spread, and from the point of view of the possibility of default applying
models based on the PD/LGD approaches.
Criteria's management monitors the investees on an ongoing case-by-case basis to be able, at
any time, to take the most appropriate decisions on the basis of the market performance
observed and predicted and of Criteria’s strategy. Likewise, every six months it tests all its
investments for impairment to recognise any corrections to their carrying amounts, as
applicable.
Interest rate risk relates mainly to changes in borrowing costs on Criteria's floating-rate debt. In
order to mitigate this risk, Criteria's management evaluates whether or not to arrange swaps
(cash flow hedges) depending on current and forecast interest rates. In this regard, Criteria
arranged several swaps, hedging practically all interest rate risk.
To ensure that the portfolio of real estate assets is recognised at its fair value in the balance
sheet, Criteria uses appraisals performed and certified by independent third-party valuers.
Appraisals are performed regularly: more than half of the assets have been appraised within the
last year and almost all of the remaining assets have been appraised within the last two years.
Compliance risk is not limited to any specific area, but rather the entire entity. All employees
must ensure compliance with prevailing regulations, applying procedures that capture
regulations in their activity.
In order to manage compliance risk, the management and governing bodies encourage the
dissemination and promotion of the values and principles set out in the Code of Ethics and the
Internal Code of Conduct on Matters Relating to the Securities Market, and its members, as well
as other employees and executives must ensure their compliance as a core criteria guiding their
day-to-day activities.
Criteria's Board of Directors also approved an Anti-Money Laundering and Counter Terrorist
Financing Manual laying down the obligations stipulated in Law 10/2010, of 28 April, on AntiMoney Laundering and Counter Terrorist Financing, and Royal Decree 304/2014, of 5 May,
regulating this law.
The Criteria Audit and Internal Control Area is working on its own Corporate Risk Map.
CaixaBank Group:
It should be highlighted that as the Criteria Group includes the CaixaBank banking group, most of
the risks to which the Group is exposed and that it manages stem from the CaixaBank Group's
banking and insurance activity. As we have mentioned before, the main risks the CaixaBank
Group is exposed to are outlined in the CaixaBank Corporate Risk Catalogue.
Clear monitoring responsibilities have been established and, where applicable, the response
within the risk appetite framework (framework).
The Board of Directors of CaixaBank is responsible for defining and supervising the Group's risk
profile, updating the framework each year and monitoring the effective risk profile.
The Delegate Risks Committee of CaixaBank advises the CaixaBank Board of Directors on the
CaixaBank Group's overall susceptibility to risk, its current and future positions and its strategy in
this area.
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The Global Risks Committee of CaixaBank is an executive body which reports directly to the
Delegate Risks Committee. It monitors the effective compliance of the framework at least once a
month. If the pre-established levels are exceeded, the necessary measures are taken to reshape
the situation.
In order to meet the information, management and control needs of the above mentioned
bodies, the following reporting system has been set up:
· Monthly presentation of the tier 1 scorecard to the Global Risks Committee, indicating the risk
position for the last available month and the trend. If risk levels breach the threshold for:
·Appetite: an "amber traffic light" or early alert is assigned to the indicator, and the
party responsible or the Management Committee is entrusted with preparing an
action plan to return to the "green" zone, and a timeline drawn up.
·Tolerance: a "red traffic light" is assigned, including an explanation as to why the
previous action plan did not work. Corrective or mitigating measures are proposed to
reduce the exposure. This must be approved by the Delegate Risks Committee.
· Recovery and Resolution Plan: refers to a series of measures developed to:
· Reduce the possibility of a financial entity going bankrupt or entering into a
resolution process;
·Minimise the impact in the event of bankruptcy, and avoid the need for a
bail out.
If these measures are not met, the regulator must be informed of serious breaches and action
plans.
· Quarterly presentation to the Delegate Risks Committee on the situation, action plans and
forecasts for tier 1 metrics.
· Quarterly presentation to the Board of Directors on the situation, action plans and forecasts for
tier 1 metrics.
During these sessions, the Board may decide to amend or update the metrics and previously
assigned thresholds as per the regulation governing the Risk Appetite Framework (at least
annually).
If a risk breaches a tolerance threshold which could threaten the CaixaBank Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, the Board of CaixaBank may initiate the measures set forth in the
Recovery and Resolution Plan.
For more information see Note 3 of the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Criteria Group
for 2014.
Below are the risk supervisory teams (second and third control lines, pursuant to the CaixaBank
Group's Internal Control Framework):
· Global Risk Management
· Internal Validation
· Internal Control
· Regulatory Compliance
· Audit
Global risk management at the CaixaBank Group
The Global Risk Management Corporate Division, which reports to the CaixaBank Group's
General Risk Division, is responsible for ensuring that the main risk management principles are in
keeping with the CaixaBank Group's risk profile, its risk policies, the organisation of the risk
function (structure, limits and delegation and committee), the use of measurement
methodologies in keeping with their complexity, the monitoring of positions and solvency of
borrowers and the systems and procedures for reporting, managing and controlling risks.
As we mentioned above, the Risk Appetite Framework was approved in 2014 as a
comprehensive and forward-looking tool used by the CaixaBank Board to determine the types
and thresholds of risk it is willing to accept. CaixaBank's Global Risk Management Corporate
Division ensures the tool is implemented and monitored.
A systematic and periodical reporting system aimed at the various governing bodies has been
defined to handle the reporting, management and control needs of the various thresholds
established.
For more information see Note 3 of the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Criteria Group
for 2014.
Internal Validation at the CaixaBank Group
The Basel Capital Accord (Basel II) focuses on determining the minimum capital requirements for
each entity in accordance with its risk profile. For credit risk, it allows entities to use internal
rating models and their own estimates of risk parameters to determine their capital
requirements.
The importance of the capital determination process requires proper control environments to
ensure that reliable estimates are obtained. The Bank of Spain establishes internal validation as
a mandatory pre-requisite for supervisory validation, and requires the process to be carried out
by an independent specialised division within the entity. It must also be carried out on a
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continuous basis at the entities, as a complementary feature to traditional control functions
(internal audit and supervision).
The validation function at CaixaBank is carried out by the Internal Validation unit which reports
directly to the CaixaBank General Risk Division, guaranteeing the independence of the teams
developing and implementing internal models.
Within the framework of the project to migrate to the Single Supervisory Mechanism (SSM), the
Internal Validation unit has identified a number of areas within internal governance to be
strengthened. The Global Risk Model Validation framework has been defined and signed off.
This document outlines the Internal Validation unit's mission, the general action framework, the
reporting lines, etc. Relevant criteria for the recommendations issued have also been defined.
For more information see Note 3 of the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Criteria Group
for 2014.
Internal Control
The mission of the Internal Control Area is to provide reasonable assurance to management and
the governing bodies that the necessary controls are in place, designed correctly and operating
efficiently to manage the CaixaBank Group’s risks.
Using the Corporate Risk Map the Area provides a transversal vision of the main risks assumed
by the CaixaBank Group and assesses the control environment, and reports systematically to
senior management and the CaixaBank Audit and Control Committee.
For more information see Note 3 of the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Criteria Group
for 2014.
Regulatory Compliance at the CaixaBank Group
The CaixaBank Group's objective is, on the one hand, to minimise the probability of occurrence
of regulatory compliance risk (as defined in point E.3), and, if it occurs, to detect, report and
address the weaknesses promptly.
As a second line of defence, the CaixaBank Regulatory Compliance Area reviews internal
procedures to verify that they are up-to-date and, as appropriate, to identify situations of risk, in
which case it calls upon the affected areas to develop and implement the improvement actions
necessary. A commitment to a reasonable implementation schedule is reached and Regulatory
Compliance performs regular monitoring, reporting the results to the governing bodies and
management.
Regulatory Compliance is also in charge of advising Senior Management of CaixaBank on this
matter and of promoting a compliance culture at CaixaBank.
For more information see Note 3 of the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Criteria Group
for 2014.
Internal Audit at the CaixaBank Group
Internal Audit provides reasonable assurance to Senior Management and the governing bodies
that the CaixaBank Group's objectives are being fulfilled, assessing the effectiveness and
efficiency of the risk management, internal, control and corporate-governance processes.
Pursuant to the principles of independence and objectivity, and applying a systematic and
disciplined approach, Internal Audit performs assurance and consulting services that add value
to CaixaBank, acting as the third line of defence in CaixaBank's internal control framework.
For more information see Note 3 of the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Criteria Group
for 2014.

F

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING (ICFR)
F.1.

The entity’s control environment
The purpose here is to ensure that the market is informed about the specific
mechanisms the entity has deployed in order to maintain an internal control
environment conducive to comprehensive, reliable and timely financial
reporting (including the inputs used in drawing up financial statements), and
which acknowledges the possible existence of failures or irregularities which
must be detected and corrected.
F.1.1. The bodies and/or functions responsible for: (i) the existence and
regular updating of a suitable, effective ICFR; (ii) its implementation;
and (iii) its monitoring.
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In their response, entities should note whether the Board of Directors,
as laid down in its regulations, is ultimately accountable for the
existence and regular updating of a suitable, effective ICFR and
whether the audit committee, pursuant to its regulations, is assigned
responsibility for its oversight. Likewise, entities should state whether
other internal codes assign senior management responsibility for the
design and management of ICFR.
In October 2014, the Board of Directors of Criteria formally assumed responsibility for
ensuring the existence of a suitable, effective ICFR.
Given CaixaBank's importance in financial reporting within the Criteria Group, the
various ICFR duties are subcontracted to the Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Unit (hereinafter ICFR Unit), which reports to the Executive Audit, Management and
Capital Control Division at CaixaBank.
The Audit and Control Committee is responsible for, inter alia, the following:
· Overseeing the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control environment, internal
audit and risk management systems, and discussing with auditors of accounts any
significant weaknesses in the internal control system identified during the course of
the audit.
· Overseeing the process for preparing and submitting regular financial information.
In this regard, the Audit and Control Committee is charged with overseeing ICFR. Its
oversight activity seeks to ensure its continued effectiveness by gathering sufficient
evidence of its correct design and operation.
The Company's Finance, Resources and Human Resources Deputy General Division is
responsible for the system's design, implementation and performance.
This assignment of responsibility is included in the Internal Police, Internal Control
over Financial Reporting Code which has been approved by the Audit and Control
Committee and the Board of Directors. The Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Unit (ICFR Unit):
Assesses whether the practices and processes in place at the Group ensure the
reliability of the financial information and compliance with applicable regulations.
Evaluates that the financial information reported by the various business areas and
entities comprising the Group comply with the following principles:
i. Transactions, facts and other events presented in the financial information exist in
reality and were recorded at the right time (existence and occurrence).
ii. The information includes all transactions, facts and other events in which the
entity is the affected party (completeness).
iii. Transactions, facts and other events are recorded and valued in accordance
with applicable standards (valuation).
iv. Transactions, facts and other events are classified, presented and disclosed in
the financial information in accordance with applicable standards (presentation,
disclosure and comparability).
v. Financial information shows, at the corresponding date, the Entity’s rights and
obligations through the corresponding assets and liabilities, in accordance with
applicable standards (rights and obligations).
The Code also details the responsibilities of the Internal Accounting Units which are
involved in preparing financial information. These responsibilities include certifying the
execution of the key controls identified with the required frequency, as well as helping
to identify risks and controls and the formal establishment and descriptive
documentation of the activities and controls which affect the preparation of financial
information.
The CaixaBank Group, as a very significant contributor to the Criteria Group's financial
reporting, also has an internal "Internal Control over Financial Reporting Code" which
has been approved by the Management Committee and the Board of Directors.
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F.1.2. The existence or otherwise of the following components, especially in
connection with the financial reporting process:
· The departments and/or mechanisms in charge of: (i) the design and
review of the organisational structure; (ii) defining clear lines of
responsibility and authority, with an appropriate distribution of tasks
and functions; and (iii) deploying procedures so this structure is
communicated effectively throughout the company, with particular
regard to the financial reporting process.
The entity should report the main characteristics of the procedures for
the design, review and updating of the organisational structure, the
lines of responsibility and authority and if these have been
documented and distributed to all employees involved in preparing
financial information at the entity and its group.
Criteria’s Board of Directors has entrusted its Chief Executive Officer and Management
Committee with reviewing the organisational structure and the lines of responsibility
and authority at the Entity. In addition, on 18 November 2014, the Appointments and
Remuneration Committee was set up and also takes part in this process.
The lines of responsibility and authority for drawing up the Entity’s financial
information are clearly defined. It also has a comprehensive plan which includes,
among other issues, the allocation of tasks, key dates and the various revisions to be
carried out by each of the hierarchical levels. The above-mentioned lines of authority
and responsibility have been duly documented and all of those people taking part in
the financial reporting process have been informed of the same.
We would note that all Criteria Group entities subject to ICFR act in a coordinated
manner. In this regard, the above-mentioned Internal Regulations enable the Entity to
disseminate its ICFR methodology groupwide.

· Code of conduct, approving body, dissemination and instruction,
principles and values covered (stating whether it makes specific
reference to record keeping and financial reporting), body in charge
of investigating breaches and proposing corrective or disciplinary
action.
With regard to the code of conduct, the entity should include
information on how this is distributed, whether employees must
formally adhere to it and what training is given on the code.
Criteria CaixaHolding, S.A.U. has a Code of Ethics which has been approved by the
Board of Directors, and which stipulates the values to be preserved and the manner in
which the Company must carry out its professional activity. It establishes principles of
conduct which shall apply to all personnel carrying out professional services at Criteria
CaixaHolding, S.A.U., be they employees, Directors or executives. The Code is available
to all employees on the Company's intranet and has been sent to all Criteria
employees, executives and Directors so they are cognisant of and comply with the
same. All covered persons must sign an acknowledgement of receipt issued by the
Oversight Body.
The principles of conduct of Criteria CaixaHolding, S.A.U. are: compliance with laws,
rules and regulations; prevention of conflicts of interests; protection of the Company's
assets; upholding its corporate reputation; free competition among suppliers;
excellence and professionalism; teamwork; integrity through rigorous internal control;
prevention of fraudulent practices and non-acceptance of gifts or favours; and the
preservation of confidentiality. Other values at Criteria are: respect for people, their
dignity and diversity; respect for cultures; the contribution to progress and the
commitment to social responsibility and the environment.
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Employees have access to an internal procedure to communicate non compliance
and/or doubts regarding the Code of Ethics which guarantees confidentiality, the
identity of the employee and their indemnity.
Likewise, due to prevailing legislation and self-regulatory agreements proposed by
Management and the Governing Bodies, there is an Internal Code of Conduct on
Matters Relating to the Securities Market (IRC) which regulates the conduct of
employees, executives, Directors and third parties which provide services to the Entity.
Its objective is to set out the rules governing Criteria CaixaBank, S.A.U.’s actions as well
as its administrative bodies, employees and representatives, in accordance with the
rules of conduct contained in the Securities Market Law and the corresponding
implementing regulations when entering into activities in the Securities Market.
The overall purpose is to promote transparency in markets and to protect, at all times,
the legitimate interests of investors.
The Code is available to all employees on the Company's intranet and has been sent to
all employees, executives and Directors so they are aware of and comply with the
same. All covered persons must sign an acknowledgement of receipt issued by the
Oversight Body.
CaixaBank Group:
Also, given CaixaBank's importance within the Criteria Group, we would note that
CaixaBank has a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, which has been approved by the
Board of Directors, which sets out the core ethical values and principles that guide its
conduct and govern the actions of all employees, executives and members of the
governing bodies. The Code is available to all employees on the Company's intranet
and can also be accessed by shareholders, customers, suppliers and other interested
parties under the Corporate Responsibility section of the CaixaBank website.
The ethical values and principles outlined in the Code are as follows: compliance with
the law, respect, integrity, transparency, excellence, professionalism, confidentiality
and social responsibility.
The Code also states that CaixaBank undertakes to provide its customers and
shareholders with accurate, truthful and understandable information on its
transactions and commissions and the procedures for handling claims and resolving
incidents. CaixaBank also makes all its financial and relevant corporate information
available to its shareholders, in line with prevailing legislation.
The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is signed by all newly hired new employees of
CaixaBank.
Likewise, due to prevailing legislation and self-regulatory agreements proposed by
Management and the Governing Bodies, there are other codes regulating the conduct
of employees in specific areas. These are:
I. Internal Rules of Conduct on matters relating to the Stock Market (IRC)
II. Telematic Code of Conduct
III. The Anti-corruption Policy
IV. Internal Code of Conduct and policy for the Contribution to Euribor and Eonia.
V. Internal Confidential Consulting Channel.
The following training on these codes, regulations and policies was given in
- 2014: e-learning courses on the Code of Ethics, the Ant-corruption Policy and the
Confidential Consulting and Whistle-blowing Channel. This 90-minute course was
aimed at the whole set of CaixaBank’s.
- Information Security training was also given in 2014, taking part in an e-learning
course, the content of which included the guidelines of the Telematic Code of
Conduct.
- CaixaBank also offers two e-learning courses available on the IRC,
· one for all covered persons; and
·another for all employees which focused on identifying and notifying any market
abuse or suspicious operations, the corporate conflict of interest policy and
employees’ general obligations regarding privileged information.
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· ‘Whistle-blowing’ channel, for the reporting to the audit committee
of
any irregularities of a financial or accounting nature, as well as
breaches of the code of conduct and malpractice within the
organisation, stating whether reports made through this channel are
confidential.
The entity should inform all employees of how to access the whistleblowing channel (by phone, email, in writing, etc. ) and that all reports
are dealt with confidentially prior to being examined by members of
the audit committee.
Reports of possible breaches of the Code of Ethics submitted by employees via the
whistle-blowing channel are managed by the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief
Executive or the General Secretary of Criteria CaixaHolding, S.A.U.. A member of the
Management Committee is assigned to investigate each report. The confidentiality of
the sender is maintained at all times. Once the investigation has concluded, a
committee shall be formed comprising the Chief Executive Officer, or, if applicable, the
Chief Executive, the General Secretary and the member of the Management
Committee involved in the investigation, providing the events reported do not involve
any of these people. Should this be the case, the person in question shall be replaced
by the next highest ranking executive who has not been affected by this event. The
committee shall investigate the source of the compliant and, if applicable, the action
to be taken.
All reports must be individual and confidential. The whistle-blower is only identified to
the people involved in the investigation if it is absolutely necessary and only with the
employee’s consent. This also guarantees the employee’s indemnity except in cases of
intentional claims or their participation in the events.
Any reports of breaches of the Code of Conduct on matters relating to the Securities
Market shall be submitted to the Code of Conduct Monitoring Committee which
comprises three members of Criteria appointed by the Board of Directors. The
Monitoring Committee is responsible for ensuring the rules of conduct on matters
relating to the Securities Market and the Internal Code of Conduct are adhered to. It
shall interpret the content thereof and authorise disciplinary measures in the event
that these are breached.
Any notifications regarding financial and accounting information are sent to the Audit
and Control Committee.
CaixaBank Group:
At CaixaBank, all notifications about possible breaches of the Code of Ethics, the AntiCorruption Policy, the Telematic Code of Conduct and the Internal Code of Conduct for
the Contribution to Euribor and Eonia, as well as reports of potential irregularities
regarding financial and accounting information must be sent to Regulatory Compliance
via the Confidential Consulting and Whistle-blowing Channel set up by CaixaBank and
available to all employees on the intranet. This unit is responsible for managing the
channel, while all reports are dealt with by an internal collegiate unit which alerts the
relevant business units of the measures to be applied.
The collegiate body, which is formed by the General Secretary’s Office, Human
Resources, Regulatory Compliance and Legal Advisory, notifies the Audit and Control
Committee of any complaints regarding financial and accounting information pursuant
to the ICFR guidelines.
This internal channel is exclusively for employees and can be accessed via various links
on the intranet. All reports must be individual and confidential. The whistle-blower is
only identified to the business areas involved in the investigation if it is absolutely
necessary and only with the employee’s consent. This also guarantees the employee’s
indemnity except in cases of intentional claims or their participation in the events.
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We would note that in 2014 the Entity offered training on this channel and its use (see
previous section).

· Training and refresher courses for personnel involved in preparing
and reviewing financial information or evaluating ICFR, which
address, at least, accounting rules, auditing, internal control and risk
management.
Entities should provide summarised information on the subjects
covered in the training and refresher courses as well as other
quantitative (the number of employees who have received the
training, etc.) and qualitative information.
In 2014, Criteria offered over 780 hours of training for its employees, mainly in the
Finance and Investments Areas. The topics covered included valuing companies. Also,
following the incorporation of 2 new employees in the Audit Area, a bespoke training
plan was drawn up for them.
We would note that an on-line ICFR course was launched in December 2014,
addressed to 43 controllers in the InvestmentArea, the Finance Department as well as
in the Audit and Internal Control Area.
Criteria's Finance, Resources and Human Resources Deputy General Division also
subscribes to various national and international accounting and financing publications,
journals and websites. These are checked regularly to ensure that the Entity takes into
account any developments when preparing financial information.
CaixaBank Group:
CaixaBank and its subsidiaries also offer an Ongoing Accounting and Financial Training
Plan which is adapted to the requirements inherent in the job and responsibilities of
personnel involved in preparing and reviewing financial information.
In 2014, training courses focused on the following areas:
-Accounting
-Auditing
-Internal Control
-Legal/Fiscal
-Risk management
-Regulatory Compliance
The various courses were aimed at personnel in Audit, Management and Capital
Control, Audit and Internal Control Deputy General Division, Default and Recovery,
Risks, Internal Control and Regulatory Compliance, as well as members of the
CaixaBank’s senior management. An estimated 2,500 hours of training were provided.
Also, following the incorporation of 21 new employees in the Audit Area at CaixaBank,
a specific training plan was developed in 2014 for them, in order to train them in
matters related to their new resposnibilities, a.o. Risks and Audit best practices. This
training was structured through both presential and virtual courses, devoting roughly
90 hours per employee.
Audit, Management and Capital Control at CaixaBank also subscribes to various
national and international accounting and financial publications, journals and websites.
These are checked regularly to ensure that the Entity takes into account any
developments when preparing financial information.
We would note that in the last quarter of 2014, the Entity launched a revised on-line
ICFR training course, mainly for new employees. A total of 64 employees in Legal
Services, the General Risk Division, Audit, Management and Capital Control, Internal
Control and Regulatory Compliance at CaixaBank took part. This is in addition to the
236 employees who took the course in 2013 when it was also aimed at personnel in
subsidiaries involved in preparing and reviewing financial information.
This two-hour long course is intended to raise awareness among all employees, either
directly or indirectly involved in preparing financial information, of the importance of
establishing mechanisms which guarantee the reliability of the same, as well as their
duty to ensure compliance with applicable regulations. The first section covers ICFR
standards, with particular reference to the CNMV's guidelines issued in June 2010,
while the second covers the methodology established at the Group to ensure
compliance with all prevailing ICFR regulatory requirements.
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Also, following the roll out at the beginning of 2014 of the ICFR IT system (SAP GRC)
which is employed by all staff responsible for the controls in the quarterly internal
certification process (see section F.3.1), a two-hour long classroom-based course was
offered in 2014 in order to get them aware about the procedure for the certification
to ensure that the controls are effective through this tool.
As in 2013, professional development programmes and courses for the various
business areas were drawn up in accordance with the profiles and skills of potential
participants and the objectives set.
The Management Development Centre also runs specific training courses for
managers, following on from the leadership programmes for Business Area Heads and
activities aimed at executives from central services and new business areas. Talent
identification and management programmes were also available.
During 2014 classroom-based sessions were made, addressed to the members of the
Compensation and Risk Committees, Board of Directors and the Audit and Control
Commitee. The courses, taught by top level outside lecturers, covered matters related
with Corporate Governance and Top Management Compensation, Risks, Regulation
and Accounting Update.
In total, the Group gave over one million hours of classroom-based and online training
in 2014 to its staff. Among the subjects covered were accounting and auditing
principles, as well as internal control and risk management. The Group is committed
to informal e-learning via its Virtaula platform where employees can share knowledge.
Training via this platform in 2014 also amounted to over one million hours.

F.2.

Risk assessment in financial reporting: The purpose of these indicators is to inform the
market about the degree of development and systematisation in the entity’s process
for
identifying
the
sources
and
risks of errors or irregularities in its financial reporting. Associated activities should
contemplate both routine or typical transactions as well as less frequent and
potentially more complex ones.
F.2.1. The main characteristics of the risk identification process, including risks of
error or fraud.
With regard to the risk or fraud identification process, entities should provide
information on the process established. It is no necessary to list the risks of
error or fraud identified.
Report the main characteristics of the risk identification process, including risks
of error or fraud, stating whether:







The process exists and is documented.
The process covers all financial reporting objectives, (existence and
occurrence; completeness; valuation; presentation, disclosure and
comparability; and rights and obligations), is updated and with what
frequency.
A specific process is in place to define the scope of consolidation, with
reference to the possible existence of complex corporate structures,
special purpose vehicles, holding companies. etc.
The process addresses other types of risk (operational, technological,
financial, legal, reputational, environmental, etc.) insofar as they may
affect the financial statements.

28



Finally, which of the entity’s governing bodies is responsible for
overseeing the process.
The Group's risk identification process is as follows:
1. Determining the scope of the review: relevant headings and Group Entities
generating this financial information are selected, using quantitative and qualitative
criteria.
2. Documentation of the processes, applications and Business Areas involved, either
directly or indirectly, in preparing financial information.
3. Identifying and assessing risks. Details of the processes concerning risks which may
cause errors in the financial information. A financial information risk map is defined..
4. Documentation of existing controls to mitigate critical risks identified.
5. Continual assessment of the efficiency of ICFR. Reports submitted.
As indicated in the internal regulations which govern Internal Control over Financial
Reporting, the Group has a policy outlining the risk identification process and the
relevant areas and risks associated with financial information reporting, including risks
of error or fraud.
This policy implements the methodology to identify key processes, areas and risks
associated with financial information, based largely on:
- Establishing specific guidelines for responsibilities and implementation and updating;
and
- Establishing the criteria to be followed when identifying these. Both quantitative and
qualitative criteria are used. The different possible combinations of these two types of
criteria (qualitative and quantitative) are used to determine whether a financial
statement item is considered significant or insignificant.
- The sources to be used.
Using the most recent financial information available and in collaboration with the
different areas that have processes which affect the reporting and preparation of
financial information, the ICFR function periodically, at least once a year, identifies the
main risks which could have an impact on its reliability as well as the controls in place
to mitigate them.
However, when, during the course of the year, previously unidentified circumstances
arise that could lead to potential errors in financial information or substantial changes
in the Group's operations, the ICFR function must evaluate the existence of risks in
addition to those already identified.
In any case, risks will refer to possible errors (intentional or otherwise) with a
potentially significant impact on financial information objectives: existence and
occurrence; completeness; valuation; presentation, disclosure and comparability; and
rights and obligations.
The risk identification process takes into account both routine transactions as well as
less frequent transactions which are potentially more complex as well as the effects of
other types of risks (operational, technology, financial, legal, reputational,
environmental, etc.).
The Entity also has an analysis procedure in place at the various Business Areas
involved in corporate transactions and non-recurring or special operations with all
impacts being reported.
The scope of consolidation is also assessed on a monthly basis by the Consolidation
function which is part of the CaixaBank Accounts and Audit Inspection Area, for the
group as a whole under the provisions of a services agreement between Criteria and
CaixaBank.
The impact of risks on the reliability of the reporting of financial information is
analysed in each of the processes entailed in its preparation. The governing and
management bodies receive periodic information on the main risks inherent in the
financial information, while the Audit and Control Committee, via the Internal Audit
function, is responsible for overseeing the entire process.

F.3.

Control activities: Investors should be reliably informed of the scope of the specific
control activities the entity has implemented to mitigate the risk of errors or
irregularities
in
financial
reporting. Hands-on experience has helped identify certain critical areas such as: (i)
procedures for confirming estimates and critical judgements; (ii) outsourced functions;
and (iii) the systematisation and documentation of closing procedures.
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F.3.1. Procedures for reviewing and authorising the financial information and
description of ICFR to be disclosed to the markets, stating who is responsible in
each case and documentation and flow charts of activities and controls
(including those addressing the risk of fraud) for each type of transaction that
may materially affect the financial statements, including procedures for the
closing of accounts and for the separate review of critical judgements,
estimates, evaluations and projections.
The review and authorisation procedures referred to are those carried out by senior
management and the Audit and Control Committee prior to those carried out by the Board of
Directors. Entities should complete this information, indicating whether internal certifications
are carried out by the Audit, Management and Capital Control Division, and describe the main
features of the procedures established by the audit committee to review all financial
information.
Regarding the activities and controls for each type of transaction that may materially affect the
financial statements, entities should disclose the documentation, the type of transactions
covered and how this is kept up-to-date. In this regard, the activities and controls referred to are
mainly those to ensure all transactions are correctly recorded, valued, presented and detailed in
financial reporting.
Regarding the critical judgements, estimates and projections, the entity should describe the
main characteristics of the process whereby these are submitted to the Board of Directors, Audit
Committee and senior management, as well as which of these have been addressed by these
bodies or functions during the process.
The Finance, Resources and Human Resources Assistant Deputy General Manager is responsible
for reporting, preparing and reviewing all financial information. This demands that the various
Business Areas and companies in the scope of consolidation collaborate in ensuring that the
financial information submitted is sufficiently detailed. A services agreement has therefore been
entered into whereby the CaixaBank Executive Audit, Management and Capital Control Division
is responsible for the reporting process for the Criteria Group.
Financial information is the cornerstone of the control and decision-making process of the
Group’s senior governing bodies and Management.
The reporting and review of all financial information hinge on suitable human and technical
resources which enable the Group to disclose accurate, truthful and understandable information
on its transactions in compliance with applicable standards.
In particular, the professional experience of the personnel involved in reviewing and authorising
the financial information is of a suitable standard and all are appointed in light of their
knowledge and experience in accounting, audit or risk management. Likewise, by establishing
control mechanisms, the technical measures and IT systems ensure that the financial
information is reliable and complete. Also, the financial information is monitored by the various
hierarchical levels within the Executive Audit, Management and Capital Control Division at
CaixaBank and Criteria's Finance, Resources and Human Resources Assistant Deputy General
Manager, and where applicable, double checked with other business areas. Finally, the key
financial information disclosed to the market is examined and, if applicable, approved by the
highest-ranking governing bodies of the Group.
The Group has in place control and monitoring mechanisms for the various levels of financial
information it compiles:
- The first control level is carried out by the various business areas which generate the financial
information. This is intended to guarantee that the items are correctly accounted for.
- The second control level is the Audit Area. Its basic function is to ensure accounting control
concerning the business applications managed by the Group’s different business units, which
help validate and ensure that the applications work correctly and adhere to defined accounting
circuits, generally accepted accounting principles and applicable accounting regulations.
The accounting control duties and responsibilities in these two control levels are outlined in an
internal regulation.
There are various monthly revision procedures in place, such as a comparative analysis of actual
and forecast performance, indicators of changes in business and the financial position.
- Finally, the third control level corresponds to the ICFR function which assesses whether the
practices and processes in place at the Group ensure the reliability of the financial information
and compliance with applicable regulations. It specifically evaluates that the financial
information reported by the various business areas and entities comprising the Group comply
with the following principles:
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i.

Transactions, facts and other events presented in the financial information exist in
reality and were recorded at the right time (existence and occurrence).
ii.
The information includes all transactions, facts and other events in which the entity is
the affected party (completeness).
iii.
Transactions, facts and other events are recorded and valued in accordance with
applicable standards (valuation).
iv.
Transactions, facts and other events are classified, presented and disclosed in the
financial information in accordance with applicable standards (presentation, disclosure
and comparability).
v.
Financial information shows, at the corresponding date, the Entity’s rights and
obligations through the corresponding assets and liabilities, in accordance with
applicable standards (rights and obligations).
With regard to activities and control procedures directly related to transactions which may have
a material impact on the financial statements, the Group has in place a process whereby it
constantly revises all documentation concerning the activities carried out, any risks inherent in
reporting the financial information and the controls needed to mitigate critical risks. This
ensures that all documentation is complete and up-to-date. This documentation includes a
description of all activities carried out during the process from its start, indicating any
particularities of specific products or operations.
The documentation of the critical processes and control activities contains the following
information:
- A description of the processes and associated subprocesses.
- A description of the financial information risks along with the financial statement assertions
and the possibility of the risk of fraud. In this regard, we would note that the risks are classified
into risk category and risk models which comprise the Group's Corporate Risk Map.
- Control activities carried out to mitigate the risk along with their characteristics:
o Classification - Key / Standard
o Purpose – Preventive / Detective / Corrective
o Method - Manual / Automatic / Semiautomatic
o Frequency - How often the control is executed
o Evidence – Evidence/proof that the control is working correctly
o COSO Component – Type of control activity, according to COSO classification (Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission)
o System – IT applications or programmes used in the control activity
o Control executor – Person responsible for implementing the control
o Person responsible for the control – Person who ensures the control is executed correctly
All activities and controls are designed to guarantee that all transactions carried out are
correctly recorded, valued, presented and itemised.
As part of the ICFR evaluation process, in 2012 the Group ICFR Unit designed and rolled out a
hierarchical certification of the key controls identified process to guarantee the accuracy of the
quarterly financial information coinciding with when it is disclosed to the market. The persons
responsible for each of the controls identified shall submit certifications guaranteeing their
efficient execution during the period in question.
Each quarter the Finance, Resources and Human Resources Assistant Deputy General Manager
informs the Management Committee and the Audit and Control Committee of the outcome of
this certification process.
In 2014, the Group carried out its quarterly certification process of financial information. No
significant incidences which may affect the accuracy of the financial information were identified.
Up until the end of September 2014 this process was carried out at the “la Caixa” Banking
Foundation. Thereafter (from the fourth quarter of 2014) and following the transfer of assets
and liabilities not linked to the social activity of the "la Caixa" Banking Foundation, Criteria
carried out this certification for the first time.
Internal Audit carries out the monitoring functions described in F.5.1 and F.5.2 below.
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires senior executives to make
certain judgements, estimates and assumptions in order quantify certain of the assets, liabilities,
revenues, expenses and obligations shown in them. These estimates are based on the best
information available at the date the financial statements are prepared, using generallyaccepted methods and techniques and observable and comparable data and assumptions.
The procedures for reviewing and approving judgements and estimates are outlined in the
Judgements and Estimates Review and Approval Policy which forms part of the internal ICFR
regulations and has been approved by the Management Committee and the Board of Directors.
This year the Entity has carried out the following:
· Impairment losses on certain financial assets and the fair value of the related guarantees.
· The measurement of goodwill and intangible assets.
· The useful life of and impairment losses on other intangible assets and property and equipment
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· Impairment losses on non-current assets held for sale.
· The measurement of investments in jointly controlled entities and associates
· Actuarial assumptions used to measure liabilities arising under insurance contracts
· Actuarial assumptions used to measure post-employment liabilities and commitments
· The fair value of certain financial assets and liabilities
· The measurement of the provisions required to cover labour, legal and tax contingencies
· The fair value of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities in the context of the purchase price
allocation in business combinations
· The income tax expense based on the income tax rate expected for the full year and the
capitalisation and recoverability of tax assets
· Determination of share of profit (loss) of associates.
The Audit and Control Committee must analyse those transactions which are most complex and
have the greatest impact before approval can be granted by the Board of Directors.

F.3.2. Internal control policies and procedures for IT systems (including secure
access, control of changes, system operation, continuity and segregation of
duties) giving support to key processes regarding the preparation and
publication of financial information.
The IT systems referred to above are those used to directly prepare the financial information as
well as those which are relevant in processing or controlling those transactions reflected in this
information.
The policies and procedures referred to are those which establish how the systems and
applications operate to: (a) maintain adequate control over access to applications and systems;
(b) establish the steps to be followed to ensure that new applications, or existing ones when
these are modified, process the transactions adequately and provide reliable information; and
(c) establish data recovery mechanisms as well as providing continuity to the processing and
recording of transactions should the usual operating systems be interrupted.
The IT systems which give support to processes regarding the preparation of financial
information are subject to internal control policies and procedures which guarantee
completeness when preparing and publishing financial information.
Specifically the Criteria Group has policies regarding:
I.
Information Security Management System: The Criteria Group has an Information
Security Management System (ISMS) based on international best practices. This
system defines, among
other policies, those for accessing IT systems and the
internal and external controls which ensure all of the policies defined are correctly
applied. In the case of CaixaBank, this system is ISO 27001:2005 certified on an annual
basis (Applus+).
II.
Operating and business continuity: the Criteria Group has an IT Contingency Plan in
place to deal with serious situations in order to guarantee its IT services are not
interrupted. It also has strategies in place to enable it to recover information in the
shortest time possible.
The British Standards Institution (BSI) has certified that CaixaBank’s business continuity
programme is ISO 22301:2012 compliant. The certificate accredits:
Management’s commitment to business continuity.
The existence of business continuity management best practices.
The existence of a cyclical process aimed at continuous improvement.
That CaixaBank’s business continuity management system is compliant with international
standards.
This certificate provides:
- Assurance to our customers, investors, employees and society in general that CaixaBank is able
to respond to serious events that may affect business operations.
- Compliance with the recommendations of regulators, the Bank of Spain, MIFID and Basel III.
- Advantages in terms of CaixaBank’s image and reputation.
- Annual audits, both internal and external, which ensure we keep our system up-to-date.
III. Information technology (IT) governance: The Group's information technology (IT) governance
model ensures that its services are aligned with the Entity's business strategy and comply with
all regulatory, operational and business requirements. IT governance is an essential part of
governance as a whole and encompasses organisational structures and processes to ensure that
the organisation's IT services sustain and extend the Entity's strategies and objectives.
For CaixaBank the governance model has been designed and developed according to ISO
38500:2008 standard, and has been certified by Deloitte.
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CaixaBank's IT services have been designed to meet the business' needs, guaranteeing the
following:
Segregation of duties;
Change management;
Incident management;
IT quality management;
Risk management; Operational, Reliability of financial reporting;
Identification, definition and monitoring of indicators (scorecard);
Existence of governance, management and monitoring committees;
Periodic reporting to management;
Rigorous internal controls which include annual internal and external audits.
-

F.3.3. Internal control policies and procedures for overseeing the management of
outsourced activities, and of the appraisal, calculation or valuation services
commissioned from independent experts, when these may materially affect
the financial statements.
With regards to the outsourced activities, the information should refer to
those which execute or process transactions reflected in the financial
statements, supervising its correct execution or process and other relevant
activities regarding ICFR at the entity.
For all appraisals, judgements or calculations carried out by third parties, the
entity should indicate if there are procedures in place to check the ability and
independence of the third party and other relevant aspects (methods used,
main assumptions, etc.)
In 2014, Criteria and CaixaBank followed the same procurement and commissioning policy,
however from 1 January 2015, Criteria has its own budget and expense control management
tool. Criteria's trading volume and the number of suppliers is not very significant within the
Group as a whole.
CaixaBank Group:
On the other hand, the CaixaBank Group, whose relative importance and volumes are very
significant within the Group, has a procurement and commissioning policy to ensure transparent
and rigorous compliance with the legally established framework. The procurement and
commissioning policy is detailed in the internal regulations which mainly regulate processes
regarding:
- Drawing up, approving, managing and settling the budget
- Applying the budget: procurement and commissioning
- Paying invoices
The CaixaBank Group also has an Efficiency Committee which ensures that the budget is applied
in accordance with internal regulations. It also has a Procurement Department, a collegiate body
of the Efficiency Committee, which ratifies all resolutions agreed by the Spending Committees
and their respective business areas/subsidiaries which entail or could entail future procurement
obligations or services and investment contracts. Auctions and budget requests are acceptable
procurement methods according to the Procurement Department and a minimum of three
tenders from suppliers must be submitted.
The CaixaBank Group also has a Suppliers' Portal offering a quick and easy communication
channel between suppliers and Group companies, as well as various internal control policies to
supervise all outsourced activities.
In 2014, valuation and calculation services commissioned from independent experts mainly
concerned the following:
- Actuarial calculations related to commitments assumed with employees
- Appraisals of assets received in lieu of debts and assets pledged as collateral in loan
transactions
- Certain processes related to Information Systems
- Certain processes related to Human Resources
- Certain fiscal and legal advisory services
- Certain Front Office processes
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F.4.

Information and communication: The information sought is so investors know whether
the entity has deployed procedures and mechanisms to convey the applicable control
directives
to
the
staff
engaged in drawing up financial information, and are cognisant of the information
systems giving support to such processes.
F.4.1. A specific function in charge of defining and maintaining accounting policies
(accounting policies area or department) and settling doubts or disputes over
their interpretation, which is in regular communication with the team in
charge of operations, and a manual of accounting policies regularly updated
and communicated to all the entity’s operating units.
Entities should accordingly state what department or area is entrusted with
this responsibility, what position they hold within the organisation and if this
function is exclusive. With regard to the manual of accounting policies, the
entity should report on aspects such as: (i) the frequency with which this is
updated; (ii) the main characteristics of the process; and (iii) the date of the
latest update.
The Finance, Resources and Human Resources Deputy General Division is responsible for
defining Criteria’s accounting criteria, while at CaixaBank the Accounts and Audit Inspection
Area – Accounting Circuits and Policies Department, which reports to CaixaBank's Audit,
Management and Capital Control, has been assigned responsibility for defining consolidated
accounting criteria given their significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
These criteria are based on and documented according to the characteristics of the
product/transaction defined by the business areas involved and, applicable accounting
regulations, which specify the creation of amendment of an accounting circuit. The various
documents comprising an accounting circuit explain in detail all the likely events which could
affect the contract or transaction and describe the key features of the operating procedures, tax
regulations and applicable accounting criteria and principles.
This department at CaixaBank is charged with resolving any accounting queries not included in
the circuit and any queries as to its interpretation. Additions and amendments to the accounting
circuits are notified immediately and can be consulted on the CaixaBank’s intranet.
Accounting criteria are constantly updated in line with new contract types or transactions or any
regulatory changes. In this process all new events which have been reported to the department
and which may have an accounting impact both for the Entity and the Group are analysed. The
various areas involved in these new events work together to review them. The conclusions of
these reviews are transferred to and implemented in the various accounting circuits and, if
necessary, the various documents comprising the general accounting documents. The affected
business areas at CaixaBank are informed via existing mechanisms, mainly the Intranet and the
accounting policies manual. Also, documentation regarding the accounting analysis of one-off
translations is prepared and held by the accounting policies department. The latest review
coincided with the preparation of the 2014 financial statements.

F.4.2. Mechanisms in standard format for the capture and preparation of financial
information, which are applied and used in all units within the entity or group,
and support its main financial statements and accompanying notes as well as
disclosures concerning ICFR.
With regard to this recommendation, entities should report the main
characteristics of the IT applications used by the units within the entity or
group, in order to provide the information used in the financial statements,
including those used in the aggregation and consolidation process of the
information reported by the various units.
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The Group has in place various mechanisms for the capture and preparation of financial
information based on tools which it has developed internally. In order to ensure the
completeness, standardisation and correct functioning of these mechanisms, the Entity has
upgraded its applications.
In 2011, a project to enhance the entity’s information architecure was launched, aimed at
improving the quality, integrity and swiftness of the information that the business applications
provide. Three years after implementation, the entity has carried on incorporating further
applications to this project in 2014.
The Group has specialist, top-of-the-range tools with which to draw up its consolidated
information. Both CaixaBank and other Group entities use mechanisms in standard format to
capture, analyse and prepare financial information for all the companies comprising the Group.
The chart of accounts, integrated in the consolidation application, has been defined to comply
with the information requirements from relevant regulators.
During 2013, the Entity began to roll out the SAP Governance, Risk and Compliance (SAP GRC)
tool to guarantee the integrity of ICFR, uniformly reflecting all the activities involved in a process
or sub-process as well as associating them with existing risks and controls. The tool also supports
the Corporate Risk Map and Key Risk Indicators, for which the Internal Control and Credit Risk
Models business areas at CaixaBank are respectively responsible.
The tool became fully operational in 2014 and was available to all end users at the end of
January. Also in 2014 various adjustments were made to improve the tool's functionalities which
were not covered by the standard SAP GRC. Training on the tool was also offered during the
year, as explained in section F.1.2.

F.5.

Monitoring: The itemised information provided should show how the entity monitors
ICFR, in order to prevent or remedy deficiencies in its design or operation, as well as to
correct any incidences or weaknesses detected. The points to be covered concern ICFR
monitoring by the audit committee and should reflect actions taken to
this end during the financial year.
F.5.1. The monitoring activities undertaken by the Audit Committee and whether the
Entity has an internal audit function whose competencies include supporting
the audit committee in its role of monitoring the internal control system,
including ICFR. Describe the scope of the ICFR assessment conducted in the
year and the procedure for the person in charge to communicate its findings.
State also whether the entity has an action plan specifying corrective measures
for any flaws detected, and whether it has taken stock of their potential impact
on its financial information.
The ICFR monitoring activities refer to those undertaken by the audit
committee. The entity's response should include information on whether these
activities include (i) approval of the audit plans; (ii) ascertaining who shall carry
these out; (iii) assessing the adequacy of the work carried out; (iv) reviewing
and evaluating the results and their effect on financial information; and (v)
prioritising and monitoring the corrective actions.
The internal audit function should state its position in the organigram, who it
reports to, the main activities carried out and other relevant aspects
(resources available, exclusivity in carrying out the function, etc.).
The statements on the scope of the ICFR assessment should reveal to what
extent the various components of the financial information published have
been supervised in the year (for example, whether the process for identifying
and assessing risks in financial reporting has been assessed; whether the
practices of the control environment and information system controls have
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been assessed; whether the efficiency of the design and the effective working
of the system has been reviewed, etc.).
Notwithstanding the risk management and control functions of the Board of Directors, the Audit
and Control Committee is entrusted with overseeing the process for preparing and submitting
regular financial account information and the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
environment, internal audit and risk management system and to discuss with auditors of
accounts any significant weaknesses in the internal control system in the event they are
identified during the course of the audit.
The duties of the Audit and Control Committee include those related to overseeing the process
for preparing and submitting regular financial information as described in section F.1.1.
Its duties include “overseeing the process for preparing and submitting regular financial
information” and carrying out, inter alia, the following activities:
- Approval of an annual internal audit plan. This process includes assessing whether the Annual
Internal Audit Plan has sufficient scope to provide appropriate coverage for the main risks to
which the Entity is exposed.
- Assessment of the conclusions of the audits carried out and the impact on financial
information, where applicable.
- Constant monitoring of corrective action, prioritising each one.
Criteria and CaixaBank have their own Audit and Internal Control Areas whose mission is to
ensure the correct performance of and supervise the Group’s internal control framework.
The internal audit function is governed by the principles contained in the Internal Audit
Regulations approved by the Audit and Control Committee. The mission of Internal Audit is to
guarantee effective supervision of the internal control system through ongoing assess of the
organisation’s risks and provide support to the Audit and Control Committee by drafting reports
and reporting regularly on the results of work carried out.
Internal Audit has auditors working in various audit teams which specialise in reviewing the main
risks to which the Group is exposed. Internal Audit’s annual plan includes a review of the risks
and controls in financial reporting for all auditing work where these risks are relevant.
In each review Internal Audit:
- Identifies the necessary controls to mitigate the risks associated with the process’ activities.
- Analyses the effectiveness of the existing controls on the basis of their design.
- Verifies that these controls are applied.
- Reports its conclusions of the review and issues an opinion on the control environment.
-Recommends corrective actions.
Internal Audit carried out its annual assessment of ICFR at 31 December 2014, focused on the
following:
- Revising the application of the framework defined in the document “Internal Control over
Financial Reporting in Listed Companies” published by the CNMV which sets out the voluntary
best practices for internal control over financial reporting.
- Verifying the application of the methodology established in the Internal Control over Financing
Reporting Code to guarantee that Group ICFR is adequate and effective.
- Assessing the hierarchical certification of key controls identified process.
- Evaluating the descriptive documentation of the relevant processes, risks and controls in
drafting financial information
It also studied the execution of key controls by the various areas subject to ICFR.
In 2014, Internal Audit also revised the processes which affect the preparation and presentation
of financial information, focusing on, inter alia, financial-accounting, financial instruments, legal
and compliance, information systems and the insurance and real estate businesses.
The Audit and Control Committee and senior management will be informed of the results of the
ICFR evaluation. These reports also include an action plan detailing corrective measures, their
urgency to mitigate risks in financial information and the timeframe for resolving these.

F.5.2. A discussion procedure whereby the auditor (pursuant to TAS), the internal
audit function and other experts can report any significant internal control
weaknesses encountered during their review of the financial statements or
other assignments, to the entity’s senior management and its audit committee
or Board of Directors. State also whether the entity has an action plan to
correct or mitigate the weaknesses found.
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The entity should report whether the audit committee has established a formal
procedure whereby any significant internal control weaknesses can be
reported to the bodies in question, as well as whether this procedure includes
an assessment and corrective measures of the impact on its financial
information.
The Group has in place a discussion procedure with its auditor. Senior management is kept
permanently informed of the conclusions reached during the review of the financial statements
and the Audit and Control Committee receives information from the auditor, who attends its
meetings, on the audit plan, the preliminary conclusions reached concerning publication of the
financial statements and the final conclusions as well as, if applicable, any weaknesses
encountered in the internal control system, prior to preparing the financial statements.
Also, when reviewing the interim financial information, the Audit and Control Committee shall
be informed of the work carried out and the conclusions reached.
In addition, Internal Audit reviews conclude with the issue of a report evaluating the relevant
risks and the effectiveness of internal control of the processes and the transactions analysed. It
also evaluates the possible control weaknesses and shortcomings and formulates
recommendations to correct them and to mitigate inherent risk. Internal Audit reports are sent
to senior management.
Internal Audit constantly oversees the fulfilment of recommendations, focusing particularly on
critical-risk weaknesses, and reports to senior management on a regular basis.
This monitoring information, as well as the relevant incidents identified in the Audit reviews, are
reported to the Audit and Control Committee and senior management.

F.6.

Other relevant information: The entity should list here any additional information it
deems necessary to better interpret its ICFR mechanisms, providing these have not
been detailed previous responses.

F.7.

External auditor report
F.7.1. State whether the ICFR information supplied to the market has been reviewed
by the external auditor, in which case the corresponding report should be
attached. Otherwise, explain the reasons for the absence of this review.
If section F of the ACGR regarding the description of the main characteristics of
internal control over financial reporting has been reviewed by the external
auditor, pursuant to the professional guidelines established for corporations,
this report shall be published in its entirety as an appendix to the ACGR. If this
is not the case, the ACGR shall contain an explanation as to the reasons why
the ICFR information has not been reviewed by the auditor.
Alternatively, if the auditor has carried out a more extensive review of the
international generally-accepted auditing standards, using as reference a
generally-accepted internal control framework, which offer a certain degree of
security on the design and/or working and/or efficiency of ICFR (along the
lines of the SOX compliance report in the United States), this report shall also
be published as an appendix to the ACGR.
See the external auditors' report attached to the Annual Corporate Governance Report.

37

G

OTHER INFORMATION OF INTEREST
A.2 -The Company has a single shareholder and is therefore not obliged to complete this section.
C.1.3 - Banco Europeo de Finanzas, S.A. is a joint venture.
C.1.4 - The figures for 2011 and 2012 refer to Directors of SERVIHABITAT XXI, S.A.U., which was
wholly owned by CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, S.A.U. then. In December 2013 SERVIHABITAT XXI,
S.A.U. y CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, S.A.U. merged, with SERVIHABITAT XXI, S.A.U. absorbing
CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, S.A.U. (reverse merger). The absorbing company, SERVIHABITAT XXI,
S.A.U. adopted the corporate name of the absorbed company, i.e. CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING,
S.A.U.. Therefore, in 2011, 2012 and up until December 2013 CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, S.A.U.
was SERVIHABITAT XXI, S.A.U.
In December 2013, due to the above mentioned reverse merger by absorption, the Directors of
the absorbing company were removed and new Directors who had held that position in the
absorbed company (formerly CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, S.A.U.) were appointed. From that time,
and up until 26 June 2014, six (6) of the twenty (20) Directors were female, i.e. 30% of the total.
Five (5) of the six (6) women represented the then shareholder, Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de
Barcelona, “la Caixa”, and were in turn members of that entity's Board of Directors. In June
2014, these five (5) Directors were removed as they had been removed from the Board of Caixa
d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, “la Caixa” within the framework of adapting the structure of
the “la Caixa” Banking Foundation to the new Law on Savings Banks and Banking Foundations.
C.1.5 - At 1 January 2014, the Criteria CaixaHolding, S.A., Sociedad Unipersonal Board of
Directors comprised twenty (20) members. Between 26 June 2014 (and today), this number fell
to seventeen (17) following the departure of seven (7) members and the appointment of five (5)
new members within the framework of adapting the structure of the Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions
de Barcelona, “la Caixa” Bank Foundation Group and the corresponding adaptation process. We
would also note that an Audit and Control Committee was set up in October 2014 comprising
three (3) members followed by an Appointments and Remuneration Committee in December
2014, also comprising three (3) members.
C.1.6 - Appointed on 1 July 2014.
C.2.2 - There is no Executive or Delegate Committee, neither is there a Strategy or Investments
Committee nor any other committees other than the Audit and Control and Appointments and
Remuneration committees.
C.2.4 - The Audit and Control Committee was set up in October 2014 when Criteria CaixaHolding,
S.A.U. became an issuer of securities as a result of the transfer of the Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions
de Barcelona, “la Caixa” Banking Foundation to Criteria CaixaHolding, S.A.U. and the subsequent
acquisition by the latter of debt issues of the Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, “la Caixa”
Banking Foundation (in addition to other assets and liabilities) which had originally been issued
by Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, “la Caixa” before it became a banking foundation.

This annual corporate governance report was adopted by the Entity’s Board of
Directors or governing body at its meeting held on 26/02/2015.
List any Directors that voted against, or abstained from voting, on the adoption of this
report.
This Annual Corporate Governance Report was approved [unanimously].
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CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, SAU
BALANCE SHEETS AT 31 DECEMBER 2014 AND 2013
Thousands of euros
ASSETS

Notes

31.12.2014

31.12.2013(*)

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Intangible assets

(Note 5)

544

301

Property and equipment

(Note 6)

1,638

1,750

Investment property

(Note 7)

523,452

596,509

22,134,365

8,061,409

Non-current investments in Group companies, jointly controlled
entities and associates
Investments in Group companies

(Note 9.1)

15,820,596

453,977

Investments in jointly controlled entities and associates

(Note 9.2)

6,087,606

6,726,938

Other financial assets

(Note 9.3)

226,163

880,494

557,536

16,030

533,478

14,065

Non-current financial assets
Equity instruments

(Note 10.1)

Other non-current financial liabilities

(Note 10.2)

24,058

1,965

(Note 19)

948,814

1,005,072

24,166,349

9,681,071

Deferred tax assets
Total non-current assets
CURRENT ASSETS
Non-current assets held for sale

(Note 11)

1,266,332

1,242,812

Inventories

(Note 12)

103,570

187,438

17,555

88,972

191

386

16,061

81,464

614

17

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables for sales and services
Receivable from Group companies and associates
Sundry accounts receivable
Employee receivables

-

-

689

7,105

Current investments in Group companies and associates

-

315

Loans to companies

-

315

140,979

135,864

136,374

135,762

4,605

102

524,197

207,949

2,052,633

1,863,350

26,218,982

11,544,421

Other accounts receivable from public authorities

(Note 19)

Current financial assets
Dividends receivable

(Note 13)

Other financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

(Note 14)

The accompanying Notes 1 to 26 and appendices are an integral part of the balance sheet at 31 December 2014.
(*) The figures at 31 December 2013 are presented for comparison purposes only.
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CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, SAU
BALANCE SHEETS AT 31 DECEMBER 2014 AND 2013
Thousands of euros
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Notes

EQUITY:
Shareholders’ equity
Issued share capital
Share premium
Legal reserve
Other reserves
Other shareholder contributions
Profit for the year
(Interim dividend paid during the year)
Valuation adjustments
Available-for-sale financial assets
Hedging instruments
Total equity
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Non-current provisions
Non-current payables
Bonds and other marketable debt securities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Derivatives
Other financial liabilities
Non-current payables to Group companies and associates
Deferred tax liabilities
Non-current accruals

Total current liabilities
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

31.12.2013(*)

16,931,440
1,834,166
2,641,125
35,593
12,132,415
16,800
346,341
(75,000)
2,089
5,279
(3,190)

8,578,614
1,381,520
24,587
7,143,452
110,055
(81,000)
2,416
2,416
-

(Note 15)

16,933,529

8,581,030

(Note 16)

9,538
7,181,161
6,196,467
872,188
109,999
2,507
1,648,536
2,262
294,876

150,472
2,611
2,611
2,300,000
318,846
-

9,136,373

2,771,929

18,644
18,644
66,156
64,280
28,786
5,203
12,667
2,357
11,432
3,835
-

33,882
157,580
40,718
13,768
3,579
615
6,293
91,434
1,173

149,080

191,462

26,218,982

11,544,421

(Note 17.1)
(Note 17.2)
(Notes 17, 18)
and 18)
(Note
17.3)

(Note 17)
(Note 19)
(Note 17.1)

Total non-current liabilities
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Interest payable, bonds and other securities
Current payables to Group companies, associates and jointly
controlled
entities
Trade
and other
payables
Payable to suppliers
Payable to suppliers – Group companies and associates
Accounts payable
Remuneration payable
Other accounts payable to public authorities
Customer advances
Deposits received as collateral
Other

31.12.2014

(Note 17)
(Note 17)

The accompanying Notes 1 to 26 and appendices are an integral part of the balance sheet at 31 December 2014.
(*) The figures at 31 December 2013 are presented for comparison purposes only.
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CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, SAU
INCOME STATEMENTS FOR THE
YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 AND 2013

Thousands of euros
Notes

2014

2013(*)

A) CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Revenue

(Note 20.a)

Return on equity investments

461,264

713,969

512,082

432,407

Changes in fair value of financial instruments

(104,161)

(2,127)

Gains on disposal of equity instruments (net)

13,139

244,434

Real-estate sales and property leases

36,884

34,650

3,320

4,605

In-house work on non-current assets

-

101,548

Inventories included in investment property

-

101,548

(34,849)

(107,438)

(12,186)

(107,438)

(22,663)

-

Services

Procurements
Purchases of land, developments in progress and completed
developments
Impairment of land, developments in progress and completed
developments
Other operating income
Personnel expenses
Other operating expenses
External services

26

362

(Note 20.b)

(13,122)

(8,555)

(Note 20.c)

(75,974)

(44,371)

(58,978)

(26,679)

(16,011)

(11,987)

(985)

(5,705)

(11,244)

(10,648)

1,000

1,058

(39,192)

(583,556)

(49,699)

(552,114)

Taxes other than income tax
Losses on, impairment of and changes in allowances for trade
receivables
Depreciation and amortisation (Notes 5, 6 and 7)
Surplus provisions
Impairment and losses on disposal of non-current assets

(Note 20.e)

Impairment and other losses
Gains/(Losses) on disposal and other
Impairment and other losses on financial instruments

(Note 20.f)

Other gains
NET OPERATING INCOME/(LOSS)

10,507

(31,442)

(51,259)

(87,172)

4,082

743

240,732

(24,060)
62,078

Finance income

(Note 20.g)

7,310

Finance costs

(Note 20.h)

(390,438)

(102,925)

(Note 20.i)

246,568

-

(136,560)

(40,847)

104,172

(64,907)

Impairment losses and gains/(losses) on disposal of financial instruments
NET FINANCE EXPENSE
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX
Income tax
PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

(Note 19)

242,169

174,962

346,341

110,055

-

-

346,341

110,055

The accompanying Notes 1 to 26 and appendices are an integral part of the income statement for the year ended 31 December 2014.
(*) The figures for 2013 are presented for comparison purposes only.
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CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, SAU
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 AND 2013
A) STATEMENTS OF RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE

Thousands of euros
Notes
A)

PROFIT AS PER INCOME STATEMENT

B)

INCOME AND EXPENSE RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN EQUITY

P
C)

2014

2013(*)
346,341
3,005

110,055
(8,895)
(4,549)

I.

Arising from revaluation of financial instruments

(Note 15.e)

8,850

(6,499)

II.

Arising from cash flow hedges

(Note 15.e)

(4,557)

-

III.

Grants, donations and legacies received

-

-

IV.

Arising from actuarial gains and losses and other adjustments

V.

Tax effect

TRANSFERS TO PROFIT OR LOSS
VI.

Arising from revaluation of financial instruments

VII.

Arising from cash flow hedges

VIII.
VIII.
IX.

Grants, donations and bequests received

-

-

(Note 15.e)

(1,288)

1,950

(Note 15.e)

(3,332)

(4,346)

(4,760)

(6,208)

-

-

Tax effect

TOTAL RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE

-

-

1,428

1,862

346,014

101,160

The accompanying Notes 1 to 26 and appendices are an integral part of the statement of recognised income and expense for the year ended 31
December 2014.
(*) The figures for 2013 are presented for comparison purposes only.
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CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, SAU
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 AND 2013
B) STATEMENTS OF TOTAL CHANGES IN EQUITY

Thousands of euros
Retained
Share
Capital
Balance at 31 December 2012
I. Total recognised income and expense

premium

Reserves

Other

Profit/(loss)

earnings

shareholder

for the

Interim

Shareholders’

Valuation

Total

/losses

contributions

year

dividend

equity

adjustments

equity

3,453,800

33,500

(18,243)

(1,189,410)

(57,959)

(815,581)

-

1,406,107

-

1,406,107

-

-

-

-

-

110,055

(81,000)

29,055

(8,895)

20,160

-

-

7,727,452

-

-

-

-

7,727,452

11,311

7,738,763

(2,072,280)

(33,500)

42,830

2,004,991

57,959

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(584,000)

-

-

-

-

(584,000)

-

(584,000)

-

-

-

(815,581)

-

815,581

-

-

-

-

1,381,520

-

7,168,039

-

-

110,055

(81,000)

8,578,614

2,416

8,581,030

346,341

(75,000)

271,341

(327)

271,014

8,064,685

-

8,064,685

II. Transactions with shareholders
Increase in equity resulting from merger (Note 15)
Capital reduction
Distribution of reserves
III. Other changes in equity
Balance at 31 December 2013
I. Total recognised income and expense
II. Transactions with shareholders
Increase in equity resulting from transactions with Group
companies (Notes 1 and 2)

452,646

2,641,125

Other transactions with shareholders

-

III. Other changes in equity

1,834,166

Balance at 31 December 2014

4,970,914

-

-

-

-

-

-

16,800

-

16,800

-

16,800

-

29,055

-

-

(110,055)

81,000

-

-

-

2,641,125

12,168,008

-

16,800

346,341

(75,000)

16,931,440

2,089

16,933,529

The accompanying Notes 1 to 26 and appendices are an integral part of the statement of total changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2014.
(*) The figures for 2013 and 2012 are presented for comparison purposes only.
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CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, SAU
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 AND 2013
Thousands of euros
2013(*)
437,266
606,966
104,172
(64,907)
(155,913)
52,156
11,244
10,648
123,621
552,114
4,229
91,819
(10,507)
31,442
(13,139)
(244,434)
104,161
2,127
(512,082)
(432,407)
(7,310)
(62,078)
390,438
102,925
(246,568)
(162,264)
76,215
12,185
5,890
379
3,579
(179,726)
74,635
4,898
(7,889)
820,971
373,802
(314,330)
(109,914)
516,468
438,418
5,505
7,964
531,057
81,876
37,334
395
115,437
396,245
(495,130)
(255,116)
(746)
(1,128)
(3,909)
(9,256)
(259,675)
(210,836)
(224,794)
(1,436)
(33,893)
(4,570)
(3)
610,567
651,361
16,559
6,370
535,733
542,999
14,997
8,042
43,278
93,950
(467,180)
(760,261)
(75,000)
(665,000)
(75,000)
(81,000)
(584,000)
(392,180)
(95,261)
2,509,757
1,220,000
991,770
871,430
646,557
1,220,000
(2,901,937)
(1,315,261)
(2,550,000)
(351,937)
(1,315,261)
255,223
73,250
207,949
5,150
61,025
129,549
524,197
207,949

2014
A) Cash flows from operating activities
1. Profit/(Loss) before tax
2. Adjustment for:
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment losses
Changes in provisions
Net gains/(losses) on derecognition and disposal of non-current assets
Gains/(losses) on disposal of financial instruments (net)
Change in the fair value of financial instruments
Return on equity investments
Finance income
Finance costs
Impairment losses and gains/(losses) on disposal of financial instruments
3. Changes in working capital
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Current liabilities
Other assets and liabilities
4. Other cash flows from operating activities
Interest paid
Dividends received
Interest received
Collections on cancellation of financial instruments
Income tax recovered
Other payments and collections
B) Cash flows from investing activities
Payments (-)
Intangible assets and property and equipment
Investment property
Group companies and associates
Available-for-sale financial assets
Non-current assets held for sale
Other financial assets
Proceeds (+)
Investment property
Group companies, jointly controlled entities and associates
Available-for-sale financial assets
Non-current assets held for sale
C) Cash flows used in financing activities
Dividends and returns on other equity instruments paid
Interim dividend for current year
Distribution of reserves
Proceeds and payments relating to financial liability instruments
a) Emissions:
Bonds and other marketable debt securities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Borrowings from Group companies and associates
b) Repayments and redemptions:
Bonds and other marketable debt securities
Borrowings from Group companies and associates
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at 1 January
Business unit (Note 2)
Cash at 31 December

The accompanying Notes 1 to 26 and appendices are an integral part of the statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December
2014.
(*) The figures for 2013 are presented for comparison purposes only.
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Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU
Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014
1

Corporate information

Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU (the Company or Criteria), formerly Servihabitat XXI, SAU (and before that, Gestora
de Microfinances, SAU) was incorporated on 16 December 2003. On 25 July 2007, the resolutions taken by the
Board of Directors on 16 July 2007 were placed on public record, changing the company name from Gestora de
Microfinances, SAU to Servihabitat XXI, SAU On 18 December 2013, as a result of the merger of Servihabitat
XXI, SAU (absorbing company) and Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU (absorbed company), Servihabitat XXI, SAU
adopted the name Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU
Its registered office is at Avenida Diagonal 621-629, Barcelona.
According to Article 2 of its by-laws, the corporate purpose of Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU consists of the
following activities:
a)

buying, selling and administering securities and other holdings in quoted or non-quoted companies;

b) administering and managing companies as well as equity securities of entities resident or nonresident in Spain;
c)

providing financial, tax, technical, stock market and any other sort of consultancy and advisory
services;

d) consultancy, advisory and development services for industrial, commercial, urban, agricultural and
any other sort of enterprise;
e)

construction, refurbishment, maintenance and technical assistance, acquisition, administration,
management, development, sale and lease, except under finance lease, of all manner of real property
owned by Criteria itself or by others;

f)

the marketing of real property, for its own account or for the account of third parties, in the broadest
terms and by all possible means, including the Internet through the management and use of websites.

The Company may also invest in other companies and may intervene in their incorporation, partner with them
or take any sort of interest in them.
Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU forms part of the Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona ”la Caixa” Banking
Foundation Group (formerly the Caja de Ahorros y Pensiones de Barcelona Group), the Parent of which is the
Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation (formerly Caja de Ahorros y Pensiones
de Barcelona ”la Caixa”). Within the framework of the entry into force of Law 26/2013, of 27 December, on
savings banks and banking foundations, the Caja de Ahorros y Pensiones de Barcelona, ”la Caixa”, General
Assembly held on 22 May 2014 approved a motion to transform ”la Caixa” into a banking foundation (the ”la
Caixa” Banking Foundation) effective 16 June 2014 following its registration under no. 1658 in the Foundations
Registry of the Spanish Ministry of Education, Culture and Sport. As a result, ”la Caixa” has curtailed its indirect
exercise of financial activity and lost its status as a credit institution. The General Assembly also approved the
Group’s restructuring with:
 The dissolution and liquidation of the former the ”la Caixa” Foundation and passing its assets and wealth to
the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation; and
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 The transfer, which took place in the second half of 2014, to Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU – wholly owned by
the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation – of the assets and liabilities not assigned to welfare projects (basically,
the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation’s holding in CaixaBank, and of the debt instruments of which it was the
issuer). As a result, the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation indirectly holds its ownership interest in CaixaBank
through Criteria CaixaHolding.
At 31 December 2014, the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation was the Sole Shareholder of Criteria CaixaHolding,
whereby the Company is classified as a solely owned (see Note 15.f).
The ”la Caixa” Group consolidated financial statements for 2013 were authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors of ”la Caixa” at the meeting held on 27 February 2014, and approved by the General Assembly on 22
May 2014. On approval, they were filed with the Barcelona Companies Registry.
Criteria is the Parent of a group of subsidiaries and, pursuant to prevailing legislation, is required to prepare
separate consolidated financial statements. The accompanying financial statements therefore do not reflect
the financial position of the group headed by Criteria. These figures are presented in the consolidated financial
statements prepared by the Directors on 26 February 2015, in conjunction with the individual financial
statements, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
European Union, the headline financials of which at 31 December 2014 were as follows:
Millions of euros
Consolidated equity
Profit/(Loss) for the year attributable to the Group
Total consolidated assets

2014
28,291
622
349,553

2013
9,192
472
13,091

Criteria has a BBB-, outlook positive from Fitch Ratings. Fitch Ratings considers that Criteria is a banking
holding company and therefore, linking Criteria’s rating to that of CaixaBank, gives it a rating one notch below
the bank. This agency also has a positive view of Criteria’s holdings in major quoted companies (CaixaBank, Gas
Natural, Abertis Infraestructuras, Suez Environnement), its ability to generate recurring cash flow from its
assets, and the fact that no significant payables fall due until 2017.
The following transactions that were significant for the Company were carried out during 2014:
Spin-off to Criteria of the business activities not assigned to welfare projects of ”la Caixa” Banking
Foundation
In order to be able to adequately carry on the principal activities of the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation, a clear
distinction must be drawn between management of the welfare projects and the economic activities not
associated with welfare activities. To ensure that this differentiation is effective, the ”la Caixa” Banking
Foundation resolved to spin off to Criteria (at the first meeting of its Board of Trustees on 26 June 2014),
among other assets and liabilities, the ownership interest of ”la Caixa” in CaixaBank and the debt instruments
of which ”la Caixa” is the issuer (together with the hedging derivatives arranged by ”la Caixa” and the valuation
adjustments associated with those debt instruments). This transaction was also approved by the Board of
Directors of Criteria on 26 June 2014. The Sole Shareholder of Criteria, the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation,
approved the draft terms of division on 4 September 2014.
As a result of the spin-off, the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation will manage directly the social welfare projects
that have historically characterised ”la Caixa”, and the other activities not associated with welfare projects will
be managed through a single entity, Criteria, which will hold both the ownership interests of the ”la Caixa”
Group in industries other than the financial services industry and ”la Caixa”’s current ownership interest in
CaixaBank and the debt instruments of which ”la Caixa” is the issuer.
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The spin-off was entered in the Barcelona Companies’ Registry on 14 October 2014. Under the accounting
legislation applicable to mergers, spin-offs and contributions of lines of business between entities in the same
group, the transaction has been retrospectively effective for accounting purposes from 1 January 2014.
The assets and liabilities included in the scope of the spin-off at 1 January 2014 had carrying amounts in the
separate accounting records the of ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation of EUR 11,289,223 thousand and EUR
8,408,233 thousand, respectively. Accordingly, the net carrying amount of the spun-off assets and liabilities at
1 January 2014 was EUR 2,880,990 thousand. The breakdown is as follows:
Spun-off assets and liabilities
Assets
(Thousands of euros)
Loans and receivables
Loans and advances to credit institutions
Loans and advances to customers
Hedging derivatives
Investments
Tax assets
Other assets
Total

1,011,166
60,970
950,196
484,424
9,713,597
2,016
78,020
11,289,223

Liabilities
(Thousands of euros)
Financial liabilities held for trading
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Deposits from credit institutions
Marketable debt securities
Cost
Valuation adjustments
Subordinated liabilities
Cost
Valuation adjustments
Other financial liabilities
Hedging derivatives
Provisions
Other liabilities

6,375
8,259,392
60,970
745,768
800,000
(54,232)
7,441,573
7,005,499
436,074
11,081
34,081
7,116
101,269

Total

8,408,233

Net assets spun off to Criteria CaixaHolding

2,880,990

The assets and liabilities spun off include a ”la Caixa” issue of bonds convertible into CaixaBank shares
amounting to EUR 750,000 thousand, subject to UK law and maturing in 2017 (the «UK Issue»). Pursuant to
the terms and conditions of the issue and under UK law, in order for the issue to be spun off to Criteria, the
spin-off first required prior approval at a general meeting of bondholders, which was given on 13 October
2014.
The transfer of the assets and liabilities spun off constitutes a non-monetary contribution, which will serve as
the balancing items to the corresponding capital increase. Its valuation was verified by an independent valuer
designated by the Companies’ Registry, for the purposes of Article 67 of the consolidated text of the Spanish
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Corporate Enterprises Act. The capital increase consisted of 10,890,584 new shares of Criteria owned by the
”la Caixa” Banking Foundation with a par value of EUR 435,623 thousand and a share premium of EUR
2,445,367 thousand.
In addition, on applying the Spanish General Chart of Accounts Measurement and Recognition Standard No.
21, the assets and liabilities contributed have been valued at the amount stated in the ”la Caixa” Group’s
consolidated annual financial statements, increasing reserves by EUR 4,970,914 thousand (see Notes 2 and
15).
The following chart illustrates the reorganisation of the ”la Caixa” Group:

Contribution of Foment Immobiliari Assequible, SAU
In the meeting of the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation’s Board of Trustees on 4 September 2014 and the meeting
of Criteria CaixaHolding’s Board of Directors on 18 September 2014, it was proposed that the ”la Caixa”
Banking Foundation’s ownership interest in Foment Immobiliari Assequible, SAU be contributed to Criteria.
The aim of this contribution is to group all the real estate assets being commercially exploited and debt related
thereto within the current scope of ”la Caixa” and Criteria under one owner, thereby unlocking synergies.
On 4 December 2014, the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation’s Board of Trustees agreed to increase Criteria’s
capital by EUR 17,022 thousand, through the issue and circulation of 425,561 new shares with a par value of
EUR 40 each, along with a share premium of EUR 195,758 thousand. The new shares were fully subscribed and
paid by the Sole Shareholder, the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation, through the non-monetary contribution of
the total capital of Foment Immobiliari Assequible, SAU it owned, which was has been verified by an
independent expert appointed by the Companies’ Registry, pursuant to Article 67 of the consolidated text of
the Spanish Corporate Enterprises Act (see Note 9.1).
The non-monetary contribution was entered in the Barcelona Companies’ Registry with effect from 9
December 2014.
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The following transactions were carried out during 2013:
Spin-off of the real estate management line of business
On 19 February 2013, the plan for the spin-off of the Company’s real estate management line of business was
approved, and the assets and liabilities of this business were contributed to Servihabitat Gestión Inmobiliaria,
SLU. The spin-off deed was entered in the Companies’ Registry on 27 March 2013.
Sale of Servihabitat Gestión Inmobiliaria, SLU
On 26 September 2013, it was announced that the Boards of Directors of ”la Caixa”, CaixaBank, SA,
Servihabitat XXI (the absorbing company) and Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU (the absorbed company) had
approved the sale, by the Company, of all the shares of Servihabitat Gestión Inmobiliaria, SLU owned by it to
CaixaBank, SA. This transaction was executed in a public deed on 31 October 2013 (see Note 9.1).
Merger of Servihabitat XXI (now Criteria) and Criteria CaixaHolding
On 14 November 2013, the sole shareholders of Servihabitat XXI, SAU and Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU, agreed
to carry out a merger under the terms stipulated in articles 22 et al, governing structural changes in mercantile
companies. The transaction was carried out through the absorption of Criteria (absorbed company) by
Servihabitat XXI (absorbing company). The absorbed company was extinguished by dissolution without
liquidation and block transfer of its total net assets to Servihabitat XXI, which acquired the rights and
obligations of Criteria through universal succession. The purpose of the merger was to simplify the part of the
”la Caixa” Group’s legal structure in which both Criteria and Servihabitat XXI were included in order to improve
the efficiency of the management and business activities of the two companies, since, as a result of the
transfer of the real estate management business, the business activities of the two companies were now
similar, as they both engaged mainly in the ownership of assets, equity investments in various companies in
the case of Criteria, and real estate assets in the case of Servihabitat XXI.
The merger was executed in a public deed on 17 December 2013, and filed in the Barcelona Companies’
Registry on 18 December 2013. The merger date for accounting purposes was 1 January 2013.
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2

Basis of presentation

a) Regulatory framework for financial reporting applicable to the Company and fair presentation
The accompanying financial statements, which were formally prepared by the directors from the Company’s
accounting records, are presented in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable
to the Company, which consists of:
a)

The Spanish Commercial Code, the Spanish Law on structural changes to companies, and all other
Spanish corporate law.;

b)

The Spanish General Chart of Accounts (Plan General Contable) approved by Royal Decree
1514/2007, of 16 November, and its industry applications;

c)

The mandatory rules approved by the Spanish Accounting and Audit Institute in order to implement
the Spanish General Chart of Accounts and the relevant secondary legislation; and

d)

All other applicable Spanish accounting legislation.

The accompanying financial statements, which were prepared from the Company’s accounting records, are
presented in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the Company and, in
particular, with the accounting principles and rules contained therein and, accordingly, present fairly the
Company’s equity, financial position, results of operations and cash flows for 2014.
These financial statements, which were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors at its meeting held on 26
February 2015, will be submitted for approval by the Sole Shareholder, and it is considered that they will be
approved without any changes.
The financial statements for 2013 were approved by the Sole Shareholder on 24 April 2014.
The ordinary activities of the Company, understood to be those carried out by the Company regularly and from
which revenue was earned on a regular basis, corresponds to that of a holding company. Therefore, the
Company’s directors took into account the ruling published in Official Gazette nº. 79 (published on 28 July
2009) of the Spanish Accounting and Audit Institute (ICAC) in relation to the accounting classification in
separate financial statements of the income and expenses of holding companies and to the determination of
the revenue of entities of this nature.
Under this ruling, all the income obtained by a company as a result of its holding activities will constitute
«Revenue» provided that these activities are considered to be ordinary activities. Therefore, both dividends
and income obtained from the disposal of the investments, their derecognition or changes in their fair value
constitute, on the basis of the foregoing, «Revenue».
Therefore and based on the premise that the Company’s ordinary activities include the strategic and long-term
ownership of equity investments in other companies, certain reclassifications were made in the presentation
of the Company’s income statement.
Details of the line items forming an integral part of «Revenue» are as follows:
-

Services: these include the services rendered to other companies;

-

Return on equity investments: this includes dividends received as a result of the ownership of equity
investments in other companies;

-

Change in fair value of financial instruments; and
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-

Gains/(losses) on disposal of financial instruments (net)

Impairments and losses on financial instruments as well as exchange differences, where applicable, are
included in the Company’s operating income or loss.
Accordingly, at 31 December 2014 «Inventories» includes solely the land and property developments in
progress held by the Company and «Non-current assets held for sale» includes the other properties recovered
from lending transactions which, at 31 December 2014, the Company expects to recover through sale for
which a plan has been drawn up. The other property assets arising from lending transactions that are rented or
are included in the Company’s operating assets are classified as «Investment property» and «Property and
equipment», respectively.
Pursuant to the ruling of the ICAC, «Net finance income/(expense)» is introduced, in which the finance income
earned and finance costs incurred during the year are included. The finance income earned on loans granted
to subsidiaries is retained under «Net finance income/(expense)», since financing to subsidiaries is not a part
of the Company’s ordinary activity.
b) Non-obligatory accounting principles applied
The directors formally prepared these financial statements taking into account all the obligatory accounting
principles and standards with a significant effect hereon. All obligatory accounting principles were applied. No
non-obligatory accounting principles were applied.
c)

Comparison of information

The information contained in these notes to the financial statements at 31 December 2013 is presented for
comparison purposes with that relating to 31 December 2014.
However, the spin-off mentioned in Note 1 and described hereon must be taken into account when comparing
the information for 2014 with that for 2013.
Spin-off to Criteria of the business activities not assigned to welfare projects of ”la Caixa” Banking
Foundation
The restructuring of the principal activities of the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation resulted in a change in the
composition of Criteria’s assets and liabilities.
As a consequence of the contribution of the assets and liabilities not assigned to welfare projects (basically,
the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation’s holding in CaixaBank, and the debt instruments of which it was the issuer),
and on applying the Spanish General Chart of Accounts Measurement and Recognition Standard No. 21, the
assets and liabilities contributed have been valued at the amount stated in the ”la Caixa” Group’s consolidated
annual financial statements, as they constitute a business. The positive difference of EUR 4,970,914 thousand
generated on applying the aforementioned criterion, in accordance with the said accounting standard, is
recognised under reserves. As per the aforesaid standard, the transaction was recognised for accounting
purposes on 1 January 2014.
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Details of the figures included in Criteria’s accounting records are as follows:

ASSETS

Intangible assets
Property and equipment
Investment property
Non-current investments in Group companies,
jointly controlled entities and associates
Investments in Group companies
Investments in jointly controlled entities and
associates
Other financial assets
Non-current financial assets
Equity instruments
Derivatives
Other non-current financial liabilities
Deferred tax assets
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Non-current assets held for sale
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables for sales and services
Receivable from Group companies and
associates
Sundry accounts receivable
Employee receivables
Other accounts receivable from public
authorities
Current investments in Group companies and
associates
Loans to companies
Current financial assets
Dividends receivable
Loans to companies
Other financial assets
Current accruals
Cash and cash equivalents
CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS

Notes

(5)
(6)
(7)
(9)

31
December
2013

Thousands of euros
Impact of spin-off
Amounts in
consolidated
Assets and
financial
liabilities
statements
contributed
and
adjustments

1 January
2014

Total

301
1,750
596,509

-

-

-

301
1,750
596,509

8,061,409
453,977

10,663,597
9,713,597

3,991,023
4,941,023

14,654,620
14,654,620

22,716,029
15,108,597

6,726,938
880,494
16,030
14,065
1,965
1,005,072
9,681,071
1,242,812
187,438
88,972
386

950,000
484,424
484,424
2,016
11,150,037
2,940
2,674

(950,000)
3,991,023
-

484,424
484,424
2,016
15,141,060
2,940
2,674

6,726,938
880,494
500,454
14,065
484,424
1,965
1,007,088
24,822,131
1,242,812
187,438
91,912
3,060

(21)

81,464
17
-

266
-

-

266
-

81,464
283
-

(19)

7,105

-

-

-

7,105

(9.3)

315
315
135,864
135,762
1
101
207,949
1,863,350
11,544,421

184
184
75,037
61,025
139,186
11,289,223

3,991,023

184
184
75,037
61,025
139,186
15,280,246

315
315
136,048
135,762
185
101
75,037
268,974
2,002,536
26,824,667

(9.1)
(9.2)
(9.3)
(10)
(10.1)
(18)
(19)
(11)
(12)

(13)

(14)
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Thousands of euros
Impact of spin-off

LIABILITIES

Notes

EQUITY
Shareholders’ equity
Issued share capital
Share premium
Reserves
Profit for the year
(Interim dividend paid during the year)
Valuation adjustments
Available-for-sale financial assets
EQUITY
Non-current provisions
Non-current payables
Bonds and other marketable debt securities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Derivatives
Other financial liabilities
Non-current payables to Group companies and
associates
Deferred tax liabilities
Non-current accruals

(15)
(16)
(17.1)
(17.2)
(18)
(17.3)
(17)
(19)

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Bonds and other marketable debt securities
Derivatives
Current payables to Group companies, jointly
controlled entities and associates
Trade and other payables
Payable to suppliers
Payable to suppliers – Group companies and
associates
Accounts payable
Remuneration payable
Other accounts payable to public authorities
Customer advances
Deposits received as collateral
Other
CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Assets and
liabilities
contributed

Amounts in
consolidated
financial
statements
and
adjustments

8,578,614
1,381,520
7,168,039
110,055
(81,000)
2,416
2,416

2,880,990
435,623
2,445,367
-

4,970,914
4,970,914
-

7,851,904
435,623
2,445,367
4,970,914
-

16,430,518
1,817,143
2,445,367
12,138,953
110,055
(81,000)
2,416
2,416

8,581,030
150,472
2,611
2,611

2,880,990
7,116
8,134,744
8,128,369
6,375

4,970,914
-

7,851,904
7,116
8,134,744
8,128,369
6,375

16,432,934
157,588
8,137,355
8,128,369
6,375

-

-

-

2,611

2,300,000
318,846
-

34,081
58,433
8,234,374

(950,000)
12,811
(937,189)

(915,919)
12,811
58,433
7,297,185

1,384,081
331,657
58,433
10,069,114

-

58,979

-

58,979

58,979

58,979
-

-

58,979
-

58,979
-

33,882
157,580
40,718

114,880
-

(42,702)
-

72,178
-

33,882
229,758
40,718

13,768
3,579
615
6,293
91,434
1,173

237
10,978
60,963
42,702
173,859

(42,702)
(42,702)

237
10,978
60,963
131,157

13,768
3,816
11,593
6,293
152,397
1,173
322,619

11,289,223

3,991,023

15,280,246

26,824,667

31
December
2013

2,771,929
(17.1)
(18)

(21)

(19)
(9.2)

191,462
11,544,421

Total
impact of
spin-off

1 January
2014

The effects of the measurement of the assets and liabilities at the amounts that would correspond to them in
the consolidated financial statements of the ”la Caixa” Group relate basically to the undistributed profits
generated from the ownership interest in CaixaBank until 31 December 2013. The balances corresponding to
the loans the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation granted to Criteria CaixaHolding that were included in the spunoff assets and liabilities have been eliminated.
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The transaction was subject to the special tax neutrality regime established in Section VIII of Part VII of the
Revised Corporate Income Tax Act, as approved by Royal Decree-Law 4/2004, of 5 March.
d) Use of judgements and estimates
In preparing the accompanying financial statements estimates were made by the Company’s directors in order
to measure certain of the assets, liabilities, income, expenses and obligations reported herein. These estimates
relate primarily to:
-

The measurement of investments in Group companies, jointly controlled entities and associates (Note 9);

-

Impairment losses on investment property, inventories and non-current assets held for sale (see Notes
4.c, 4.g and 4.h);

-

The calculation of provisions and contingent liabilities (see Note 16);

-

The recognition of tax assets and the recoverability thereof (see Note 19);

-

The useful life of and impairment losses on other intangible assets and property and equipment (see
Notes 5 and 6); and

-

The market value of some financial instruments (see Notes 10 and 13).

The respective estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis; the effects of the reviews of the
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which they are made, if these only affect that period, or
in the period of the review and in future periods. Although these estimates were made on the basis of the best
information available at 2014 year-end, events that take place in the future might make it necessary to change
these estimates (upwards or downwards) in coming years. Such revisions would, if applicable, be made
prospectively.
e)

Grouping of headings

Certain items in the balance sheet, income statement, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash
flows are grouped together to facilitate their understanding; however, whenever the amounts involved are
material, the information is broken down in the related notes to the financial statements.
f)

Changes in accounting policies

There were no significant changes in accounting policies in 2014 with respect to those applied in the
preparation of the information for 2013.
g)

Correction of errors

In preparing the accompanying financial statements no significant errors were detected that would have made
it necessary to restate the amounts included in the financial statements for 2013.
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3

Appropriation of profit

The proposed appropriation of profit in 2014 presented by the directors of Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU and the
appropriation of profit in 2013 are as follows:
Thousands of euros
2014
2013
Distribution basis:
Profit

346,341

110,055

Appropriation:
Legal reserve
Voluntary reserve
Dividends
Total

34,634
161,707
150,000
346,341

11,006
18,049
81,000
110,055

On 18 December 2014, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the distribution of an interim dividend
against 2014 profits, in the amount of EUR 75,000 thousand, which was paid to ”la Caixa” on 24 December
2014.
The Board of Directors plans to submit a proposal to pay a final dividend of a maximum EUR 75,000 thousand
against 2014 earnings for approval by the Sole Shareholder.
The provisional accounting statement prepared in accordance with legal requirements to evidence the
existence of sufficient liquidity for the distribution of the aforementioned interim dividend is as follows:

(Thousands of euros)
Date of resolution to pay interim dividend
Applicable balance sheet date
Profit from 1 January 2014
Appropriation to legal reserve
Maximum amount distributable
Proposed interim dividend
Remainder
Amounts available in demand deposits at 30.11.2014
Projected changes in cash from 1.12.2014 to 31.12.2015
Undrawn credit facility
Proposed interim dividend
Remaining liquidity
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18.12.2014
30.11.2014
314,230
(31,423)
282,807
(75,000)
207,807
290,136
(163,000)
750,000
(75,000)
802,136

Accounting policies and measurement bases

The principal accounting policies and measurement bases used in the preparation of the financial statements
for 2014, in accordance with the Spanish National Chart of Accounts in force, were as follows:
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a)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost and include, basically, the cost of developing new computer
software, the useful life of which is estimated to be three years. They are subsequently reduced by any
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Whenever there are indications of impairment, the Company tests the intangible assets for impairment to
determine whether the recoverable amount of the assets has been reduced to below their carrying amount.
The recoverable amount is calculated as the greater of fair value at the time less cost of sale and value in use.
Whenever possible, impairment calculations are conducted asset by asset, in an individualised manner.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised as income.
b)

Property and equipment

Property for own use, furniture and office equipment are recognised at cost less any accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses.
Historical cost includes the expenses directly attributable to the acquisition of property.
Subsequent costs are included in the carrying amount of the asset or are recognised as a separate asset only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. Other repair and maintenance expenses are recognised in the
income statement for the year in which they are incurred.
The Company depreciates its property and equipment for own use and other items of property and equipment
on a straight-line basis at annual rates based on the following years of estimated useful life:
Years of
estimated
useful life
Constructions:
Buildings
Facilities
Electronic equipment
Other

30 - 50
5 - 12.5
2-3
4 - 10

The gains or losses arising on the sale or derecognition of an asset are calculated as the difference between its
carrying amount and its selling price, and are recognised under «Impairment and gains/(losses) on disposal
of non-current assets» in the income statement.
c)

Investment property

«Investment property» in the balance sheet reflects the values of the land, buildings and other structures held
either to earn rentals or gains from the sale thereof as a result of future increases in their respective market
prices.
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Investment property is recognised at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses.
The costs of expansion, modernisation or improvements leading to increased productivity, capacity or
efficiency or to a lengthening of the useful lives of the assets are recognised as additions to the cost of the
related assets , whereas upkeep and maintenance expenses are charged to the income statement for the year
in which they are incurred.
In relation to projects in progress, only the costs of construction and borrowing costs are capitalised, provided
that they had been incurred before the assets became ready for their intended use and the duration of the
construction work exceeded one year.
The Company did not capitalise any borrowing costs in 2014 or 2013. No borrowing costs had been capitalised
at year end.
Investment property under construction is transferred to «Investment property» when the assets become
ready for use.
The Company depreciates its investment property on a straight-line basis at annual rates based on the
following years of estimated useful life:
Years of
estimated
useful life
Constructions:
Buildings
Facilities

50
12.5

Income accrued in 2014 and 2013 in connection with the rental of such investment property stood at EUR
21,432 thousand and EUR 26,667 thousand (Note 20.a) and it is recognised under «Revenue» on the
accompanying income statement.
Furthermore, most of the repair and maintenance expenses incurred by the Company as a result of the
operation of its assets are passed on to the corresponding lessees of the properties (see Note 4.p).
The gains or losses arising on the sale or derecognition of an asset are calculated as the difference between its
carrying amount and its selling price, and are recognised under «Impairment and gains/(losses) on disposal of
non-current assets» in the income statement.
Impairment of investment property and tangible assets
Periodically, the Company compares the carrying amount of the various items of its investment property with
their recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell. In order to
determine the recoverable amount, the directors considered mainly the appraisals undertaken by independent
valuers and whether or not the property was being leased at year end. Therefore, at the end of each period,
the fair value reflects the market conditions of the items of investment property at that date.
When the aforementioned recoverable amount of the asset is less than its carrying amount, the Company
recognises the appropriate impairment loss with a charge to the income statement.
Similarly, when there are indications of a recovery in the value of the assets, a reversal of the impairment loss
recorded in prior periods is recognised and the depreciation charge for the asset in future periods is adjusted.
In no circumstances may the reversal of an impairment loss on an asset raise its carrying amount above that
which it would have had no impairment losses had been recognised in prior years.
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d)

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards inherent in the asset to the lessee are considered
finance leases. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
At 31 December 2014, all the leases held by the Company were classified as operating leases.
Operating leases
Lease income and expenses from operating leases are recognised in income on an accrual basis.
In addition, the acquisition cost of a leased asset is classified in the balance sheet as if it were owned,
increased for directly attributable contract expenses, which are subsequently expensed throughout the life of
the lease arrangement following the same criteria used to recognise lease income.
Any collection or payment that might be made when arranging an operating lease will be treated as a prepaid
lease collection or payment, which will be taken to profit or loss over the lease term in accordance with the
time pattern in which the benefits of the leased asset are provided or received.
e)

Investments in Group companies, jointly controlled entities and associates

Group companies are defined as companies with which the Company constitutes a decision-making unit
because it owns directly or indirectly more than 50% of the voting power, or, even if this percentage is lower,
because there are agreements with other shareholders of these companies that give the Company the
majority of the voting power.
Jointly controlled entities include entities which are not subsidiaries and which are jointly controlled with other
shareholders under a contractual arrangement.
Associates are companies over which the Company exercises significant direct or indirect influence, but which
are not subsidiaries or jointly controlled entities. In the majority of cases, significant influence is understood to
exist when the Company holds 20% or more of the voting power of the investee. If it holds less than 20%,
significant influence is deemed to exist when the Company expressly states that it exercises such significant
influence and if any of the circumstances provided for in accounting legislation exists, such as: (i) the voting
rights corresponding to other shareholders are held; (ii) there is sufficient representation on the governing
bodies; or (iii) there are agreements among entities.
Equity investments in Group companies, jointly controlled entities and associates are initially measured at
cost, i.e. the fair value of the consideration paid plus directly attributable transaction costs. The value of any
preferential subscription rights acquired is also included in the initial measurement.
These investments are subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
These investments are assessed for impairment at least at the end of each reporting period and whenever
there is objective evidence that a carrying amount may not be recoverable. The impairment is calculated as
the difference between the carrying amount and recoverable amount, which is the higher of its current fair
value less costs to sell and the present value of the estimated cash flows from the investment. Unless there is
better evidence of recoverable value, account is taken of the equity of the investee, adjusted for unrealised
gains at the measurement date.
Impairment losses and any reversals are recognised as an expense or income, respectively, in the income
statement.
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Where an impairment loss reverses, the carrying amount of the investment is increased, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised.
f)

Financial instruments

The Company recognises a financial instrument in its balance sheet when it becomes a party to the contract or
legal transaction giving rise to it.
a.

Financial assets

Financial investments
The Company values its current and non-current financial investments as described below:
a)

Loans and receivables

These are financial assets arising from the sale of goods or the rendering of services in the ordinary course
of the Company’s business, or financial assets which, not having commercial substance, are not equity
instruments or derivatives, have fixed or determinable payments and are not traded in an active market.
The Company initially recognises financial assets included in this category at fair value, which is generally
the price of the transaction. Transactions maturing within twelve months where there is no contractual
interest rate, dividends receivable and capital calls on equity instruments expected to be received at short
term are measured at face value, since the effect of not discounting the cash flows is not material.
These financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost, and the accrued interest is recognised
in profit or loss using the effective interest method. At least once a year and whenever there is objective
evidence that a loan or receivable has become impaired the Company carries out an impairment test Based
on these tests, the Company recognises such impairment losses as might be required.
Impairment losses on these financial assets are measured as the difference between the carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows to which they will give rise, discounted at the
effective interest rate.
Impairment losses recognised and reversed are charged and credited, respectively, to the income
statement. Where an impairment loss reverses, the carrying amount of the receivable is increased, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised.
b)

Financial assets held for trading

These are assets acquired with the intention of selling them in the near term and assets that form part of a
portfolio for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking. This category
also includes financial derivatives that are not financial guarantees and that have not been designated as
hedging instruments.
These assets are measured at their fair value without deducting such costs to sell as might be incurred.
Changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss.
c)

Available-for-sale financial assets

The Company includes in this category financial assets that are not held-for-trading financial assets,
financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments, loans and
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receivables or investments in Group companies, jointly controlled entities and associates. At 31 December
2014, this category included mainly equity investments in quoted companies.
Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, of the consideration paid, plus
transaction costs.
Subsequently, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value and the gains and losses arising
from changes in fair value are recognised in equity until the asset is disposed of or it is determined that it
has become (permanently) impaired, at which time the cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in
equity are recognised in the net profit or loss for the year. In this regard, (permanent) impairment is
presumed to exist if the market value of the asset has fallen by more than 40% or if there has been a
prolonged fall in market value over a period of 18 months without the value having recovered.
At least at each reporting date the Company tests financial assets not measured at fair value through profit
or loss for impairment. Objective evidence of impairment is considered to exist when the recoverable
amount of the financial asset is lower than its carrying amount. When this occurs, the impairment loss is
recognised in the income statement.
If all or part of the impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the reversed amount is recognised in the
income statement for the period in which the reversal occurs (under «Valuation adjustments» in the
balance sheet in the case of equity instruments).
Cash and cash equivalents
The Company recognises under «Cash and cash equivalents» cash on hand and in bank accounts, shortterm deposits and other highly liquid investments that will mature within three months from the date on
which they were arranged.
Derecognition of financial instruments
The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire or the assets have been transferred and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset have been transferred, such as in the case of firm asset sales, factoring of
trade receivables in which the Company does not retain any credit or interest rate risk, sales of financial
assets under an agreement to repurchase them at fair value and the securitisation of financial assets in
which the transferor does not retain any subordinated debt, provide any kind of guarantee or assume any
other kind of risk.
However, the Company does not derecognise financial assets, and recognises a financial liability for an
amount equal to the consideration received, in transfers of financial assets in which substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership are retained, such as in the case of securities lending, bill discounting, withrecourse factoring, sale and repurchase transactions where the repurchase price is a fixed price or the sale
price plus a lender’s return, and asset securitisations in which the transferor retains subordinated loans , or
any other kind of guarantee that absorbs substantially all the expected losses.
b.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities include accounts payable by the Company that have arisen from the purchase of goods
or services in the normal course of the Company’s business and those which, not having commercial
substance, cannot be classed as derivative financial instruments.
Accounts payable are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, adjusted by the
directly attributable transaction costs. These liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost. The
borrowing costs incurred are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.
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The Company derecognises financial liabilities when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or
cancelled or expires.
c.

Derivatives and hedges

The Company uses financial derivatives as a financial risk management tool. When these transactions meet
certain requirements, they qualify for hedge accounting.
When the Company designates a transaction as a hedge, this is done at inception of the transaction or of
the instruments included in the hedge and the hedging relationship is documented in accordance with the
regulations in force. The hedge accounting documentation duly identifies the hedging instrument or
instruments, and the hedged item or forecast transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the
hedging instrument’s effectiveness will be assessed over its entire life taking into account the risk intended
to be hedged.
The Company applies hedge accounting for hedges that are highly effective. A hedge is considered to be
highly effective if, during its expected life, the changes in fair value or in the cash flows that are attributed
to the hedged risk are almost entirely offset by changes in the fair value or in the cash flows, as
appropriate, of the hedging instrument or instruments.
To measure the effectiveness of hedges, an analysis is performed to determine whether if, at the inception
of the hedge and during its life, it can be expected, prospectively, that the changes in fair value or cash
flows of the hedged item that are attributable to the hedged risk are nearly completely offset by changes in
the fair value or cash flows of the hedging instrument and, retrospectively, that the actual results of the
hedge are within a range of 80% to 125% of the results of the hedged item.
Hedging transactions performed are classified into two categories:
- Fair value hedges, which hedge the exposure to changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities or
unrecognised firm commitments, or an identified portion of such assets, liabilities or firm commitments,
that is attributable to a particular risk and could affect profit or loss.
- Cash flow hedges, which hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk
associated with a recognised financial asset or liability or with a highly probable forecast transaction and
could affect profit or loss.
In the specific case of financial instruments designated as hedged items or qualifying for hedge accounting,
gains and losses are recognised as follows:

- In fair value hedges, the gains or losses on the hedging instrument or on the hedged item for the portion
attributable to the hedged risk are recognised in the income statement.

- In cash flow hedges, the portion of the hedging instrument that qualifies as an effective hedge is
recognised temporarily in «Valuation adjustments – Cash flow hedges» in equity until the hedged
transactions occur, and are not recognised in the income statement until the gains or losses on the hedged
item are recognised in the income statement or until the date of maturity of the hedged item in certain
situations in which hedge accounting is discontinue. The gains or losses on the derivative are recognised
under the same heading of the income statement as gains or losses on the hedged item. The ineffective
portion of the gains or losses the hedging instrument are recognised directly under «Gains/(losses) on
financial assets and liabilities (net)» in the income statement.
The Company continues hedge accounting when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, when the hedge
no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, or it revokes the designation.
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d.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is a residual interest in the assets of the Company once all its liabilities have been
deducted.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised in equity at the amount received, net of issue
costs.
g)

Inventories

Inventories, consisting of land and property developments in progress are measured at acquisition or
construction cost.
The costs of construction include the direct and indirect expenses required for construction, together with the
borrowing costs incurred in financing the building work during the construction phase, provided that the work
takes longer than one year to complete.
The Company did not capitalise any borrowing costs in 2014 or 2013. No borrowing costs had been capitalised
at year end.
Prepayments made in connection with call options on properties are recognised as inventory prepayments and
it is assumed that expectations regarding the conditions enabling their exercise will be met.
The Company records inventory impairment provisions, as appropriate, when net realisable value is lower than
carrying value. For the purpose of determining the net realisable value, the Company’s directors considered
the fair value of the inventories obtained from appraisals performed by independent third-party valuers and
the Company’s intention to realise the assets in the short and medium term, for which purpose expectations
regarding the evolution of the Spanish property market in the short and medium term were taken into
account.
Therefore, at 31 December 2014 the impairment losses recognised reflected both the effects of the appraisals
conducted by independent third-party valuers and the other factors referred to above.
h)

Non-current assets held for sale

This heading basically includes assets or groups of assets, the carrying amount of which will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction, which is highly probable. Under this heading, the Company includes
tangible assets which were not intended for own use or which were not classified as investment property and
for which, in any case, there is an intention to sell.
If the assets remain in the balance sheet for a longer time than initially envisaged, the value of the assets is
reviewed to recognise any impairment losses arising from difficulties finding buyers or reasonable offers.
These assets or disposal groups are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less costs to
sell. Impairment losses arising after capitalisation of these assets are recognised under «Impairment and
gains/(losses) on disposal of non-current assets» in the income statement. If their value is subsequently
recovered, the amount may be recognised under the same heading in the income statement to the extent of
the impairment losses previously recognised. Assets classified under this heading are not depreciated.
For the purpose of determining the net realisable value, the Company’s directors considered the fair value
obtained from appraisals performed by independent third-party valuers and the Company’s intention to
realise the assets in the short and medium term, for which purpose expectations regarding the evolution of
the Spanish property market in the short and medium term were taken into account.
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Therefore, at 31 December 2014 the impairment losses recognised reflected both the effects of the appraisals
conducted by independent third-party valuers and the other factors referred to above.
i)

Current/Non-current classification

In the accompanying balance sheet, assets and liabilities maturing within no more than twelve months are
classified as current items and those maturing within more than twelve months are classified as non-current
items, except for «Inventories», which are classified as current assets, since they are assets that will be realised
in the Company’s normal operating cycle. The normal operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of
assets for inclusion in the various property developments and the realisation of the related goods in the form
of cash or cash equivalents.
Also, bonds and other marketable debt securities and interest-bearing loans and borrowings are classified as
non-current if the Company has the irrevocable right to meet the related payments within more than twelve
months from the reporting date.
j)

Foreign currency transactions

The Company’s financial statements are presented in thousands of euros, since the euro is the Company’s
functional currency.
All foreign currency transactions are recorded, on initial recognition, by applying the spot exchange rate.
Monetary items are translated at year end at the exchange rates then prevailing. Both foreign exchange losses
and exchange gains arising in this process and those arising when the related items are settled are recognised
in income in the year in which they arise.
k)

Provisions and contingencies

Provisions cover present obligations at the date of preparation of the financial statements arising from past
events which could give rise to a loss for the entities that is considered likely to occur and which is certain as to
its nature but uncertain as to its amount and/or timing.
Contingent liabilities are possible obligations that arise from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events not wholly within the
control of the Company.
The Company’s financial statements include all the material provisions with respect to which it is considered
more likely than not that the obligation will have to be settled. Unless they are considered remote, contingent
liabilities are not recognised in the annual financial statements, but are disclosed is the notes.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle or
transfer the obligation based on available information about the event and its consequences, recognising
adjustments from updating the provision as a finance cost as they accrue.
The compensation to be received from a third party on settlement of the obligation is recognised as an asset,
provided that there are no doubts that the reimbursement will take place, unless there is a legal relationship
whereby a portion of the risk has been externalised as a result of which the Company is not liable; in this
situation, the compensation will be taken into account for the purpose of estimating the amount of the related
provision.
l)

Income tax

Income tax expense is calculated as the sum of the current tax for the year resulting from applying the tax rate
to the taxable profit for the year, less any allowable tax deductions, plus the change in deferred tax assets and
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liabilities recognised. Current tax is therefore the estimated amount payable or receivable based on the tax
rate applying at the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences between the tax base of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts. Therefore, the Company recognises a deferred tax liability for all
taxable temporary differences that do not constitute the exceptions established in accounting legislation for
being able not to recognise such a liability. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, unused tax credits and deductions and unused tax loss carry forwards insofar as it is probable that
there will be a taxable profit against which they can be applied with the Spanish tax authorities. The Company
forms part of a consolidated tax group (see Note 17 ), and files consolidated tax returns and, accordingly, the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities arising from the eliminations of the results obtained from the
transactions performed with other Group companies for the calculation of the consolidated tax base and
which may be included in the future are recognised.
Tax assets and liabilities are measured at the effective tax rate expected to apply in the year when they are
analysed or paid, based on tax rates and tax law in force or enacted at the balance sheet date.
The tax benefit relating to tax credits for double taxation and reinvestment is deducted from the income tax
expense for the year in which entitlement to the tax credit arises or is exercised (Note 17). Compliance with
the requirements set forth in current legislation is required in order to be able to use these tax credits.
The income tax expense is recognised in the income statement, unless the tax relates to items recognised
directly in equity, in which case the income tax is also recognised in equity.
At each accounting close, the recognised deferred tax assets are reassessed and appropriate adjustments
made to the extent that there are doubts regarding their future recovery. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are also reassessed and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will
allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
m) Value Added Tax (VAT)
The Company is taxed under the deductible proportion VAT regime. Non-deductible input VAT forms part of
the acquisition cost of current and non-current assets as well as of services that are subject to the tax.
n)

Income and expenses

General approach
Income and expense are recognised on an accrual basis, i.e. when the real flow of goods or services relating to
the item arises, regardless of when the resulting monetary or financial flow arises. Revenue is measured at the
fair value of the consideration received, net of discounts and taxes.
Revenue from sales is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods sold have
been transferred to the buyer, and the Company retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the
degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold.
Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the
transaction at the end of the reporting period, provided the outcome of the transaction can be estimated
reliably.
Interest received on financial assets is recognised using the effective interest rate method. In any event,
interest and dividends from financial assets accrued since the time of acquisition are recognised as income in
the income statement.
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«Revenue» includes the dividends received from financial investments, which are recognised as revenue in the
year in which the dividends are declared by the Board of Directors of the related investee (see Note 2).
Recognition of sales of property developments and land
The Company recognises revenue from sales of property developments and land when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the goods sold have been transferred to the buyer.
In all other cases, the cost incurred in the construction of the development is retained in «Inventories», and
the amount received on account of the total selling price is recognised under «Customer advances» in the
accompanying balance sheet.
o) Related-party transactions
The Company carries out all related-party transactions at market value. Furthermore, transfer prices are
adequately underpinned and as such the Company directors do not expect any impact on its financial position
or performance in the future.
p) Costs charged to lessees
The direct costs of transactions relating to investment property that generated rental income in 2014 and
2013, recognised under «Net operating income/(loss)» in the accompanying income statement, amounted to
EUR 1,532 thousand and EUR 1,789 thousand, respectively. The amount of these expenses associated with
investment property that did not generate rental income is not material.
q)

Statement of cash flows

The statement of cash flows was prepared using the indirect method and is made up of the following items:
- Cash flows: inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents, which are short-term, highly liquid
investments subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. They also include the Company’s payments and
collections, including interest payments, dividends received and taxes, together with other activities that are
not investing or financing activities.
- Operating activities: the typical operating activities and other activities that cannot be classified as investing
or financing activities.
- Investing activities: the acquisition, sale or other disposal of long-term assets and other investments not
included in cash and cash equivalents.
- Financing activities: activities that result in changes in the size and composition of equity and liabilities do not
form part of operating activities. These include the proceeds received as a result of the acquisition by third
parties of securities issued by the Company or from loans and other financing instruments granted by banks or
third parties, together with the payments made to repay such loans and financing instruments. Dividends paid
to shareholders are also included here.
r)

Termination benefits

Under current legislation, the Company is required to make severance payments to employees whose
employment is terminated under certain conditions. Therefore, severance payments that may be reasonably
quantified are expensed in the year in which the decision to terminate the employment relationship is made.
No provision has been recognised in the financial statements in this connection, since no situations of this
nature are effective to arise.
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s)

Environmentally-related assets and liabilities

Environmentally-related assets are those that can be used in the long term during the Company’s course of
business, for the primary purpose of minimising the environmental impact of the Company’s activities and
protecting or improving the environment, including the reduction or elimination of future contamination.
Due to the nature of its activities, the Company does not impact the environment.
t)

Asset exchange transactions

Asset exchange transactions are acquisitions of tangible or intangible assets in exchange for non-monetary
assets or a combination of monetary and non-monetary assets.
Generally, when the exchange has the substance of a commercial swap, it is measured at fair value of the asset
delivered plus any monetary consideration given in exchange. Valuation differences arising upon derecognition
of the asset given up are recognised in the income statement.
It is considered that an exchange has commercial substance when the nature of future cash flows from the
asset received differs (in terms of risk, timing and amount) from that of the asset given up or the present value
of cash flows after taxes of the Company’s activities affected by the exchange will be modified as a result of
the transaction.
If the transaction does not have commercial substance, the asset acquired is valued at the carrying amount of
the asset given up plus, where applicable, the monetary consideration given in exchange, up to the limit of the
fair value of the asset if this is lower.
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Intangible assets

Changes in this balance sheet heading in 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

2014
Thousands of euros
31.12.2013
Cost:
Computer software
Accumulated amortisation:
Computer software
Total net

Additions

Disposals

31.12.2014

981
981

462
462

-

1,443
1,443

(680)
(680)

(219)
(219)

-

(899)
(899)

301

243

-

544

30

2013

31.12.2012

Thousands of euros
Additions due Disposals due
Additions
to merger
to spin-off

31.12.2013

Cost:
Computer software

11,216
11,216

769
769

(11,216)
(11,216)

212
212

981
981

Accumulated amortisation:
Computer software

(6,653)
(6,653)

(536)
(536)

6,653
6,653

(144)
(144)

(680)
(680)

4,563

233

(4,563)

68

301

Total net

The cost of the fully amortised assets still in use at 31 December 2014 and 2013 amounted to EUR 615
thousand and EUR 372 thousand, respectively.
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Property and equipment

Changes in this balance sheet heading in 2014 and 2013 and the most significant disclosures thereon are as
follows:

2014
Thousands of euros
Cost:
Land
Buildings
Facilities
Other
Accumulated depreciation:
Buildings
Facilities
Other

31.12.2013
3,019
1,806
1,213

Additions
284
214
70

(1,269)
(382)
(887)

(394)
-

Net:
Land
Buildings
Facilities
Other
Impairment allowances
Total

Disposals
(2)
(2)

Transfers
-

31.12.2014
3,301
2,020
1,281

(300)
(94)

-

-

(1,663)
(682)
(981)

1,750
1,424
326

(110)
-

(2)
-

-

(86)
(24)

(2)

-

1,638
1,338
300

1,750

-

-

-

(110)

(2)

-

1,638

31

2013
Thousands of euros

31.12.2012
57,590
18,597
35,574
2,099
1,320

Additions
due to
merger
2,140
999
1,141

Disposals
due to
spin-off
(1,361)
(1,361)

Additions
916
797
119

Disposals
(246)
(44)
(196)
(6)

(3,198)

(960)

837

(543)

(2,244)
(157)
(797)

(154)
(806)

837

Net:
Land
Buildings
Facilities
Other

54,392
18,597
33,330
1,942
523

1,180
845
335

Impairment allowances
Total

(6,766)
47,626

1,180

Cost:
Land
Buildings
Facilities
Other
Accumulated
depreciation:
Buildings
Facilities
Other

Transfers
(Note 7)
(56,020)

31.12.2013
3,019

(18,597)
(35,530)
(1,893)
-

1,806
1,213

71

2,524

(1,269)

(180)
(237)
(126)

66
5

2,424
100
-

(382)
(887)

(524)
(524)

373
(180)
560
(7)

(175)
(44)
(130)
(1)

(53,496)
(18,597)
(33,106)
(1,793)
-

1,750
1,424
326

(524)

373

(175)

6,766
(46,730)

1,750

In 2013, «Property and equipment» included basically several office buildings in which the Company, together
with other companies in the ”la Caixa” Group, carried on their business activity. As a result of the transaction
to spin off the property management business to Servihabitat Gestión Inmobiliaria, SLU, the Company
transferred all of the assets previously intended for own use to «Investment property» (see Note 7).
The cost of the fully depreciated assets still in use at 31 December 2014 and 2013 amounted to EUR 775
thousand and EUR 681 thousand, respectively.
The Company takes out insurance policies to cover the possible risks to which its tangible assets are subject. At
the end of 2014 and 2013, assets were fully insured against these risks.
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7

Investment property

Changes in this balance sheet heading in 2014 and 2013 and the most significant disclosures thereon are as
follows:
2014
Thousands of euros

31.12.2013

Additions

Disposals

Transfers
(Notes 11 and
12)

31.12.2014

Cost:
Land and buildings
Facilities

795,811
786,534
9,277

3,909
3,048
861

(10,067)
(10,067)
-

(24,102)
(24,102)
-

765,551
755,413
10,138

Accumulated depreciation:
Land and buildings
Facilities

(25,546)
(24,401)
(1,145)

(10,631)
(9,965)
(666)

300
300
-

3,910
3,910
-

(31,967)
(30,156)
(1,811)

Net:
Land and buildings
Facilities

770,265
762,133
8,132

(6,722)
(6,917)
195

(9,767)
(9,767)
-

(20,192)
(20,192)
-

733,584
725,257
8,327

(173,756)
596,509

(40,578)
(47,300)

270
(9,497)

3,932
(16,260)

(210,132)
523,452

Impairment allowances
Total

2013

31.12.2012

Thousands of euros
Transfers
(Notes 6 and
Additions
Disposals
12)

31.12.2013

Cost:
Land and buildings
Facilities

613,549
612,695
854

9,256
2,726
6,530

(10,536)
(10,536)
-

183,542
181,649
1,893

795,811
786,534
9,277

Accumulated depreciation:
Land and buildings
Facilities

(13,354)
(12,811)
(543)

(9,961)
(9,459)
(502)

294
294
-

(2,525)
(2,425)
(100)

(25,546)
(24,401)
(1,145)

Net:
Land and buildings
Facilities

600,195
599,884
311

(705)
(6,733)
6,028

(10,242)
(10,242)
-

181,017
179,224
1,793

770,265
762,133
8,132

Impairment allowances
Total

(74,124)
526,071

(69,154)
(69,859)

2,263
(7,979)

(32,741)
148,276

(173,756)
596,509
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In 2014, as a result of leasing certain property assets that were considered non-current assets held for sale,
transfers of EUR 25,852 thousand (net) were made to «Investment property» (EUR 43,699 thousand, cost and
EUR 17,847 thousand, associated impairment).
Moreover, at the 2014 close, the Company transferred several properties from «Investment property» to
«Non-current assets held for sale» as they have been earmarked for disposal. The total amount of these
transfers was EUR 42,112 thousand (cost of EUR 67,801 thousand, accumulated depreciation of EUR 3,910
thousand and impairment losses of EUR 21,779 thousand).
In 2013, as a result of leasing certain property assets that were considered inventories, transfers of EUR
101,548 thousand (net) were made to «Investment property» (EUR 127,523 thousand, cost and associated
impairment of EUR 25,975 thousand).
Moreover, as disclosed in Note 6, in 2013 the Company transferred the properties previously for own use
classified under «Property and equipment» to «Investment property» for a total net amount of EUR 46,730
thousand.
In 2014, the Company recognised impairment amounting to EUR 40,578 thousand on this investment property
where the fair value based on appraisals and valuations conducted by independent valuers was lower than the
cost recognised. In 2013, impairment losses amounting to EUR 69,154 thousand were recognised.
In 2014, the Company disposed of items of investment property with a cost of EUR 10,067 thousand, obtaining
a pre-tax gain of EUR 7,062 thousand on these sales. In 2013 investment property disposals gave rise to pre-tax
losses amounting to EUR 1,784 thousand.
Types of investment property and use
At 31 December 2014, the most significant investments recognised under «Investment property» relate to the
former head office of ”la Caixa” located at Laietana Street 56 (Barcelona), an office building located at
Provençals Street 39 (Barcelona), a building located at Ribera 16 (Valencia), a building located at República
Argentina Street 256 (Barcelona) and a building located at Gran Via de les Corts Catalanes 655 (Barcelona).
The Company had investment property earmarked for sale and lease at the end of 2014 and 2013, distributed
as follows:
2014

429,621

Square metres
leased
369,267

22,013
14,930
466,564

12,306
14,001
395,574

Square metres
Homes
Offices and commercial
premises
Industrial buildings
Total

Occupancy
rate (%)
86%
56%
94%
85%

37,333
88,809

Square metres
leased
29,998
73,550

Others

340,422

292,026

Occupancy
rate (%)
80%
83%
86%

Total

466,564

395,574

85%

Square metres
Madrid
Barcelona
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2013

389,758

Square metres
leased
318,472

64,880
14,138
468,776

35,551
13,337
367,360

Square metres
Homes
Offices
and
commercial
premises
Industrial buildings
Total

Occupancy
rate (%)
82%
55%
94%
78%

44,675
86,479

Square metres
leased
27,753
59,293

Other

337,622

280,314

Occupancy
rate (%)
62%
69%
83%

Total

468,776

367,360

78%

Square metres
Madrid
Barcelona

The value of fully depreciated investment property at 31 December 2014 was EUR 1,823 thousand. There was
no fully depreciated investment property at 31 December 2013.
The Company takes out insurance policies to cover the possible risks to which its investment property is
subject. The Company’s directors review annually, or whenever circumstances dictate, its coverage and the
risks against which it is insured, and amounts required to reasonably cover these risks for the coming year are
agreed upon.
At the 2014 year end, there are no types of restrictions on the realisability of investment property or the
remittance of income and proceeds of disposal.
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Leases

At the 2014 and 2013 year ends, all of the Company’s operating leases are cancellable with prior notification,
mostly of one month. Therefore, there are no minimum instalments payable under non-cancellable operating
leases under the current leases.
In relation to the leases for offices, commercial premises and industrial buildings, the terms of the Group’s
leases with lessees included the following minimum lease payments, under the current leases, not including
any charges for shared expenses, future rent increases indexed to the CPI or other future rent rises under the
lease (in thousands of euros):
Operating leases
Minimum lease payments
Less than one year
Between one and five years
More than five years
Total

2014

2013
4,247
12,129
13,216

4,699
14,075
14,816

29,592

33,590

As lessor, the Company has a large number of leases with a high level of geographical dispersion, and there is
no one lease, considered individually, that can be considered significant.
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9

Non-current investments in Group companies, jointly controlled entities and associates

The most significant information relating to the securities included under «Investments in Group companies»
and «Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities» is attached in Appendices I and II, respectively.
9.1

Investments in Group companies

Changes in investments in Group companies in 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

Thousands of euros

2014
Additions
due to
spin-off
(Note 2)

Additions

Disposals

Transfers
and
other

Dividends
expensed

Impairment

Total

Balance at 31.12.2013

453,977

Listed
14,654,5
53

-

(24)

-

-

-

14,654,529

Caixa Capital Micro II FCR

-

4,900

-

-

-

-

4,900

Caixa Capital TIC II, FCR

-

2,250

-

-

-

-

2,250

Caixa Innvierte Biomed II, FCR

-

4,500

-

-

-

-

4,500

Caixa Innvierte Industria, SCR, SA

-

2,880

-

-

-

-

2,880

Foment Immobiliari Assequible, SAU

-

212,780(1)

-

-

16,800

(2,134)

227,446

Mediterránea Beach & Golf Com.,
SAU

-

196,000(2)

-

-

-

-

196,000

Saba Infraestructuras, SA

-

-

-

(4,998)

-

-

(4,998)

Servihabitat Alquiler, SL

-

347,000(3)

-

-

(103,257)

(22,921)

220,822

Servihabitat Alquiler II, SLU

-

131,278(3)

-

-

(46,922)

(26,204)

58,152

67
14,654,6
20

71

-

-

-

-

138

901,659

(24)

(4,998)

(133,379)

(51,259)

15,366,619

CaixaBank, SA
Non-listed

Others (*)
Changes in 2014
Balance at 31.12.2014

15,820,596

(*) Corresponds to immaterial investments included in the spin-off of assets and liabilities not assigned to ”la Caixa” welfare projects to
Criteria (see Note 1 and Appendix I).
(1)
Non-monetary contribution to Criteria
(2)
Capital increases
(3)
Capital increase to repay debts

Thousands of euros

2013
Additions
due to
Merger

Dividends
Spin-off

Disposals

Additions

expensed

Total

Balance at 31.12.2012
Servihabitat Gestión Inmobiliaria, SLU

242
-

15,514

(15,514)

-

-

-

Saba Infraestructuras, SA

204,123

-

-

-

(4,998)

199,125

Mediterránea Beach & Golf Com., SAU

109,230

-

-

-

-

109,230

Inversiones Autopistas, SL

141,141

-

-

-

-

141,141

-

-

-

4,200

-

4,200

Caixa Assistance, SAU

12

-

-

-

-

12

Caixa Títol, SAU

15

-

-

-

-

15

Club Caixa I, SAU

12

-

-

-

-

12

Changes in 2013

454,533

15,514

(15,514)

4,200

(4,998)

453,735

Caixa Capital Risc, S.G.E.C.R., SA

Balance at 31.12.2013

453,977
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In 2014, Criteria CaixaHolding carried out the following transactions involving Group companies:
CaixaBank, SA
The non-monetary contribution of assets and liabilities not assigned to ”la Caixa” welfare projects to the
Company, described in Notes 1 and 2, included the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation’s holding in CaixaBank, SA
Thus, Criteria has received 3,236,489,761 CaixaBank, SA shares representing 64.37% of its share capital at 31
December 2013.
On 27 February 2014 and 29 May 2014, the Board of Directors of CaixaBank agreed on the mandatory
conversion and/or exchange of series I/2012 mandatory convertible subordinated bonds and series 1/2011
mandatory convertible subordinated bonds, respectively. The conversion and/or exchange mandatory for all
bondholders took place on 30 March 2014 and 30 June 2014, respectively. The reference price for CaixaBank
for the conversion was EUR 3.65 per share in the first case and EUR 4.97 per share in the second. CaixaBank
covered the conversion through the issue of 323,146,336 new shares for the series 1/2012 conversion and
149,484,999 new shares for the series 1/2011 conversion. As a result of both operations, the Company’s
ownership interest in the share capital of CaixaBank during 2014 was diluted by 5.47%.
Moreover, through its scrip dividend programme, CaixaBank distributed four optional dividends in 2014
offering shareholders the choice of receiving cash or subscribe to the scrip issue. The optional dividends were
for EUR 0.05 per share in March, July, September and December 2014. The Company chose to receive a total
of EUR 72,096 thousand in cash (see Note 20) and EUR 132,777,136 in CaixaBank shares.
At 31 December 2014, the Company’s total stake in CaixaBank amounted to 58.96%.
CaixaBank is also a public limited company (sociedad anónima) whose shares are admitted to trading on the
Barcelona, Madrid, Valencia and Bilbao stock exchanges and on the continuous market, forming part of the
IBEX 35 since 4 February 2008. The bank’s average share price in the last quarter of 2014 was EUR 4.399 per
share, while the year-end closing price was EUR 4.361 per share. The market value of the stake in CaixaBank at
31 December 2014 was EUR 14,693,345 thousand based on the year-end 2014 share price.
Investments in venture capital funds
In 2014, the Company has participated in the formation of several venture capital funds (all managed by its
solely-owned subsidiary Caixa Capital Risc). Investments made and committed in this regard are as follows:

Company
Caixa Capital Micro II, FCR
Caixa Capital TIC II, FCR
Caixa Innvierte Biomed II, FCR
Caixa Innvierte Industria, SCR, SA
Total

Thousands of
euros
Investment
made
4,900
2,250
4,500
2,880
14,530

% direct
ownership
interest
98.00%
51.29%
42.85%
22.41%

Thousands of
euros
Total committed
investment
8,820
15,000
15,000
10,800
49,620

% direct
ownership
interest
98.00%
51.29%
42.85%
30.86%

Foment Immobiliari Assequible, SAU
As explained in Note 1, the non-monetary contribution of the total capital of Foment Immobiliari Assequible,
SAU owned by the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation to Criteria was filed in the Barcelona Companies' Registry
with effect from 9 December 2014.
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Pursuant to Measurement and Recognition Standard No. 21 of the National Chart of Accounts, the ownership
interest in Foment Immobiliari Assequible has been valued at the amount stated in the ”la Caixa” Group’s
consolidated annual financial statements, i.e. EUR 212,780 thousand. This amount coincides with the value of
the contribution and therefore the Company’s reserves have not varied on recognition of this transaction.
Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community, SAU
On 16 January 2014, Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community increased its share capital by EUR 9,800
thousand, issuing 239,025 new shares with a par value of EUR 41 each and a total share premium of EUR
186,200 thousand, which was subscribed and fully paid up by the Company. The Company’s ownership interest
in Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community was 100% at 31 December 2014.
Saba Infraestructuras, SA
On 18 June 2014, Saba Infraestructuras, SA approved the distribution of a dividend against the share premium
of EUR 0.0135 per share, which was recognised with a reduction from the cost of the investment, for EUR
4,998 thousand. The Company’s ownership interest in Saba Infraestructuras, SA was 50.10% at 31 December
2014.
Servihabitat Alquiler, SL and Servihabitat Alquiler II, SLU
On 12 June 2014, Criteria CaixaHolding made contributions of EUR 347,000 thousand and EUR 131,278
thousand to Servihabitat Alquiler and Servihabitat Alquiler II, respectively, by offsetting the principal of the
participating loans granted to these companies and recognised under «Other financial assets – Investments in
Group companies, jointly controlled entities and associates» in the accompanying balance sheet (see Note
9.3). As a result, the provision for the investment in Servihabitat Alquiler and Servihabitat Alquiler II,
recognised under «Non-current provisions» at 31 December 2013, has been reclassified as a reduction in the
cost of these investments.

The most significant investments in Group companies carried out in 2014 are as follows:
Servihabitat Gestión Inmobiliaria, SLU
On 23 March 2013, the Company subscribed and paid through a non-monetary contribution of the assets and
liabilities assigned to the real estate management business, all the 12,928,587 shares of EUR 1 par value each,
together with a share premium of EUR 0.2 per share, issued for the incorporation of Servihabitat Gestión
Inmobiliaria, SLU
On 31 October 2013, the Company sold all the shares to CaixaBank, SA for EUR 98 million, giving rise to a pretax gain of EUR 81 million (see Note 20).
9.2

Investments in jointly controlled entities and associates

At 31 December 2014 and 2013, the fair value of the investments in jointly controlled entities and associates
amounted to EUR 9,479,253 thousand and EUR 9,314,348 thousand. In determining the fair value, the
Company considered the market value at 31 December 2014 for the quoted companies and the recoverable
amounts calculated by the Company using generally accepted valuation techniques for the unquoted
companies.
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Changes in this balance sheet heading in 2014 and 2013 are as follows:
2014
Balance at 31.12.2013
Abertis Infraestructuras, SA
Gas Natural, S.D.G., SA
Hisusa (Holding de Infraestructuras y Servicios Urbanos, SA)
Vithas Sanidad, SL
Changes in 2014
Balance at 31.12.2014

2013

Balance at 31.12.2012
Gas Natural, S.D.G., SA
Abertis Infraestructuras, SA
Hisusa (Holding de Infraestructuras y Servicios Urbanos, SA)
Vithas Sanidad, SL
Changes in 2013
Balance at 31.12.2013

Thousands of euros
Additions Disposals
Total
6,726,938
3,820
53
10,400

(28,065)
(625,540)
-

3,820
(28,012)
(625,540)
10,400
(639,332)
6,087,606

Thousands of euros
Additions
due to
merger
Disposals
Total
1,856
5,059,077
1,281,318
625,540
50,913
7,016,848

(62,944)
(228,822)
(291,766)

4,996,133
1,052,496
625,540
50,913
6,725,082
6,726,938

In 2014, Criteria CaixaHolding carried out the following transactions involving jointly controlled entities and
associates:
Sociedad General de Aguas de Barcelona, SA (Hisusa)
In July 2014, Criteria CaixaHolding signed a binding agreement with the French group Suez Environnement
(which had controlled 75.35% of Agbar’s share capital until then) for the sale of its 24.14% indirect holding in
Agbar in exchange for 22 million newly-issued shares of Suez Environnement, representing 4.1% of its share
capital, and EUR 299 million in cash. As part of the agreement, Criteria declared its intent to allocate part of
the cash received to purchase Suez Environnement shares on the stock market, for the purpose of obtaining,
depending on market conditions, up to 7% of the share capital of Suez Environnement. In doing so, Criteria
became Suez Environnement’s second largest shareholder.
As part of the deal, Suez Environnement undertook to ensure that Criteria is represented on its board of
directors and strategy committee. In turn, Criteria agreed to maintain its investment in Suez Environnement
over the next four years.
On 17 September 2014, Suez Environnement’s board of directors approved the valuation of 24.14% of Agbar’s
capital based on the auditor’s contributions report, and authorised payment of this contribution by increasing
reserve capital by 22 million new shares and making a cash payment of EUR 299 million (see Note 10). In
October 2014, Criteria was also given a place on Suez Environnement’s board of directors and strategy
committee.
Within the framework of the historical cooperation with Suez Environnement in the Spanish market, the
agreement between the two groups included a clause in which Criteria undertook to acquire from Agbar 15%
of Aigües de Barcelona, Empresa Metropolitana del Cicle Integral de l’Aigua, SA, a company that manages the
end-to-end water cycle in the metropolitan area of Barcelona, and to purchase from Suez Environnement
14.51% of its holding in Aguas de Valencia (see Note 10).
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The impact on the Company’s results of the sale of the Agbar shares was not material.
Abertis Infraestructuras, SA
During 2014, the Company acquired 252,610 shares in Abertis Infraestructuras SA (0.03% of total capital), for
EUR 3,820 thousand.
On 10 September 2013, Criteria entered into an agreement with Abertis and Brookfield, in the framework of
the acquisition of 60% of the shares of OHL Brasil (now Arteris), whereby Criteria lent 4,122,550 shares to
Abertis and 18,519,282 shares to Brookfield (a total of 22,641,832 shares lent). To secure the transaction,
Criteria received, when the transaction was formalised, collateral of EUR 312,118 thousand. The amount of
this collateral was updated whenever deviations of +/- 5% occurred in the share price or on each partial loan
repayment. The value of the collateral at 31 December 2013 was EUR 91,434 thousand (recognised as a
current liability under «Deposits received as collateral»).
On 10 June 2014, the share loan matured and, therefore, the collateral was repaid in full.
At 31 December 2014, Criteria had an economic ownership interest of 15.36% in Abertis. The Criteria Group's
controlling stake in Abertis is 23.12%.
Gas Natural, S.D.G., SA
In 2014, the Company made direct market sales of 840,511 shares of Gas Natural, S.D.G., SA (0.08% of total
capital), for a total of EUR 16,939 thousand. The sales generated pre-tax gains of EUR 4,783 thousand.
Call options sold on a total of 1,100,000 Gas Natural shares matured in September 2014 and were exercised.
Criteria opted for physically delivery of the shares, recognising the gain generated under «Gains/(losses) on
disposal of financial instruments (net)» for a gross amount of EUR 10,006 thousand. The gain generated from
the financial derivative is recognised under «Changes in fair value of financial instruments» in the
accompanying income statement.
Lastly, other call options sold on a total of 1,100,000 Gas Natural shares matured in December 2014. The
Company terminated 650,000 options early, while the remainder matured in the money. All the options were
settled on a net basis, generating an immaterial result recognised under «Changes in fair value of financial
instruments» in the accompanying income statement.
At 31 December 2014, the Company’s ownership interest in Gas Natural, S.D.G., SA was 34.33%.
Vithas Sanidad, SL
On 11 July 2014, the Company performed a capital increase involving the issue of EUR 2,509,429 new class A
shares and 627,357 class B shares with a par value of EUR 1.90 each, along with a share premium of EUR
46,040 thousand. Criteria subscribed 20% of the capital increase (all of the class B shares), entailing an outlay
of EUR 10,400 thousand. At 31 December 2014, Criteria held a 20% stake in the share capital of this company.
The most significant investments in jointly controlled entities and associates carried out in 2013 are as follows:
Abertis Infraestructuras, SA
On 22 March 2013, the Company sold 24,443,675 shares representing 3% of the share capital of Abertis
Infraestructuras, SA for EUR 342,194 thousand. The ownership interest in Abertis Infraestructuras, SA was
acquired by OHL Emisiones, SAU, a subsidiary of the Obrascón Huarte Laín, SA Group. The Company also sold a
0.305% ownership interest in Abertis during the first quarter of 2013 for EUR 33,087 thousand.
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These sales resulted in a gross profit of EUR 150,297 thousand, which is recognised under «Gains/(losses) on
disposal of financial instruments (net)» in the accompanying income statement.
9.3

Other financial assets

Changes in «Other financial assets» in the accompanying balance sheet are as follows:
2014

Thousands of euros
Additions
Disposals

31.12.2013
Loans granted
Interest on loans
Total

791,455
89,039
880,494

34,802
34,802

2013
31.12.2012
Loans granted
Interest on loans
Total

584,820
35,351
620,171

31.12.2014

(675,499)
(13,634)
(689,133)

150,758
75,405
226,163

Thousands of euros
Additions
Disposals

31.12.2013

289,414
53,688
343,102

(82,779)
(82,779)

791,455
89,039
880,494

The loans granted to the various Group companies recognised under «Other financial assets» at 31 December
2014 and 2013 mature as follows:
2014
2016
Saba Car Park, SLU
Real-estate companies
Total

Thousands of euros
2018
2019

2017

122,891
122,891

-

2013

-

2020 and
beyond
-

27,867
27,867

Total
27,867
122,891
150,758

Thousands of euros

Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community
Real-estate companies
Total

2015

2016

2017

2018

197,221
197,221

115,956
115,956

330,278
330,278

141,000
141,000

2019
7,000
7,000

Total
197,221
594,234
791,455

The most significant transactions in 2014 are as follows:
-

With regard to real-estate companies, on 12 June 2014, Criteria CaixaHolding made a nonmonetary contribution to Servihabitat Alquiler, SL and Servihabitat Alquiler II, SLU by offsetting
the principal of the participating loans granted to these companies pending repayment at that
date (EUR 347,000 thousand and EUR 131,278 thousand, respectively) (see Note 9.1). This
heading also includes two loans totalling EUR 122,891 thousand secured by a second mortgage,
both of which mature on 13 September 2016.

-

Subsequent to the capital increase by Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community fully subscribed by
Criteria (see Note 9.1), Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community repaid early the loan granted by
the Company at the end of 2013 of EUR 197,221 thousand.
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-

9.4

On 28 October 2014, as part of the agreement to incorporate the public-private partnership
Barcelona d’Aparcaments Municipals, SA (BAMSA) between Saba Car Park, SLU and Barcelona
City Council to manage several car parks in the centre of Barcelona, Criteria and CaixaBank
agreed to grant a long-term syndicated loan for a total of EUR 55,000 thousand (EUR 27,500
thousand each) to Saba Car Park, SLU as borrower. This syndicated loan matures on 28
November 2024 and accrues interest at a rate of 8% per annum. Interest will be capitalised on an
annual basis, increasing the loan principal and simultaneously accruing new interest on this
amount. At 31 December 2014, interest accrued and capitalised totalled EUR 367 thousand.

Impairment of investments Group companies, jointly controlled entities and associates

The Company, particularly in light of the current national and international economic financial situation, has
examined all of its investments to determine possible impairment with the aim of recognising, if necessary,
any valuation corrections.
For all investments in Group companies, jointly controlled entities and associates, the Company measured
recoverable values using generally accepted valuation methods, based chiefly on estimates of its share in
future expected cash flows from the investee company, whether in the ordinary course of business or through
disposal or derecognition of these investments.
In accordance with the Group’s policy, the appropriate impairment tests were carried out on these
investments in order to ascertain their fair value. The sum of parts discounted cash flows (DCF) valuation
methodology and dividend discount models (DDM) were mainly used. Conservatives assumptions obtained
from sources of renowned prestige were used. Discount rates for each business and country were applied
(ranging from 6.6% to 10.0% in 2014), and control premiums were not used in the valuation of the investees.
The growth rates used in calculating the residual value beyond the period covered by the projections were up
to 1.5%. These growth rates were estimated based on the data of the latest projected period and never exceed
nominal GDP growth estimated for the country or countries in which the investees operate.
Given the uncertainty inherent in these assumptions, sensitivity analyses are performed using reasonable
changes in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount of the CGU is based to confirm whether this
continues to exceed the amount to be recovered. In this respect, possible variations in the main assumptions
used in the models were calculated and a sensitivity analysis carried out for the most significant variables,
including the various business drivers and income statements of investees, to assess the resistance of the
value of these investments to more adverse scenarios.
The basic assumptions used were as follows:


Market risk premium: between 5% and 5.5%;



Betas obtained from Bloomberg;



GDP and CPI: forecasts presented by Oxford Economics; and

 The projection periods were tailored, where appropriate, to the characteristics of each business (e.g.
the term of the concessions).
The earnings projections used in the estimated discount rates were, in certain cases, at more than five years
due to the specific circumstances of each investment, such as significant investment plans, their location in
emerging economies, concession terms and other similar factors. In addition, certain very specific aspects
were considered in relation to the Company’s investments, including litigation and country risk, although these
factors do not have a potentially significant impact on the valuation of the investments.
Specifically, for investments in the Group's real estate companies, the recoverable amount was determined on
the basis of the underlying carrying amount plus the unrealised gains/(losses) on these investments, net of the
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related tax effect, basically attributable to property assets, the fair value of which was determined on the basis
of appraisals and valuations conducted at the end of the period by independent valuers.
The analysis performed disclosed the need to recognise, in 2014, an impairment loss on the investments in
Group companies totalling EUR 51,259 thousand (EUR 82,885 thousand in 2013).
With regard to the investments in Group companies, jointly controlled entities and associates, based on the
analyses performed, and applying conservative and prudent criteria, it was concluded that it was necessary to
recognise impairment losses in connection with the fair value of the investments in banks.
Company management reviews the valuation of the Company's investments on an ongoing basis.
10

Non-current financial assets

10.1

Equity instruments

Changes in this balance sheet heading in 2014 and 2013 are as follows:
2014
Thousands of euros
Additions

Disposals

Impairment
allowances

Change in
fair value

Balance at 31.12.2013

14,065

Available-for-sale financial assets
Suez Environnement, SA
Aguas de Valencia, SA
Aigües de Barcelona, Empresa Metropolitana del
Cicle Integral de l’Aigua, SA
Inmobiliaria Colonial, SA
Others
Changes in 2014
Balance at 31.12.2014

Total

434,855
37,683

-

-

7,541
-

442,396
37,683

50,550
2,473

(10,237)
-

-

(3,452)
-

50,550
(13,689)
2,473

525,561

(10,237)

-

4,089

519,413
533,478

2013
Thousands of euros
Additions
due to
merger

Additions

Disposals

Impairment
allowances

Change in
fair value

Balance at 31.12.2012
Available-for-sale financial assets
Vehículo de Tenencia y Gestión 9, SL
Aliancia Zero, SL
Metrovacesa, SA
Inmobiliaria Colonial, SA
Soc. Avg. Bilbao Gas Hub, SA
Changes in 2013
Balance at 31.12.2013

Total
3,411

7,795
21,311
376

-

(1,834)
-

(1,701)
(1,710)
(876)
-

(5,961)
(6,746)
-

(1,701)
(1,710)
13,689
376

29,482

-

(1,834)

(4,287)

(12,707)

10,654
14,065

The most significant information relating to the securities included under «Available-for-sale financial assets –
Equity instruments» is disclosed in Appendix III.
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The Company recognises these assets at market value, and differences, net of the related tax effect, between
market value and acquisition cost are recognised under «Equity – Valuation adjustments – Available-for-sale
financial assets» in the accompanying balance sheet. Tax effects are recognised under non-current «Deferred
tax liabilities» or «Deferred tax assets» in the balance sheet.
The most significant transactions carried out during the year are as follows:
Suez Environnement, SA
As described in Note 9.2 «Investments in jointly controlled entities and associates», Criteria CaixaHolding has
become a Suez Environnement shareholder after selling its 24.14% holding in Agbar to Suez in exchange for
4.1% of Suez’s share capital and EUR 299 million in cash.
As part of the agreement, Criteria allocated part of the cash received to purchase Suez Environnement shares
on the stock market (8,647,422 shares at 31 December 2014), for the purpose of obtaining, depending on
market conditions, up to 7% of the share capital of Suez Environnement.
At 31 December 2014, Criteria’s total ownership interest in Suez is 5.67%.
Aguas de Valencia, SA
As part of the sale of Agbar to Suez Environnement, Criteria agreed to acquire 14.51% of Aguas de Valencia
owned by Suez. This agreement was fulfilled on 31 October 2014, representing an investment of EUR 37,683
thousand.
Aigües de Barcelona, Empresa Metropolitana del Cicle Integral de l’Aigua, SA
Lastly and also as part of the sale of the Agbar ownership interest, a 15% stake was acquired in Aigües de
Barcelona, Empresa Metropolitana del Cicle Integral de l’Aigua, SA on 13 November 2014 for EUR 50,550
thousand, whereby its shareholders are now Agbar (70%), Àrea Metropolitana de Barcelona (15%) and Criteria
(15%).
Criteria’s investment in Aigües de Barcelona reinforces its commitment and connection to developing key
infrastructure and services for 36 municipalities of the metropolitan area of Barcelona.
Inmobiliaria Colonial, SA
In January 2014, the Company sold all 13,074,273 shares representing 5.79% of the share capital of
Inmobiliaria Colonial held by Criteria for EUR 14,997 thousand, giving rise to a gross gain of EUR 4,760
thousand. This amount was recognised under «Gains/(losses) on disposal of financial instruments (net)» (see
Note 20.a).
Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets – Equity instruments
Based on management criteria, objective evidence of impairment of available-for-sale financial assets is
reviewed on a regular basis.
The Company tested all the equity instruments classified as available-for-sale financial assets for impairment
to recognise any corrections to their carrying amounts, as applicable. In this respect, equity instruments are
considered impaired in the event of a continued decline in price over a period of one-and-a-half years or more
than 40%.
In 2014, the Company did not recognise any impairment loss (2013: EUR 876 thousand) on its holding in
Inmobiliaria Colonial arising from the fall in its market price, and impairment losses of EUR 1,701 thousand and
EUR 1,710 thousand on its holdings in Vehículo de Tenencia y Gestión 9, SL and Aliancia Zero, SA, respectively).
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10.2

Other non-current financial liabilities

On 11 February 2014, Criteria CaixaHolding granted a subordinated loan of EUR 20 million to Resort Holdings,
BV (a company wholly owned indirectly by PortAventura Entertainment, SA), which earns interest at 10.25%
and matures in 2021. At 31 December 2014, interest accrued totalled EUR 1,932 thousand, payable when the
loan falls due.
This item also includes the security deposits received by the Company as a lessor. At 31 December 2014,
security deposits received totalled EUR 2,126 thousand (EUR 1,965 thousand at 31 December 2013).
11

Non-current assets held for sale

This item in the balance sheet includes real estate assets which are not included for own use or which are not
included as investment property and for which, in any case, there is an intention to sell.
Changes in this balance sheet heading in 2014 and 2013 are as follows:
2014
Thousands of euros

Building lots
Completed developments
Advances
Impairment losses
Total

31.12.2013
1,511,889
1,032,362
26,738
(1,328,177)
1,242,812

Additions
778
659
(9,121)
(7,684)

Disposals
(46,963)
(10,415)
23,303
(34,075)

Transfers
124,510
23,147
(8,688)
(73,690)
65,279

31.12.2014
1,590,214
1,045,753
18,050
(1,387,685)
1,266,332

2013
Thousands of euros

Building lots
Completed developments
Advances
Impairment losses
Total

31.12.2012
-

Additions
33,893
(482,960)
(449,067)

Disposals
(14,900)
(153,676)
44,967
(123,609)

Transfers
(Note 12)
1,492,896
1,186,038
26,738
(890,184)
1,815,488

31.12.2013
1,511,889
1,032,362
26,738
(1,328,177)
1,242,812

Disposals during the year relate to the cost of residential properties sold in 2014, generating profit of EUR 3
million (losses of EUR 29 million in 2013) (see Note 20).
In 2014, as a result of leasing certain property assets that were considered non-current assets, transfers of EUR
25,852 thousand (net) were made to «Investment property» (EUR 43,699 thousand, cost and EUR 17,847
thousand, associated impairment) (see Note 7).
Moreover, at the 2014 close, the Company transferred several properties from «Investment property» to
«Non-current assets held for sale» as they have been earmarked for disposal. The total net amount of these
transfers was EUR 42,112 thousand (cost of EUR 67,801 thousand, accumulated depreciation of EUR 3,910
thousand and impairment losses of EUR 21,779 thousand) (see Note 7).
Moreover, in 2014 the Company transferred various properties for a net amount of EUR 49,019 thousand (EUR
118,777 thousand, cost and associated impairment of EUR 69,758 thousand) from «Inventories» to «Noncurrent assets held for sale» in the accompanying balance sheet.
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The transfers in 2013 relate to the real estate assets which, as a result of the merger in 2013 of Criteria (the
absorbed company) into Servihabitat XXI (the absorbing company) were reclassified from «Inventories» to
«Non-current assets held for sale», as explained in Note 2.a.
«Advances» include the following:
-

Amounts deposited at courts in order to be able to participate in property auctions amounting to EUR
3,932 thousand (EUR 4,217 thousand at 31 December 2013). These amounts are recoverable in the
short term. «Advances» also includes the cash advances paid to third parties for various actions in
relation to the Company’s properties. The aforementioned advances are not secured.

-

At 31 December 2014, «Advances» also includes EUR 5,028 thousand relating to the payments made
to CaixaBank as advances on buildings that are expected to be acquired by the Company in the short
term (EUR 10,144 thousand at 31 December 2013).

-

At 31 December 2014, the item also includes EUR 9,090 thousand corresponding to cash advances
paid (EUR 12,377 thousand at 31 December 2013).

The Company recognised EUR 9,121 thousand in 2014 (EUR 482,960 thousand in 2013) in relation to
impairment of non-current assets held for sale whose net realisable value was lower than their carrying
amount in accordance with the criteria described in Note 4.h.
The geographical location of non-current assets held for sale at the reporting date was as follows:
Thousands of euros
Gross carrying amount
2014
2013
Catalonia
Madrid
Andalusia
Castile-La Mancha
Basque Country
Valencia
Asturias
Castile-Leon
Canary Islands
Aragón
Murcia
La Rioja
Balearic Islands
Galicia
Navarre
Cantabria
Extremadura
Melilla
Total

555,249
468,109
333,248
306,161
277,006
189,446
92,408
73,258
72,488
63,659
53,437
37,922
36,972
35,922
16,781
14,687
8,449
765

547,583
415,515
341,388
296,123
259,216
186,668
92,457
74,624
68,300
62,128
51,663
37,888
34,731
36,093
15,710
14,587
9,353
224

2,635,967

2,544,251
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12

Inventories

Changes in this balance sheet heading in 2014 and 2013 are as follows:
2014
Thousands of euros

Building lots and developments in progress
Completed developments
Advances
Impairment losses
Total

31.12.2013
826,823
3,273
37,745
(680,403)
187,438

Transfers
(Note 11)
(77,759)
(3,273)
(37,745)
69,758
(49,019)

31.12.2014
721,405
(617,835)
103,570

Thousands of euros
Disposals due
Transfers
to spin-off
(Notes 7 and
(Note 2)
Disposals
11)
(10,485)
(1,466,633)
(1,293,784)
(1,350)
(72,777)
4,595
916,159
(1,350)
(5,890)
(1,917,035)

31.12.2013
826,823
3,273
37,745
(680,403)
187,438

Additions
(22,663)
(22,663)

Disposals
(27,659)
15,473
(12,186)

2013

Building lots and developments in progress
Completed developments
Advances
Impairment losses
Total

31.12.2012
2,303,941
1,297,057
111,872
(1,601,157)
2,111,713

«Inventories», which consists mainly of land and developments in progress, are measured at the lower of cost,
including borrowing costs, and realisable value, understood to be the estimated net selling price less the
estimated construction and marketing costs.
In 2014, the Company transferred various properties for a net amount of EUR 49,019 thousand (EUR 118,777
thousand, cost and associated impairment of EUR 69,758 thousand) from «Inventories» to «Non-current
assets held for sale» in the accompanying balance sheet.
Furthermore, in 2013 the Company transferred various properties for a total cost of EUR 127,523 thousand
and associated impairment of EUR 25,975 thousand to «Investment property» in the accompanying balance
sheet as they were earmarked for lease (see Note 7).
Disposals during the year relate to the cost of land and residential properties sold in 2014, generating profit of
EUR 3 million (EUR 2 million in 2013).
In 2014, the Company received completed properties in accordance with the asset exchange deeds, mainly in
relation to the building lots located in Güeñes (Vizcaya), Vitoria (Álava) and Madrid, totalling EUR 37,745
thousand, which were transferred to «Completed developments». Consequently, no asset exchange
agreement is recognised under «Advances» at 31 December 2014.
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Details of inventories, by geographical area and operating cycle length, at year end are provided in the
following tables:
Thousands of euros
Gross carrying amount
2014
Catalonia

193,532

204,646

Andalusia

147,115

141,750

Valencia

136,007

137,688

Aragón

54,853

54,853

Basque Country

38,971

38,939

Madrid

35,952

123,445

Balearic Islands

32,817

34,603

Castile-La Mancha
Extremadura
Cantabria

31,053
11,196
11,033

42,144
10,575
11,033

Canary Islands

8,480

9,351

Murcia

6,977

6,809

Castile-Leon

6,381

5,810

Galicia

6,047

6,021

991
721,405

991
1,438
830,096

La Rioja
Melilla
Total

13

2013

Current financial assets – Dividends receivable

Details of dividends accrued and receivable at 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013 are as follows:

Thousands of euros
31.12.2013

Collected

Accrued
(Note 20)

Dividends
deducted
from cost

31.12.2014

Dividends receivable

135,762

(516,468)

512,082

4,998

136,374

Total

135,762

(516,468)

512,082

4,998

136,374

The dividend receivable from Gas Natural, S.D.G., SA at 31 December 2014 was paid on 8 January 2015.

31.12.2012
Dividends receivable

-

Total

-

Thousands of euros
Additions
Accrued
Collected
due to
(Note 20)
merger
136,773
(433,418)
432,407
136,773

(433,418)

432,407

31.12.2013
135,762
135,762

48

14

Cash and cash equivalents

«Cash and cash equivalents» in the accompanying balance sheets at 31 December 2014 and 2013 relates
basically to demand and time deposits held with CaixaBank.
The interest rate on the debit balances in the demand deposit is average three-month Euribor plus 20bp.
In 2014, Criteria CaixaHolding opened several deposits with CaixaBank, earning interest at a minimum nominal
rate of 0.40% and a maximum of 1.47%. At 31 December 2014, deposited held totalled EUR 449,475 thousand,
EUR 275,000 of which is with CaixaBank.
The interest earned in 2014 and 2013 on the cash deposited in the demand and time deposits amounted to
EUR 2,028 thousand and EUR 1,228 thousand, recognised under «Finance income» in the accompanying
income statement (see Note 20).

15

Equity

a)

Share capital

At 31 December 2013, the Company’s share capital was represented by 34,538,000 ordinary shares with a par
value of EUR 40 each, fully subscribed and paid.
The transfer to Criteria of the assets and liabilities not assigned to ”la Caixa” welfare projects (see Notes 1 and
2) comprised a non-monetary contribution due to spin-off of the business. Accordingly, on 14 October 2014,
the share capital of the Company was increased through the issue of 10,890,584 new shares in Criteria, fully
subscribed and paid by the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation, for a total par value of EUR 435,623,360 and with a
share premium of EUR 2,445,367,100.
Moreover, 4 December 2014, the Company approved a further capital increase for EUR 17,022,440, through
the issue and circulation of 425,561 new shares with a par value of EUR 40 each, along with a share premium
of EUR 195,758,062. The new shares were fully subscribed and paid by the Sole Shareholder, the ”la Caixa”
Banking Foundation, through the non-monetary contribution of the total capital of Foment Immobiliari
Assequible, SAU (see Notes 1 and 9.1).
At 31 December 2014, the Company’s share capital was represented by 45,854,145 ordinary shares with a par
value of EUR 40 each, fully subscribed and paid.
b)

Share premium

The balance of the item «Share premium» originated as a result of the two above-mentioned operations. At 31
December 2014, the share premium stood at EUR 2,641,125 thousand.
The Corporate Enterprise Act (Ley de Sociedades de Capital) expressly allows the balance of the share premium
account to be used to increase capital and does not establish any specific restriction on such use.
c)

Reserves

The breakdown is as follows:

Legal reserve
Other reserves
Total

Thousands of euros
31.12.2014
31.12.2013
35,593
24,587
12,132,415
7,143,452
12,168,008
7,168,039
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Legal reserve
Under the Spanish Corporate Enterprises Act (Ley de Sociedades de Capital), 10% of net profit for each year
must be transferred to the legal reserve until the balance of this reserve reaches at least 20% of the share
capital. The legal reserve can be used to increase capital provided that the remaining reserve balance does not
fall below 10% of the increased share capital amount.
Otherwise, until the legal reserve exceeds 20% of share capital, it can only be used to offset losses, and then
only if insufficient other reserves are available for this purpose.
At the end of 2014, the balance of this reserve had not reached the legally required minimum.
Other reserves
In 2014, the contribution of the spin-off to Criteria of assets and liabilities not assigned to ”la Caixa” welfare
projects had a significant positive impact on reserves of EUR 4,970,914 thousand (see Note 2).
As a result of the merger between Servihabitat XXI, SAU (now Criteria) and Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU
(absorbed company) in 2013, a positive merger reserve of EUR 7,727,452 thousand arose.
On 11 April 2013, the board of directors of ”la Caixa”, the Sole Shareholder of Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU,
approved the distribution of EUR 584,000 thousand with a charge to the share premium. This amount was paid
to the Sole Shareholder on 15 April 2013 in a one-off payment. As a result of the subsequent merger between
Servihabitat XXI, SAU (now Criteria) and Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU (the absorbed company) and since the
merger was effective for accounting purposes from 1 January 2013, the distribution was accounted for with a
charge to merger reserves.
d) Dividends approved during the year
On 18 December 2014, Criteria CaixaHolding’s Board of Directors approved the distribution of an interim
dividend against 2014 profits, in the amount of EUR 75,000 thousand, which was paid to ”la Caixa” on 24
December 2014 (see Note 3).
On 13 June 2013, Criteria CaixaHolding’s Board of Directors approved the distribution of an interim dividend
against 2013 profits, in the amount of EUR 81,000 thousand, which was paid to ”la Caixa” on 17 June 2013.
e)

Valuation adjustments

Available-for-sale financial assets
This item in the accompanying balance sheet includes the amount, net of the related tax effect, of the
differences between the market value and acquisition cost (net gains/losses) of assets classified as available
for sale (see Note 10). These differences are recognised in the income statement when the assets that give rise
to them are sold or when impairment is recognised.
Cash flow hedges
This equity item in the accompanying balance sheet includes the amount, net of the tax effect, of changes in
value of the financial derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, in respect of the effective portion of the
aforementioned changes.
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Changes in valuation adjustments in 2014 and 2013 are as follows:
2014

Thousands of euros
Additions – Gains

Balance

Reductions –
(Losses)
(Losses)

31.12.2013

(before taxes)

Available-for-sale financial assets
Cash flow hedges
Total

Deferred

transferred

tax assets
and
liabilities

to profit and
loss
net of tax

Balance
31.12.2014

2,416

8,850

(2,655)

(3,332)

5,279

-

(4,557)

1,367

-

(3,190)

2,416

4,293

(1,288)

(3,332)

2,089

2013

Thousands of euros

Balance
31.12.2012
Available-for-sale financial
assets

f)

Amounts

-

Additions
due to
merger
11,311

Additions –
Gains
Reductions –
(Losses)
(Losses)
(before taxes)

Amounts
Deferred

transferred

tax
assets
liabilities
and

to profit and
loss
net of tax

(6,499)

1,950

(4,346)

Balance
31.12.2013
2,416

Contracts with the Sole Shareholder

At 31 December 2014, the Company had entered into a licencing agreement for distinctive signs and domain
names with the Sole Shareholder (see Note 21).
The loan contracts entered into by the Company with the Sole Shareholder in force at 31 December 2013
have been cancelled as a result of the spin-off explained in Notes 1 and 2.
16

Non-current provisions

Movement in this item during 2014 was as follows:
Thousands of euros

Portfolio provisions (Note 9.1)
Provisions for legal and
other contingencies
Total

Balance at
31.12.2013

Additions
due to spinoff (Note 2)

Allowances

150,179

-

-

293
150,472

7,116
7,116

4,244
4,244

Transfers
and other

Balance at
31.12.2014

-

(150,179)

-

(1,000)
(1,000)

(1,115)
(151,294)

9,538
9,538

Charges

In 2013, the impairment loss exceeding the cost of investments in Group companies was recognised under this
item in the accompanying balance sheet. In 2014, as a result of the Company’s contribution of capital to
Servihabitat Alquiler, SL and Servihabitat Alquiler II, SLU by offsetting the principal of participating loans, this
provision was transferred to «Investments in Group companies» (see Note 9.1).
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Financial liabilities (current and non-current)

The spin-off to Criteria of assets and liabilities not assigned to ”la Caixa” welfare projects had a material impact
on «Current financial liabilities» and «Non-current financial liabilities», and «Current payables to Group
companies, jointly controlled entities and associates» and «Non-current payables to Group companies, jointly
controlled entities and associates». The balances of these items at year-end 2014 and 2013 and at 1 January
2014 are therefore provided hereon (see Note 2).

31.12.2014
NonCurrent
current
Bonds and other marketable debt securities (Note
17.1)
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (Note 17.2)
Derivative financial instruments (Note 18)
Other financial liabilities (Note 17.3)
Total financial liabilities
Bonds and other marketable debt securities (Note
17.1)
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (Note 17.2)
Derivative financial instruments (Note 18)
Other financial liabilities (Note 17.3)
Total payables to Group companies and associates

Thousands of euros
1.1.2014(*)
NonCurrent
current

31.12.2013
NonCurrent
current

6,196,467
872,188
109,999
2,507
7,181,161

17,455
1,189
18,644

8,128,369
6,375
2,611
8,137,355

58,972
7
58,979

2,611
2,611

-

999,000
646,557
2,979
1,648,536

15,999
3,577
46,580
66,156

1,350,000
34,081
1,384,081

33,345
537
33,882

1,350,000
950,000
2,300,000

33,345
537
33,882

Total
8,829,697
84,800
9,521,436
92,861
2,302,611
33,882
(*) Balances at 1.1.2014 having recognised the spin-off of assets and liabilities from the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation to Criteria. See Note
2, «Comparison of information»

Details of financial liabilities by maturity are as follows:
December 2014
(Thousands of euros)
Bonds and other marketable debt
securities (nominal amount)
Interest-bearing
loans
and
borrowings (nominal amount)
Premiums and borrowing costs
Derivative financial instruments
Other financial liabilities
Total financial liabilities

2015

2016

2017

2018

More than
five years

2019

Total

33,454

-

2,255,499

-

1,000,000

3,999,000

7,287,953

4,766
46,580
84,800

-

(51,500)
108,421
2,312,420

-

1,175,000
(13,787)
4,557
2,507
2,168,277

350,000
4,349,000

1,529,766
(65,287)
112,978
49,087
8,914,497

-

1 January 2014
(Thousands of euros)
Bonds and other marketable debt
securities (nominal amount)
Valuation adjustments, subordinated
bonds
Interest-bearing
loans
and
borrowings (nominal amount)
Premiums and borrowing costs
Derivative financial instruments
Other financial liabilities
Total financial liabilities

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

More than
five years

Total

92,846

-

-

2,255,499

-

6,850,000

9,198,345

-

-

-

-

-

441,857

441,857

(529)
544
92,861

-

-

(68,987)
6,375
2,192,887

2,611
2,611

34,081
7,325,938

(69,516)
40,456
3,155
9,614,297
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December 2013
(Thousands of euros)

2014

Bonds and other marketable debt
securities (nominal amount)
Interest-bearing
loans
and
borrowings (nominal amount)
Premiums and borrowing costs
Derivative financial instruments
Other financial liabilities
Total financial liabilities

2015

2016

2017

2018

More than
five years

Total

33,345

-

-

-

-

1,350,000

1,383,345

537
33,882

280,000
280,000

270,000
270,000

400,000
400,000

2,611
2,611

1,350,000

950,000
3,148
2,336,493

The interest accrued and the issue expenses for all debts with Group companies and third parties amounted to
EUR 376,085 thousand and are recognised under «Finance costs» in the accompanying income statement (see
Note 20).
At 31 December 2014, interest payable for bonds and other marketable debt securities and interest-bearing
loans and borrowings total EUR 17,455 thousand and EUR 1,189 thousand, respectively.
Meanwhile, interest payable for bonds and other marketable debt securities and interest-bearing loans and
borrowings due to Group companies and associates amounts to EUR 15,999 thousand and EUR 3,577
thousand, respectively.
17.1

Bonds and other marketable debt securities

Details of this item in the balance sheet are as follows:

(Thousands of euros)

Plain vanilla bonds
Subordinated debentures
Convertible bonds
Total
Plain vanilla bonds, Group companies and
associates
Total
Bonds and other marketable debt securities

31.12.2014
NonCurrent
current
992,468
15,421
4,495,662
1,284
708,337
750
6,196,467
17,455

1.1.2014(*)
NonCurrent
current
49,490
7,432,823
8,750
695,546
732
8,128,369
58,972

31.12.2013
NonCurrent
current
-

999,000
999,000

15,999
15,999

1,350,000
1,350,000

33,345
33,345

1,350,000
1,350,000

33,345
33,345

7,195,467

33,454

9,478,369

92,317

1,350,000

33,345

(*) See Note 2, «Comparison of information»

Plain vanilla bonds
On 30 April 2014, ”la Caixa” approved the terms and conditions of an unsecured plain vanilla (senior) bond
issue for a total nominal amount of EUR 1,000 million. The issue price was 99.577%, with an annual return of
2.375%. The investment was aimed exclusively at Spanish and foreign qualified and/or institutional investors.
The issue closed and the bonds were allocated on 9 May 2014, maturing in five years. This issue formed part of
the spin-off of assets and liabilities not assigned to ”la Caixa” welfare projects to Criteria described in Notes 1
and 2.
At 1 January 2014 and also comprising part of the spun-off assets and liabilities, this item included a plain
vanilla bond issue of 1,000 bonds with a par value of EUR 50,000, offering a nominal annual coupon at the
three-month Euribor plus a spread of 50bp and maturing on 14 December 2014. Criteria redeemed these
bonds at that date.
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Subordinated debentures
After obtaining the necessary authorisation from the Bank of Spain, an issue totalling EUR 2,500 million
forming part of the assets and liabilities not assigned to ”la Caixa” welfare projects spun off to Criteria was
redeemed early in full on 28 May 2014 (see Notes 1 and 2). The redemption price was 100% of the nominal
amount of the issue, plus, where applicable, the accrued unpaid coupon. An interest rate derivative had been
arranged to hedge this issue, for which the Company paid an effective variable rate tied to the three-month
Euribor rate plus a spread of 200bp. This hedge was terminated in April 2014, giving rise to a cash inflow of
EUR 158,150 thousand (see Note 18).
At 31 December 2014, this item comprises:
-

The issue by ”la Caixa” on 23 March 2010 (maturing on 30 March 2020) for a nominal amount of EUR
3,000 million in subordinated debt at a fixed rate of interest of 4.91% until 29 March 2011, after
which it switched to a floating rate at the three-month Euribor plus 1% per annum, with a guaranteed
floor of 3.94% and a ceiling of 5.87%. At 31 December 2013, an interest rate derivative had been
arranged for the subordinated debt issue of EUR 3,000 million, for which the Company paid an
effective variable rate tied to the 3-month Euribor rate plus a spread of 100bp, respectively. This
derivative was cancelled on 9 May 2014 generating a cash inflow of EUR 372,907 thousand, which the
Company will accrue until the issue matures (see Note 20). At 31 December 2014, the accrued
balance was EUR 254,321 thousand, recognised under «Non-current accruals» in the accompanying
balance sheet.

-

The issue by ”la Caixa” on 15 December 2011 of EUR 1,505 million in subordinated debt at an interest
rate of 7.50%, maturing in January 2017. The interest rate derivative arranged by ”la Caixa” to hedge
this issue was cancelled in January 2013. This generated a cash inflow of EUR 77,870 thousand,
accrued until the issue matures. At 31 December 2014, the accrued balance was EUR 39,744
thousand, recognised under «Non-current accruals» in the accompanying balance sheet, as it was
included in the assets and liabilities spun off to Criteria (see Note 2).

Marketable debt securities
In November 2013, ”la Caixa” issued bonds exchangeable for 164.8 million CaixaBank shares for a total
nominal amount of EUR 750 million, which were included in the assets and liabilities spun off to Criteria (see
Notes 1 and 2). The bonds were issued at par and mature on 25 November 2017. The bonds bear a fixed
interest annual interest rate of 1%, payable monthly in arrears. The price of the shares used in the exchange
was set at EUR 4.55, or 3.37% of share capital when issued, assuming the bonds are exchanged. Under the
issue terms, if the CaixaBank share price at maturity is above EUR 4.55, Criteria must deliver 164.8 million
CaixaBank shares to bondholders who request them. If it is below EUR 4.55, Criteria must reimburse the
nominal amount of the bond via delivery of 164.8 million shares plus the necessary cash up to the nominal
amount, or by delivering the entire nominal amount in cash. Criteria may choose between the two.
The issue is considered a compound financial instrument, comprising a financial liability and an embedded
derivative (see Notes 18 and 20).
Plain vanilla bonds, Group companies and associates
On 28 June 2012, the Company issued 27 bonds of EUR 50 million nominal value each, which were subscribed
and paid in full in cash by CaixaBank, SA for a total amount of EUR 1,350 million. In July 2014, Criteria
CaixaHolding reduced the nominal value of the plain vanilla bonds to EUR 37 million each. This decreased the
total value of the plain vanilla bonds to EUR 999 million. The coupon on these bonds is tied to the Euribor at
six-months plus a spread of 2.9%, and matures on 1 January 2020.
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Fair value of bonds and other marketable debt securities
At 31 December 2014, the fair value of the plain vanilla bonds and other marketable debt securities totalled
EUR 7.389,991 thousand. Fair value was estimated based on discounted cash flows, bearing in mind the
estimate of interest rate, credit and liquidity risks in the discount rate.
17.2

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

In 2014, four loan agreements were entered into with various financial institutions outside the Group for a
total of EUR 875,000 thousand, all maturing after five years or more (between 2019 and 2021) and bearing a
floating interest rate tied to the three-month Euribor plus a spread of between 1.5% and 2.25%.
Furthermore, on 27 May 2014, a loan for EUR 650,000 thousand was arranged with CaixaBank, SA bearing a
floating rate linked to the three-month Euribor plus a spread of 2%, maturing on 30 June 2019.
At 31 December 2014, 77% of the amount of these loans was hedged by interest rate derivatives (see Note
18).
17.3

Other financial liabilities

«Other financial liabilities» included EUR 2,507 thousand in long-term security deposits collected from the
lessees of properties (EUR 2,611 thousand at 31 December 2013).
«Other current financial liabilities with Group companies and associates» includes EUR 46,580 thousand
payable to CaixaBank to settle the income tax expense for the year (see Note 19).
18

Derivative financial instruments

The Company uses derivative financial instruments to hedge the risks to which its activities, operations and
future cash flows are exposed. These arrangements included taking out the following hedges:
Thousands of euros
31.12.2014 1.1.2014(*) 31.12.2013
ASSETS
Hedging derivative financial instruments
Fair value hedges
Total non-current

-

484,424
484,424

-

Trading derivative financial instruments

(108,421)

(6,375)

-

Hedging derivative financial instruments
Fair value hedges
Cash flow hedges
Total non-current

(4,557)
(112,978)

(34,081)
(40,456)

-

Total derivative financial instruments

(112,978)

443,968

-

LIABILITIES

(*) See Note 2, «Comparison of information»

Interest rate hedge contracts
a)

Cash flow hedge contracts

The table below provides information on hedging derivative contracts at 31 December 2014:
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Type of contract

Floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps

Thousands of euros
Fair value
Notional

(4,557)

1,175,000

Notional interest
rate

Maturity
May-June
2019

0.28%

Hedges have been entered into with CaixaBank on these for a nominal amount of EUR 800,000 thousand.
The impact in the income statement of settling these derivative financial instruments is recognised under
«Finance costs» (see Note 20).
To determine the fair value of the interest rate derivatives, the Company used valuations based on the analysis
of discounted cash flows, under the assumption that they are mainly based on the existing market conditions
at the balance sheet date.
b)

Fair value hedge contracts

An interest rate derivative had been arranged for the EUR 2,500 million and EUR 3,000 million subordinated
debt issues included in the assets and liabilities spun off from ”la Caixa” to Criteria (see Notes 1, 2 and 17) , for
which the Company pays a floating rate tied to the three-month Euribor plus a spread of 200bp and 100bp,
respectively. Both hedges were cancelled in April and May 2014, generating a cash inflow of EUR 158,150
thousand and EUR 372,907 thousand. Since the EUR 2,500 million issue was redeemed early on 28 May 2014,
the cash inflow of EUR 158,150 thousand was recognised in full under «Net finance income/(expense) –
Impairment losses and gains/(losses) on disposal of financial instruments» in the income statement. The cash
inflow of EUR 372,907 thousand is accrued by the Company until the issue’s maturity.
Trading derivatives
This balance sheet item comprises the derivative embedded in the issue of bonds exchangeable for CaixaBank
shares of EUR 750 million (see Note 17). Changes in the value of this embedded derivative are recognised in
the income statement under «Changes in fair value of financial instruments» (see Note 20).
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Tax position

a) Tax receivables and payables
Thousands of euros
31.12.2014
31.12.2013
Current

VAT refundable
Deferred tax assets
Other
Total tax receivables
Personal income tax withholdings payable
VAT payable
Accrued social security taxes payable
Deferred tax liabilities
Total tax payables

689
689
10,794
548
90
11,432

Non-current

948,814
948,814
2,262
2,262

Current

7,089
16
7,105
397
144
74
615

Noncurrent
1,005,072
1,005,072
318,846
318,846
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b) Tax consolidation
In accordance with Transitional Provision 42 of the consolidated text of the Corporation Tax Law introduced by
Law 26/2013, of 27 December, governing savings banks and banking foundations, and based on the
restructuring transactions envisaged in the Group pursuant to that Law, the Company files consolidated tax
returns, as a subsidiary, as part of tax group no. 20/1991, whose parent company is CaixaBank.
Since 1 January 2014, the Company has also belonged to the consolidated tax group for value added tax (VAT)
whose parent company has been ”la Caixa” since 2008.
c) Reconciliation of accounting profit/(loss) to taxable profit/(tax loss)
Income tax is calculated on the basis of accounting profit/(loss) obtained by applying generally accepted
accounting principles, which does not necessarily coincide with taxable profit/(tax loss).
The reconciliation of accounting profit/(loss) to taxable profit/(tax loss) is as follows:

2014
Thousands of euros
Increase
Profit/(Loss) before tax
Permanent differences:
Differences between carrying amount and tax base of investments transferred
Impairment of portfolio
Retrospective accounting adjustment of the spin-off of ”la Caixa” assets and
liabilities to Criteria (Notes 1 and 2)
Restriction over tax deductibility of finance costs
Other
Temporary differences:
Differences between carrying amount and tax base of investments transferred
Impairment losses on financial instruments – Available-for-sale financial assets
Impairment of portfolio
Credit loss provisions
Other provisions
Impairment of inventories and non-current assets held for sale
Depreciation and amortisation
Change in value of embedded derivative
Non-deductible accounting depreciation and amortisation charges
Stabilisation reserves
Taxable profit/(Tax loss)

Decrease

Amount

-

-

104,172

2,134

(27,973)
-

(27,973)
2,134

-

(51,603)

(51,603)

58,931
236

-

58,931
236

17,265
49,125
2,157
26,315
638,471
2,400
42,702
3,290
216

(10,198)
(876)
(1,468)
(698,282)
(475)
(70)
(34)

7,067
(876)
49,125
689
26,315
(59,811)
1,925
42,702
3,220
182
156,435
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2013
Thousands of euros
Increase Decrease
Profit/(Loss) before tax
Permanent differences:
Differences between carrying amount and tax base of investments transferred
Other

Amount
(64,907)

1,693

(13,156)
-

(13,156)
1,693

Temporary differences:
Differences between carrying amount and tax base of investments transferred
13,250 (105,467) (92,217)
Provisions for equity deficits of Group companies and associates
86,296
86,296
Impairment losses on financial instruments – Available-for-sale financial assets
876
876
Credit loss provisions
1,468
(1,825)
(357)
Impairment losses on inventories, non-current assets held for sale and investment property 698,282 (790,016) (91,734)
Depreciation and amortisation
475
(201)
273
Non-deductible accounting depreciation and amortisation charges
3,062
3,062
Differences in depreciation and amortisation rates
453
453
Taxable profit/(Tax loss)
(169,718)

The difference between the taxable profit or tax loss and the accounting profit or loss relates basically to: (i)
certain provisions for impairment losses on inventories and non-current assets held for sale considered to be
non-deductible; (ii) differences between the carrying amounts and tax bases of investments transferred during
the year; (iii) the effect of provisions for impairment of investments in Group companies (Note 9); (iv) a
negative adjustment to correct the retrospective application for accounting purposes to 1 January, 2011 of the
non-monetary contribution described in Notes 1 and 2; (v) non tax-deductible finance costs; and (vi) non taxdeductible accounting provisions.
As a result of the differences between accounting and tax legislation and of the Company’s taxation as part of
the consolidated tax group, the tax expense/(rebate) calculated on the basis of accounting profit/(loss) differs
from the tax settlement that determines the income tax payable to/(refundable from) the tax authorities. This
results in the recognition of deferred tax assets, for the excess tax paid with respect to the accrued tax, and
deferred tax liabilities, for the excess accrued income tax with respect to the tax payable.
d) Reconciliation of accounting profit/(loss) to the income tax expense/(rebate)
The reconciliation of accounting profit/(loss) to the income tax expense/(rebate) in 2014 and 2013 is as
follows:
2014
Thousands of
euros
Accounting profit before tax
Permanent differences

104,172
(18,275)

Tax rate (30%)

(25,769)

Deductions
Derecognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities due to tax reform and adjustment of
prior year’s income tax and others

133,016

Total income tax rebate recognised in profit or loss

242,169

134,922

58

2013
Thousands of
euros
Accounting loss before tax
Permanent differences

(64,907)
(11,463)

Tax rate (30%)

22,911

Deductions
Derecognition of deferred tax assets and adjustment of prior year’s income tax

151,877
174

Total income tax rebate recognised in profit or loss

174,962

e) Deferred tax assets/liabilities
Details of deferred tax assets are as follows (in thousands of euros):
2014
Thousands of euros
Additions due
to spin-off
Movements
(Note 2)
in the year
Transfers

31.12.2013
Temporary differences (deferred tax assets):
Credit loss provision
Depreciation and amortisation
Inventory write-downs
Impairment losses on investments in Group
companies
Increase in fair value of available-for-sale
financial assets
Differences between carrying amount and tax
base
Valuation adjustments to cash flow hedges
Other
Tax loss carryforwards
Deductions
Total deferred tax assets

31.12.2014

441
1,590
209,567

-

207
1,070
(17,366)

27,438

648
2,660
219,639

45,720

-

(10,812)

-

34,908

3,059

-

(3,059)

-

-

163,633
159
227,482
353,421
1,005,072

2016
2,016

(163,633)
1,367
5,868
133,016
(53,342)

(34,446)
2,076
(4,932)

1,367
8,043
193,036
488,513
948,814

2013
Thousands of euros
Additions due Movements
31.12.2012
to merger
in the year
Transfers
Temporary differences (deferred tax
assets):
Credit loss provision
Depreciation and amortisation
Inventory write-downs
Impairment losses on investments in Group
companies
Other
Increase in fair value of available-for-sale
financial assets
Differences between carrying amount and tax
base
Tax loss carryforwards
Deductions
Total deferred tax assets

31.12.2013

548
575
237,005

-

(107)
1,015
(27,438)

-

441
1,590
209,567

19,831
159

-

25,889
-

-

45,720
159

-

4,848

(1,789)

-

3,059

258,118

193,182
201,544
399,574

(29,549)
50,915
151,877
170,813

176,567
176,567

163,633
227,482
353,421
1,005,072
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Details of «Deferred tax liabilities» are as follows (in thousands of euros):

2014

31.12.2013
Arising from changes in fair value of available-for-sale
financial assets
Arising from differences between carrying amount and
tax base
Total deferred tax liabilities

Thousands of euros
Movements in
the year

31.12.2014

1,035

1,227

2,262

317,811
318,846

(317,811)
(316,584)

2,262

2013
Thousands of euros
Additions
due to
Movements
merger
in the year 31.12.2014

31.12.2012
Arising from changes in fair value of available-for-sale
financial assets
Arising from differences between carrying amount
and tax base
Total deferred tax liabilities

-

4,848

(3,813)

1,035

-

321,786
326,634

(3,975)
(7,788)

317,811
318,846

Monetisable deferred tax assets in accordance with Royal Legislative Decree 14/2013, of 29 November, total
EUR 219,639 thousand at 31 December 2014.
The deferred tax assets indicated above were recognised in the balance sheet because the Company’s
directors considered that, based on their best estimate of the future earnings of the Company and of the tax
group, it is probable that these assets will be recovered.
The deferred tax assets and liabilities relating to available-for-sale financial assets arise when these assets are
measured at fair value (see Note 10).
Impact of the tax reform
Pursuant to the amendments introduced by Law 27/2014, of 27 November, on income tax, certain deferred
tax assets and liabilities arising from differences between the carrying amounts and tax bases of investments
have been cancelled. This means that Criteria recognised a higher net income tax rebate due to the
cancellation of deferred tax assets and liabilities of EUR 127,027 thousand.
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f) Tax loss and tax credit carryforwards
Details of the tax loss carryforwards generated by the Company pending offset by the tax group and the
amounts therefore are as follows:

2014

Year
2013
2012
Total

Thousands of
euros
54,894
588,555
643,449

Year
2013
2012
Total

Thousands of
euros
169,718
588,555
758,273

2013

The Company’s directors consider that the tax group to which the Company belongs will generate sufficient
taxable profits to be able to fully recover the tax assets recognised.
The reduction in the effective tax loss incurred by the Company in 2013 is affected by the application of the
provisions of Royal Legislative Decree 14/2013, of 29 November, on monetisable deferred tax assets.
Moreover, EUR 22,248 thousand was offset by the tax group in the tax group’s final income tax return for 2013
and are payable to the Company as part of the accounts receivable from ”la Caixa” (see Note 21). The rest of
the tax loss of EUR 54,894 thousand is recognised under «Tax loss carryforwards».
The tax credit carryforwards at 31 December 2014 include mainly double taxation tax credits. Details of the tax
credits reported each year are as follows:
Year
2014
2013
2012
2011
Total

Thousands of euros
135,092
151,877
139,936
61,608
488,513

Furthermore, in 2012, Criteria (the absorbed company) obtained profit on of EUR 26,998 thousand which a tax
credit for reinvestment of extraordinary profit could be applied and recorded credits of EUR 3,240 thousand.
The total amount obtained from the transfers generated by the extraordinary profits was reinvested by the tax
group in 2012 in equity securities granting holdings in excess of 5%, and in property and equipment, intangible
assets and investment property relating to the business activity.
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g) Years open for review and tax inspection
Under current legislation, taxes cannot be deemed to have been definitively settled until the tax returns filed
have been inspected by the tax authorities or until the four-year statute-of-limitations period has expired. At
2014 year end, the Company had the last four years open for review for the main taxes applicable. The
Company’s directors consider that the tax returns for the aforementioned taxes have been filed correctly and,
therefore, even in the event of discrepancies in the interpretation of current tax legislation in relation to the
tax treatment afforded to certain transactions, such liabilities as might arise would not have a material effect
on the accompanying financial statements.
h) Transactions operating under a special tax scheme
In accordance with Article 93 of the consolidated text of the Corporation Tax Law following is a list of
transactions carried out in 2014 by the Company under the special tax scheme established in chapter VIII of
title VII of Royal Legislative Decree 4/2004, of 5 March, approving the consolidated text of the Corporation Tax
Law:
-

As explained in Notes 1 and 2 regarding the spin-off to Criteria of the assets and liabilities not
assigned to ”la Caixa” welfare projects, the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation carried out a non-monetary
contribution of CaixaBank shares, debt securities of which the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation was the
issuer, and other associated assets and liabilities, receiving in return shares in Criteria for the same
amount. In accordance with Article 93 of the consolidated text of the Corporation Tax Law, listed
below are those assets that were acquired and that have been included in Criteria’s accounting
because their value is different than their value they had in the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation:

Carrying amount, Criteria

Carrying amount, ”la Caixa”

(Thousands of euros)
CaixaBank shares

-

14,654,620

9,713,597

Share exchange carried out through issuance of new Criteria shares subscribed by the ”la Caixa”
Banking Foundation through the contribution of its ownership interest in Foment Immobiliari
Assequible, SAU.

Information on transactions carried out under the special tax scheme in prior years is disclosed in the notes on
the tax position to the financial statements corresponding to those years.
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Income and expenses

a) Revenue
Return on equity investments
The breakdown of «Return on equity investments» in the accompanying income statement, which reflects
dividends received from investees in 2014 and 2013, is as follows:

Company
CaixaBank, SA
Gas Natural, S.D.G., SA
Abertis Infraestructuras, SA
Hisusa, Holding de Infraestructuras y Servicios Urbanos, SA
Inversiones Autopistas, SL
Palau Migdia, SL
Total

Thousands of euros
2014
2013
72,096
310,057
310,026
87,672
81,173
19,296
19,306
22,461
21,402
500
500
512,082
432,407

Changes in fair value of financial instruments
This income statement item basically comprises the change in fair value of the derivative embedded in the
issue of bonds exchangeable for CaixaBank shares of EUR 750 million (see Note 18).
Gains/(losses) on disposal of equity instruments (net)
This income statement item relates primarily to gains on the sale of shares and investments held by the
Company (see Notes 9 and 10). Details of net gains/(losses) on disposal of equity instruments in 2014 and 2013
are as follows:

Company
Abertis Infraestructuras, SA
Gas Natural, S.D.G., SA
Hisusa, Holding de Infraestructuras y Servicios Urbanos, SA
Inmobiliaria Colonial, SA
Servihabitat Gestión Inmobiliaria, SLU
Metrovacesa, SA
Others
Total

Thousands of euros
2014
2013
150,297
14,789
6,543
(6,206)
4,760
81,386
6,208
(204)
13,139
244,434

Sales and services
The breakdown of «Sales» in the accompanying income statement for 2014 and 2013 is as follows:
Thousands of euros
2014
2013
Real estate sales
Building leases (Note 4.c)
Total

15,452
21,432
36,884

7,983
26,667
34,650
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«Services» reflects the revenue from services rendered to Group companies (EUR 3,320 thousand in 2014 and
EUR 4,605 thousand in 2013), especially CaixaBank, SA, concerning the management and administration of
investees (see Note 21).
b) Personnel expenses
The breakdown of «Personnel expenses» in the accompanying income statements for 2014 and 2013 is as
follows:
Thousands of euros
2014
Wages and salaries and termination benefits
Social security contributions
Other employee benefits
Total

2013

(10,909)
(991)
(1,222)
(13,122)

(7,372)
(733)
(450)
(8,555)

In 2014, EUR 2,702 thousand comprises the expenses of the personnel joining the Company as a result of the
spin-off to Criteria CaixaHolding of assets and liabilities not assigned to ”la Caixa” welfare projects.
The average number of employees, by professional category, in 2014 and 2013 is as follows:

Professional category

2014

Executives
Managers
Administrative staff
Total

2013
10
41
14

8
38
16
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The distribution by gender and professional category at the 2014 and 2013 year ends is as follows:
2014
Professional category

Male

2013
Female

Male

Female

Executives
Managers
Administrative staff

10
27
1

24
11

7
20
2

2
16
14

Total

38

35

29

32
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c) Other operating expenses
Leases
The most significant operating lease held by the Company as the lessee at 2014 year end was the lease from
CaixaBank of the offices of Criteria, located at Avenida Diagonal 621-629, Barcelona and at Paseo de la
Castellana, 51, Madrid.
At year-end 2014, the Company had the following future minimum lease payments with CaixaBank, in
accordance with existing contracts, without taking into account community costs, future inflation-linked rent
increases, nor future contractually-agreed rent increases:

Operating leases
Minimum lease payments
Less than one year
Between one and five years
More than five years
Total

Thousands of euros
2014
2013
2,069
939
3,956
1,763
6,025
2,702

Operating lease payments recognised as expenses in 2014 are included under «Other operating expenses» and
amounted to EUR 2,337 thousand.
Fees paid to auditors
In 2014 and 2013 the fees for financial audit and other services provided by the auditor of the Company’s
financial statements, Deloitte, SL, and the fees billed by companies related to these auditors as a result of a
relationship of control, common ownership or common management, were as follows (in thousands of euros):
Services provided by the
auditors and by companies
related to the auditors
2014

2013

Audit services
Other attest services

270
295

378
48

Total audit and related services
Tax advisory services
Other services

565
-

426
18

Total professional services

565

444

d) Information on payments to suppliers: Additional Provision Three. Disclosure requirements of Law
15/2010 of 5 July
The entry into force of Law 15/2010, of 5 July, amending Law 3/2004, of 29 December, establishing measures
to combat late payment in commercial transactions, establishes the obligation for companies to expressly
publish information on the payment periods to their suppliers in the notes to the financial statements.
Pursuant to this disclosure obligation, on 31 December 2010, the corresponding resolution issued by the
Spanish Accounting and Audit Institute (ICAC) was published in the Official State Gazette (BOE).

65

In accordance with Transitional Provision Two of this ruling, following is a breakdown of the information
required relating to payments made and pending at the balance sheet date:

31.12.2014
Amount
(Thousands of
euros)
Payments made within statutory period
Others
Total payments in the year
Weighted average period of late payment
exceeding statutory period (days)
Weighted average days late
Payment deferrals surpassing statutory period
at the reporting date

31.12.2013
Amount
(Thousands of
euros)

%

%

87,134

92%

158,477

84%

7,927

8%

30,525

16%

95,061

100%

189,002

100%

115 days

-

129 days

-

55 days

-

69 days

-

45

-

991

-

The Company made payments of EUR 95,061 thousand in 2014, of which EUR 87,134 thousand were paid
within the stipulated maximum statutory period and EUR 7,927 thousand were paid outside the maximum
statutory period.
Weighted average days late were calculated as the quotient whose numerator is the result of multiplying the
payments made to suppliers outside the maximum payment period by the number of days of late payment
and whose denominator is the total amount of the payments made in the year outside the maximum payment
period.
In 2014 and 2013, in accordance with Transitional Provision Two of Law 15/2010, the maximum statutory
periods was 60 days.
e) Impairment and gains/(losses) on disposal of non-current assets
The breakdown of this item in the income statement for 2014 and 2013 is as follows:

Thousands of euros
2014
2013
Impairment of non-current assets
Property and equipment
Investment property
Non-current assets held for sale

(Note 6)
(Note 7)
(Note 11)

(49,699)
(40,578)
(9,121)

(552,114)
(69,154)
(482,960)

Net gains/(losses) on disposal of non-current assets:
Property and equipment
Investment property
Non-current assets held for sale

(Note 6)
(Note 7)
(Note 11)

10,507
7,062
3,445

(31,442)
(176)
(1,784)
(29,482)

(39,192)

(583,556)

Total
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f)

Impairment and other losses on financial instruments

As explained in the corresponding notes, «Investments in Group companies» (see Note 9.1) and «Available-forsale financial assets» (see Note 10), Criteria recognised in this heading the following impairment amounts:

Thousands of euros
2014
Investments in Group companies (Notes 9.1 and 9.4)
Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 10)
Total

g)

2013
(51,259)
(51,259)

(82,885)
(4,287)
(87,172)

Finance income

«Finance income» in the accompanying income statement relates in full to income from marketable debt
securities and other financial instruments, the breakdown of which is as follows:

Thousands of euros
2014
2013

h)

Group companies and associates:
Interest on demand and time deposits at CaixaBank
(Note 14)
Interest on loans to Group companies (Note 9.3)
Other finance income

3,966
2,028

56,400
1,228

578
1,360

54,002
1,170

Third parties:
Interest on bank accounts
Other finance income

3,344
5
3,339

5,678
5,678

Total

7,310

62,078

Finance costs

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying income statement for 2014 and 2013, by types of financial
transaction, is as follows:
Thousands of euros
2014
2013
Group companies and associates:
Finance cost of bonds issued
Interest on loans and others
Derivative financial instruments

(62,497)
(38,712)
(23,526)
(259)

(102,925)
(62,676)
(40,249)
-

Third parties:
Finance cost of bonds issued
Interest on loans and others
Derivative financial instruments

(327,941)
(319,478)
(8,369)
(94)

-

Total

(390,438)

(102,925)
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i)

Impairment losses and gains/(losses) on disposal of financial instruments

At 31 December 2014, this item basically comprises:
-

Accruals of the income from terminating the interest-rate derivatives hedging the subordinated bond
issues with a nominal value of EUR 1,505 million and EUR 3,000 million, respectively (see Notes 17
and 18). Accruals in the income statement for 2014 total EUR 88,943 thousand.

-

It also includes the income from the termination of the interest-rate derivative hedging the
subordinated bond issue with a nominal value of EUR 2,500 million, which was redeemed early in
2014 for EUR 158,150 thousand (see Notes 17 and 18).
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Related-party transactions

a)

Related-party transactions

All transactions with related parties, pursuant to the definition provided in Ministry of Economy and Finance
Order EHA/3050/2004 of 15 September, performed in 2014 were carried out in the course of the Company’s
ordinary activities and on an arm’s length basis. The transactions performed with related entities are disclosed
in the preceding notes, and can be summarised as follows:
 In October 2013, Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona (”la Caixa”) and Criteria Caixaholding, SAU
(“Criteria”) signed a licencing agreement for distinctive signs and domain names through which ”la
Caixa” grants Criteria certain brand licences and the right to use a number of domain names. The
brand licences and use of domain names are for an indefinite period, provided that Criteria remains in
the ”la Caixa” Group, with ”la Caixa” holding a minimum stake in Criteria of over 50%. The brand
licences are granted on a non-exclusive basis for Criteria's own use, except in the case of licences that
are to be sub-licenced to Criteria subsidiaries, in which case they can only be used in relation to the
products and services of said subsidiaries. The right to use domain names authorises Criteria and any
of its subsidiaries in which it holds at least a 50% stake and provided that Criteria's approval is given,
to use these domain names to identify their online resources or to identify the email addresses
associated with each company’s activity.
The licences and rights to use are granted under the aforesaid agreement for as long as Criteria
remains solely owned by ”la Caixa”. The conditions of the agreement may therefore be renegotiated
and fees revised should ”la Caixa” relinquish a significant stake in Criteria's share capital, even when
this does not leading to a loss of control.
The agreement will remain in force for an uninterrupted, indefinite period as from the transformation
of “la Caixa” into the Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona, ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation, which
took place in June 2014.


Lease of Criteria services by CaixaBank relating to the control of management, accounting,
administration and financial management at CaixaBank investees.



Framework agreement for the rendering by CaixaBank of certain services to Criteria, including, as
arranged in an engagement document, internal audit services.



Framework agreement for the rendering by CaixaBank of certain services to Criteria, which were
provided to the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation until the spin-off of assets and liabilities described in
Note 1. By way of engagement documents, among others, CaixaBank renders services to Criteria
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involving preparation of the consolidated financial statements, capital planning and management,
internal control over financial reporting, risk management, tax advice, legal advice, research services,
etc.


Agreement for the rendering by Servihabitat Servicios Inmobiliarios of certain services to Criteria,
which include mainly real estate and back office services concerning Criteria’s properties.



Lease to CaixaBank of Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU’s offices at Avenida Diagonal 621-629, Barcelona
and Paseo de la Castellana 51, Madrid.



The Company has a securities deposit agreement with CaixaBank.



Agreement for Serveis Informàtics la Caixa, SA (Silk) to provide services relating to the maintenance
and management of certain computer software to Criteria CaixaHolding.



Loan of EUR 650 million to Criteria from CaixaBank, SA (See Note 17).



In 2013, a EUR 197,221 thousand credit facility was extended to Mediterránea Beach & Golf
Community, which was cancelled on 14 January 2014 (see Note 9).



Debenture issue by the Company in 2012 fully subscribed and paid in cash by CaixaBank, SA (see Note
17).



In 2014, short-term deposits were arranged with CaixaBank for between EUR 50,000 thousand and
EUR 470,000 thousand, earning interest at a nominal rate of between 0.40% and 1.47%. At 31
December 2014, the Company has a EUR 275,000 thousand deposit with CaixaBank.



In November 2014, Criteria arranged interest-rate derivatives with CaixaBank for a notional amount
of EUR 800,000 thousand and maturing in 2019 (see Note 18).

On the other hand, there are post-employment obligations with senior executives amounting to EUR 6,029
thousand.
In order to strengthen the Group’s transparency, autonomy and good governance, as well as to limit and
regulate conflicts of interest, ”la Caixa” and CaixaBank signed an internal relations protocol on 1 July 2011.
According to the Protocol, any new intragroup service or transaction shall always be made in writing and shall
be governed by the general principles contained therein.
As a result of its transformation into a banking foundation and the conclusion of the indirect exercise of
banking activity through CaixaBank, and in accordance with the provisions of Law 26/2013, of 27 December,
governing savings banks and banking foundations, on 24 July 2014, the foundation’s Board of Trustees
approved a protocol for managing its ownership interest in the financial institution which primarily regulates
the following aspects:
-

The basic strategic lines governing the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation management of its stake in
CaixaBank.

-

Relations between the Board of Trustees and CaixaBank’s governing bodies.

-

The general criteria governing transactions between the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation and
CaixaBank, and the mechanisms to be introduced to prevent potential conflicts of interest.

-

The mechanisms to avoid the emergence of conflicts of interest.
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-

The basic criteria relating to the assignment and use of distinctive signs and domain names owned by
the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation by CaixaBank and the companies in its group.

-

The provision for the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation to have a right of pre-emptive acquisition in the
event of transfer by CaixaBank of Monte de Piedad, which it owns.

-

The basic principles for a possible collaboration so that (a) CaixaBank may implement corporate social
responsibility policies through the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation, and, at the same time (b) the ”la
Caixa” Banking Foundation may disseminate its welfare projects through the CaixaBank branch
network, and where appropriate, through other material means.

-

The flow of adequate information to allow the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation and CaixaBank to
prepare their financial statements and to comply with periodic reporting and supervisory duties with
the Bank of Spain and other regulatory bodies.

Under the scope of this new protocol, a new protocol shall be signed that replaces the internal relations
protocol signed between ”la Caixa” and CaixaBank on 1 July 2011. ”la Caixa” and CaixaBank agreed to renew
the Internal Relations Protocol between the two under all the terms and conditions that were not affected by
the end of the indirect exercise by ”la Caixa” as a credit institution through CaixaBank until the new relations
protocol is adopted.
Criteria CaixaHolding’s Board of Directors took note of the aforementioned management protocol at its
meeting on 18 December 2014.
In addition to the aforementioned transactions, the summary of transactions conducted in 2014 and 2013 with
Group companies and with jointly controlled entities and associates is as follows:

2014
Thousands of euros
2014

Services received
Services rendered
Interest income
Interest expenses
Dividends received
Dividends deducted from cost of
investment
Dividends,
reserves
and
share
premiums distributed
Operating leases
Lease income

Criteria
Group
4,882
3,280
3,377
62,497
94,557
4,998

”la Caixa”
Group
-

Associates
and
jointly controlled
entities 11
589
417,525
-

-

75,000

-

2,684

-

1,762
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2013
Thousands of euros
2013

7
54,002
21,402
-

”la Caixa”
Group
11,467
4,211
1,228
102,925
-

Associates
and
jointly
controlled
68
entities 1,170
411,005
4,998

-

584,000

-

4

4,247

98

Criteria
Group
Services received
Services rendered
Interest income
Interest expenses
Dividends received
Dividends deducted from cost of
investment
Dividends, reserves
premiums distributed
Operating leases
Lease income

b)

and

share

Balances with related parties

Balances with related parties at 31 December 2014 and 2013 were as follows:

2014

Long-term credit facilities
Interest receivable
Current receivables
Non-current credit facilities
Advances
Deposits pledged as collateral
Cash and cash equivalents
Non-current payables
Interest payable
Current payables

Note
(Note 9.3)
(Note 9.3)
(Note 9.3)
(Note 11)

(Note 17)
(Note 17)

Criteria
Group
150,758
75,405
10,199
42
5,028
3,070
346,104
1,648,536
19,576
49,890

Thousands of euros
2014
Associates
”la Caixa”
and
Group
jointly controlled entities
5,847
15
1,893
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2013
Thousands of euros
2013
Associates
Note
Long-term credit facilities
Interest receivable
Current receivables
Current credit facilities
Advances
Cash and cash equivalents
Non-current payables
Interest payable
Current payables
Deposits received as collateral

(Note 9.3)
(Note 9.3)
(Note 9.3)
(Note 11)
(Note 17)
(Note 17)
(Note 17)
(Note 9.2)

Criteria
Group
791,455
89,039
315
9
-

”la Caixa”
Group

and jointly
controlled entities

81,457
10,144
205,613
2,000,000
33,882
11,598
-

7
2,161
17,823

The Company also holds the financial assets described in Note 9.
At 31 December 2014, «Current receivables» includes balances arising from transactions of a commercial
nature and the position arising from the definitive settlement of the income tax for 2013, amounting to EUR
7,805 thousand (Note 19) held with CaixaBank, the parent company of the tax group.
At 31 December 2014, «Current payables» includes balances arising from transactions of a commercial nature
and the position arising from the definitive settlement of the income tax for 2014, amounting to EUR 46,580
thousand (see Note 17).

c)

Remuneration of key management personnel and executives

Remuneration of Directors
Details of the fees for attending meetings of the management bodies and other remuneration received by the
members of the Board of Directors of Criteria CaixaHolding in 2014 and 2013 are as follows:
Thousands of euros
Remuneration paid by Criteria
Remuneration paid by other Group companies
Other remuneration paid by Criteria to directors carrying out executive functions
during the year
Total

2014
2,153
1,686
-

2013
1,811
32
-

3,839

1,843

Remuneration received in 2014 and 2013 by the Board members of Criteria in connection with their duties as
representatives of the Company on the boards of listed companies and other companies in which Criteria has a
significant presence or representation and that are Criteria consolidated companies (excluding Group
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companies) amounted to EUR 1,705 thousand and EUR 381 thousand, recognised in the companies’ respective
income statements.
The expense for civil liability insurance premiums on account of directors and executives totalled EUR 142
thousand in 2014 (this expense was assumed by the Parent of the ”la Caixa” Group in 2013).
In 2014 and 2013 Criteria CaixaHolding made no contributions to pension plans on behalf of Directors.
Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU does not have any pension obligations with former or current members of the
Board of Directors in their capacity as such or any other obligations to them other than those disclosed above.
No agreements are in place establishing termination benefits in the event of the unilateral termination by the
Company of the members of the managing bodies of Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU.
The Company’s Directors did not perform any transactions other than in the normal course of business or
other than at arm’s length with Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU or with Group companies.
Remuneration of Senior Management
Details of remuneration received by Senior Management in 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

Thousands of
euros

Salaries

Per diems

Other
remunerati
on

Pension
plans

Insurance
premiums

Termination
benefits

Share-based
payments

2014

4,262

307

37

162

16

-

-

2013

2,426

83

47

30

20

-

-

There are agreements with members of Senior Management regarding termination benefits for early
termination or rescission of contracts.

Other disclosures concerning the Board of Directors
Conflicts of interest
Article 229.3 of the Corporate Enterprises Act, recently amended by Law 31/2014 of 3 December modifying
the Corporate Enterprises Act to improve corporate governance, in force since 24 December 2014, introduces,
among other duties applicable to directors, the duty to report to the Board of Directors any situation of
conflict of interest, direct or indirect, incurred in by each of the Directors or related parties in respect of the
Company.
In this connection, the Company’s Directors have informed of the following at 31 December 2014:
-

Jean-Louis Chaussade did not attend the meeting of the Board of Directors on 17 July 2014, the first
agenda point of which was to discuss a corporate action agreed with the Suez Group. He did not
attend to abstain from the discussions and voting on the said agreement.

The new regulation governing duties of directors, and specifically, the text of the new articles 229 and 230 of
the Corporate Enterprises Act came into force on 24 December. In compliance with the previous regulation in
force until that date directors were also required to disclose the direct or indirect interests that both they and
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any parties related to them hold in the share capital of a company whose activity is identical, similar or
complementary to that constituting the corporate purpose of the company in question, as well as any
positions or duties they may have had in these companies.
In this connection, the Company’s Directors have reported the following information on their activities and
those of parties related to them at 24 December 2014:

HOLDER

COMPANY

ACTIVITY

% STAKE

NO. OF
SHARES

POSITION

COMPANY REPRESENTED

Javier Godó Muntañola

Grupo Godó de Comunicación, S.A.

Holding

90.50%

434,800

Chairman

-

Javier Godó Muntañola
(related person)

Grupo Godó de Comunicación, S.A.

Holding

8.30%

40,210

-

-

Javier Godó Muntañola

Prisa Radio, S.A.

Holding

18.30%

62,230

-

-

Javier Godó Muntañola

Privat Media, S.L.

Holding

40.00%

2,360,000

Administrator

-

Javier Godó Muntañola
(related person)

Privat Media, S.L.

Holding

60.00%

3,540,000

-

-

Jean-Louis Chaussade

Suez Environnement Company (France)

Water/Cleaning/Holding

0.00%

5,500

Director and CEO

-

Jean-Louis Chaussade

Suez Environnement España, S.L.

Holding

-

-

CEO

-

Jean-Louis Chaussade

Hisusa-Holding de Infraestructuras y
Servicios Urbanos, S.A.

Holding

-

-

Chairman

-

Jean-Louis Chaussade

Sino French Holdings Ltd (China-HK)

Holding/Energy/Water

-

-

Chairman

-

Jean-Louis Chaussade

Sociedad General de Aguas de Barcelona, S.A.

Holding/Water

-

-

Natural person
representative

Suez Environnement España, S.L.

Competition prohibition
Pursuant to article 229.3 of the Corporate Enterprises Act in force, Board members may not carry out for their
own account or the account of others activities which actually or potentially constitute effective competition
with those carried out by the Company or which, in any other way, permanently conflict with the Company's
interests. Article 230 of the Corporate Enterprises Act stipulates that the Company can lift this prohibition if
the Company is not expected to incur damages or it is expected that it will be indemnified for an amount equal
to the benefits expected to be obtained from the exemption. Express and separate approval of the exemption
must be obtained from shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. In this regard, none of the Board
members have notified the Company of any circumstance requiring such an exemption to be considered and, if
applicable, granted.
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Note to the statement of cash flows

Cash and cash equivalents increased by EUR 255,223 thousand with respect to the prior year. This rise was due
to the cash flows from operating and investing activities of EUR 606,966 thousand and EUR 115,437 thousand,
respectively, which offset cash flows used in financing activities of EUR 467,180 thousand.
Operating activities generated cash flows from dividends collected from investees totalling EUR 516,468
thousand (see Note 13) and amounts received on cancellation of interest-rate hedges of EUR 531,057
thousand (see Note 18). These cash flows were reduced by payments made during the year, especially interest
on debts of EUR 314,330 thousand.
The Company’s investing activities in 2014 included divestments of Group companies and associates totalling
EUR 535,733 thousand; basically the sale of the ownership interest in Sociedad General de Aguas de Barcelona
(held through Hisusa), the sale of Gas Natural shares, and the cash flows from the early cancellation of the loan
extended by the Company to Mediterránea Beach&Golf Community (see Note 9). The Company also made
investments of EUR 495,130 thousand, the most significant being: the acquisition of Suez Environnement
shares at market price and the acquisition of an ownership interest in Aigües de Barcelona Empresa
Metropolitana del Cicle Integral de l’Aigua and in Aguas de Valencia, all part of the sale of the Company’s stake
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in Agbar to Suez Environnement (see Notes 9.2 and 10). The Company also increased the capital of
Mediterránea Beach&Golf Community by EUR 196 million (see Note 9.1).
Cash flows from financing activities basically relate to the issue of plain vanilla bonds in the year with a
nominal value of EUR 1,000 million, and subscription of several loans totalling EUR 1,525 million. The Company
also redeemed early a subordinated bonds issue of EUR 2,500 million, and reduced the nominal value of the
plain vanilla bonds fully subscribed by CaixaBank, for a total of EUR 351 million (see Note 17). On 24 December
2014, the Sole Shareholder was paid an interim dividend of EUR 75 million (see Note 3).
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Environmental information

In view of the Company’s business activities, it does not have any environmental expenses, assets, provisions
or contingencies that might be material with respect to its equity, financial position or results. Therefore, no
specific disclosures relating to environmental issues are included in these notes to the financial statements.
With the close cooperation of CaixaBank and the ”la Caixa” Banking Foundation, and through its «Active
Management» policy, involving its presence in the governing bodies of its investees, Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU
continues to develop internal processes for assessing and controlling the social and environmental risk of its
investees in order to be able to guarantee that these organisations work in a responsible and ethical manner.
The energy companies and utilities in which Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU has ownership interests have well
defined corporate responsibility strategies and, in addition, are multinationals which report periodically using
best reporting practices in relation to the implementation of their sustainability strategies. Their commitment
and responsibility have been acknowledged by various Spanish and international bodies in prestigious rankings
or indexes including «FTSE4Good» and the Dow Jones Sustainability Index.
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Risk management

1

Risk management policy

A list of the risks that might affect the profitability of the Company’s activities, its financial solvency and its
corporate reputation as a result of its holdings in financial assets is provided hereon:

Market risk: This includes the value of the ownership interests in other companies, classified as availablefor-sale financial assets, and changes in interest rates.

Liquidity risk: This relates mainly to the lack of liquidity of certain of the Company’s investments or needs
arising from its commitments or investment plans.

Credit risk: This relates mainly to the risk that a counterparty is unable to meet its payment obligations
and to possible losses due to changes in a counterparty’s credit rating. Conceptually, this type of risk includes
investments in the portfolio of Group companies, jointly controlled entities and associates.


Operational risk: Relating to errors in the implementation and execution of operations.

In this connection, the Board of Directors carries out supervisory functions in relation to the performance of
the investees and periodically monitors the control and risk management systems in place.
The Audit and Control Committee’s duties include supervising the process of preparing and presenting
financial reporting and the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control and risk management systems.
75

Management’s priority is to identify the main risks in terms of the most significant businesses and apply
policies with a high degree of decentralisation in view of the wide variety of businesses and their high level of
specialisation.
The Company, in coordination with CaixaBank’s Corporate Risk Models and Policies Division, uses various
methods and tools to assess and monitor risks:
-

For investments not classified as available for sale, and for investments classified as available for sale
but intended to be held on a long-term basis, the most significant risk is default risk and, therefore,
the PD/LGD (Probability of Default and Loss Given Loss) approach is used.

-

For other investments classified as available for sale, the most significant risk is market risk and,
therefore, the market (VaR) approach is used.

These methods and tools make it possible to adequately assess and measure risk exposure and, as a result,
take the decisions required to minimise the impact of these risks with a view to making the following more
stable:

Cash flows, to facilitate financial planning and to be able to take appropriate investment and divestment
decisions.


The income statement, with the aim of promoting medium- and long-term stability and growth.


The value of equity, in order to safeguard the value of the investment made by the Company’s
shareholders.
The main risks and the policies adopted to minimise their impact on the Company’s financial statements are as
follows:
1.1 Market risks
This refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument may vary as a result of changes in price of shares,
interest rates or foreign exchange rates. Possible consequences of these risks are decreases in equity and
losses arising due to changes in market prices and/or for the losses on the positions composing the investment
portfolio, rather than the trading portfolio, at medium to long term.
This type of risk also includes real estate risk, i.e. the risk that a change in value of a real estate asset could lead
to losses for the Company. It includes the value of investments in real estate assets classified as investment
property, non-current assets held for sale and inventories.
Price risk
At 31 December 2014, 96% of the market value of the Company’s investments in equity instruments related to
quoted securities (92% at 31 December 2013). As a result, the Company is exposed to the market risk generally
associated with quoted companies. The quoted securities are exposed to fluctuations in price and trading
volume due to factors beyond the Company’s control.
The Company has specialised teams that continually monitor investee transactions, in accordance with the
degree of influence the Group has in these companies. The teams use a combination of indicators that are
updated periodically. Also, in conjunction with CaixaBank’s Corporate Risk Models and Policies Division,
investment risk measurements are taken, both from the standpoint of the risk inherent in market price
volatility, using Value at Risk (VaR) models on the risk-free interest rate yield spread, and from the point of
view of the possibility of default (see section 24.3 Credit risk, applying models based on the PD/LGD
approaches.
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The Company’s management monitors these holdings on an ongoing case-by-case basis to be able, at any
time, to take the most appropriate decisions on the basis of the market performance observed and predicted
and of the Company’s strategy. Also, the values are subject to ongoing monitoring, in order to assess whether
there is any objective evidence of impairment, as described in Note 9.
Interest rate risk
This relates mainly to changes in borrowing costs on floating-rate debt. Therefore, the risk lies basically in the
Company’s indebtedness. As part of its efforts to manage interest rate risk, the Company assesses the
sensitivity of the fair value of assets and liabilities to changes in the structure of the market rate curve.
The market interest rate affects financial profit since certain financial liabilities and financial assets are
arranged at a floating rate (tied to Euribor). Accordingly, there is considerable exposure to interest rate
changes. The effect on profits , based on the instruments quoted at the reporting date, is shown below:

Change
-0.5%
+0.5%
+1%

Millions of euros
Effect on profit/(loss), net of
tax
18
(18)
(36)

The Group also has debt at a floating rate. The related exposure to changes in interest rates is mitigated using
swaps (cash flow hedges) and, therefore, would not have a material impact on profit.
In order to mitigate this risk, the Company’s management evaluates whether or not to arrange swaps (cash
flow hedges) depending on current and forecast interest rates. In this regard, the Company arranged several
swaps, hedging practically all interest rate risk.
Foreign currency risk
The functional currency of the assets and liabilities recognised in the Company’s balance sheet is the euro.
The Company may also be indirectly exposed to foreign currency risk through the foreign currency investments
made by investees due, in certain cases, to the major international presence of these companies.
The Company’s policies, on the basis of the overall quantification of risk, take into account the advisability of
arranging either derivative financial instruments or debt in the same currency or currencies of the economic
environment as the assets in which the investment is made.
At 31 December 2014, the Company had no direct investments denominated in foreign currency.
Country risk
The Company’s policy for managing or mitigating country exposure to indirect investment risk consists mainly
of monitoring the geographical area in which it makes its investments both before making the investment and
periodically after the investments have been made. In addition, country risk is taken into account when
deciding on whether to sell investments or spread them over different geographic areas.
Real estate risk
To ensure that the portfolio of real estate assets is recognised at its fair value in the balance sheet, the
Company uses appraisals performed and certified by independent third-party valuers and the Company’s
intention to realise the assets in the short and medium term, for which purpose expectations regarding the
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evolution of the Spanish property market in the short and medium term were taken into account. Appraisals
are performed regularly: more than half of the assets have been appraised within the last year and almost all
of the remaining assets have been appraised within the last two years.
Real estate assets acquired are managed in order to recover, through their commercialisation, the capital
invested, either by way of leasing (investment property), property development (inventories) or a general plan
to sell in the short term (non-current assets held for sale).
1.2. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk relates to the possibility of a company not being able to meet its payment obligations because it
cannot sell a financial instrument sufficiently quickly without incurring significant additional costs. The liquidity
risk associated with the possibility of converting financial investments into cash is of little significance, as these
investments are generally quoted on deep, active markets.
In its investing activity, Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU takes into account in the management of its liquidity the
generation of sustained and significant cash flows by its businesses and investments and the capacity to
analyse its investments which, in general, are quoted on deep, active markets.
A significant effort has been made in 2014 to manage the Company’s finances involving:
-

Early redemption of a EUR 2,500 million subordinated debt issue; and

-

Redemption of EUR 351 million by reducing the par value of the plain vanilla bonds corresponding to
the EUR 1,350 million issue in 2012.

These redemptions were performed by the Company using its own cash reserves, borrowings from credit
institutions of EUR 1,175 million, and a plain vanilla bond issue of EUR 1,000 million (see Note 17).
Subsequent to the above-mentioned events, additional borrowings were obtained from credit institutions
totalling EUR 350 million.
The Company’s financing matures in the long term, most falling due as from 2019 (see Note 17). As
demonstrated this year, the Company is working to manage the repayment terms of its debt and the cost
thereof.
The maturities of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities are presented in the relevant notes to the
financial statements.
1.3. Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk of incurring losses through breach of contractual payment obligations by a debtor
or changes in the risk premium relating to the financial solvency of the debtor. The main credit risk relates to
the investments in Group companies, jointly controlled entities and associates, mainly quoted associates, and
is not the same as the risk related to the market value of their shares.
The cost of investments in Group companies, jointly controlled entities and associates is, in principle, not
subject to the risk of a change in the price of the shares, since their market price does not affect the figures in
the balance sheet or income statement because these investments are accounted at acquisition cost. The risk
in investments of this nature is associated with the performance of the business of the investee, and the
possible bankruptcy thereof, since the market price of the shares is a mere indicator. In general, this risk can
be classified as a credit risk. The tools used to measure these risks are models based on the PD/LGD approach,
also as provided for in the New Basel Capital Accord (NBCA).
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1.4. Operational risk
This is defined as the risk of incurring a loss as a result of errors in operating processes.
The risk management process covers issues relating to systems and staff, administrative processes,
information security and legal matters. These issues are managed in order to establish adequate controls to
minimise possible losses.
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Segment information

The breakdown, by business line, of the Company’s revenue from normal operations is as follows:

Business segment
Holding company
Banking
Property business
Revenue
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Thousands of euros
2014
2013
352,243
72,096
36,925
461,264

678,608
35,361
713,969

Events after the reporting period
-

On 2 January 2015 and after securing the necessary clearance from the authorities, the investee
CaixaBank, SA acquired the entire share capital of Barclays Bank, SAU. CaixaBank paid Barclays Bank
PLC a sum of EUR 820 million to acquire Barclays Bank, SAU.

-

On 17 February 2015 CaixaBank submitted a notice to the Portuguese stock market regulator, the
Portuguese Comissão do Mercado de Valores Mobiliários (CMVM), announcing its intention of
launching a take-over bid for ordinary shares in the Portuguese bank, BPI. The offer is voluntary and
sets a cash price of EUR 1.329 per share. The price is the weighted average of the last six months'
prices and considered to be fair in accordance with Portuguese regulations. The offer is directed at all
BPI's share capital not owned by CaixaBank and is conditional on: (i) obtaining acceptance from more
than 5.9% of the shares issued - so that CaixaBank, considering its current stake of 44.1%, will go on to
hold more than 50% of the BPI's share capital after the operation and (ii) the removal of the 20%
restriction on the voting rights held by a single shareholder established in Article 12.4 of BPI's Bylaws
at the appropriate shareholders' meeting. For this restriction to be removed 75% of the share capital
attending the shareholders' meeting or represented therein must vote in favour of the motion and
CaixaBank may only exercise 20% of the voting rights. The transaction is expected to be completed in
the second quarter of 2015.
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APPENDIX I: INVESTMENTS IN GROUP COMPANIES
Investments in Group companies
Thousands of euros

Company name and line of business

Registered office

Share
capital

CaixaBank, SA
Banking

Av. Diagonal, 621-629
08028
Barcelona

58.96

58.96 5,714,956

Inversiones Autopistas, SL
Holding company

Av. Diagonal, 621-629
08028
Barcelona

50.10

50.10

100.00

Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community, S.A.
Hipólito Lázaro
La Pineda - Vila Seca Urban management and administration of the enclosed areas 43481
Tarragona
of the theme park
Spain
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% of ownership
Direct
Total

Reserves and
interim
dividend
Profit/(Loss)

Other
equity
items

Dividends
from direct
ownership
interest in
2014

Total
equity

15,734,243

934,952

(11,013) 22,373,138

100,000

25,146

44,857

-

100.00

103,989

194,174

(3,338)

0.00

100.00

60

90

50.10

50.10

73,904

Carrying amount
of direct
ownership
interest

Impairment
of direct
ownership
interest

Market price
at 31.12.2014

72,096

-

14,654,529

4.36

170,003

22,461

-

141,141

-

-

294,825

-

-

305,231

-

58

-

209

-

-

-

-

393,852

(38,642)

22,938

452,052

4,998

-

194,126

-

Lumine Travel, SAU
Travel agency

Hipólito Lázaro s/n
43481 La Pineda (Vila-Seca)
Tarragona
Spain

Saba Infraestructuras, SA
Management of car parks and logistics parks

Av. del Parc Logístic, 22-26
08040
Barcelona
Spain

Servihabitat Alquiler II, SLU
Management and administration of homes under lease

Provençals, 39 (Torre Pujades)
08019
Barcelona
Spain

100.00

100.00

3

(33,467)

(14,409)

-

(47,873)

-

(73,128)

58,152

-

Servihabitat Alquiler IV, SA
Management and administration of homes under lease

Provençals, 39 (Torre Pujades)
08019
Barcelona
Spain

100.00

100.00

15

(5)

-

-

10

-

(2)

10

-

Servihabitat Alquiler, SL
Management and administration of homes under lease

Provençals, 39 (Torre Pujades)
08019
Barcelona
Spain

100.00

100.00

10,503

(51,838)

(64,001)

-

(105,336)

-

(136,681)

220,822

-
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Foment Immobiliari Assequible, SLU
Housing development, including state-sponsored housing

C/. Roger de Flor 193-195
Barcelona

100.00

100.00

231,775

(12,692)

(3,461)

-

215,622

-

(2,134)

227,446

-

Arrendament Immobiliari Assequible, SL
Management of state-sponsored housing

C/. Roger de Flor 193-195
Barcelona

0.00

100.00

179,161

44,236

(455)

-

222,942

-

-

-

-

Els Arbres de la Tardor
Acquisition of land and urban
development

C/. Constitució, Salita Parc D
Parròquia d'Escaldes-Engordany
Andorra

100.00

100.00

3

(47,216)

(9,443)

-

(56,656)

-

-

302

-

Caixa Capital Risc, SGECR, SA
Venture capital management

Av. Diagonal, 613
08028
Barcelona

99.99

99.99

1,000

2,289

831

-

4,120

-

-

4,200

-

Caixa Innvierte Industria, S.C.R. de régimen simplificado, SA
Venture capital management

Av. Diagonal, 613
08028
Barcelona

22.41

61.21

12,853

(868)

(530)

-

11,455

-

-

2,880

-

Caixa Innvierte Biomed II, FCR de régimen simplificado
Venture capital management

Av. Diagonal, 613
08028
Barcelona

42.85

44.29

10,502

(15)

(791)

-

9,696

-

-

4,500

-

Caixa Capital TIC II, FCR de régimen simplificado
Venture capital management

Av. Diagonal, 613
08028
Barcelona

51.29

54.37

4,386

(17)

(209)

-

4,160

-

-

2,250

-

Caixa Capital Micro II, FCR de régimen simplificado
Venture capital management

Av. Diagonal, 613
08028
Barcelona

98.00

100.00

5,000

(10)

(204)

-

4,786

-

-

4,900

-

Caixa Assistance, SA
Holding company

Av. Diagonal, 621-629
08028
Barcelona

100.00

100.00

60

(50)

-

-

10

-

-

12

-

Caixa Titol, SAU
Holding company

Av. Diagonal, 621-629
08028
Barcelona

100.00

100.00

60

(48)

-

-

13

-

-

15

-

Club Caixa I, SAU
Holding company

Av. Diagonal, 621-629
08028
Barcelona

100.00

100.00

60

(50)

-

-

10

-

-

12

-

Caixa Podium I
Non-financial entity

Av. Diagonal, 621-629
08028
Barcelona

100.00

100.00

60

-

-

-

60

-

-

12

-

Caixa Network I
Non-financial entity

Av. Diagonal, 621-629
08028
Barcelona

100.00

100.00

60

-

-

-

60

-

-

12

-

GrupCaixa
Investment management

Av. Diagonal, 621-629
08028
Barcelona

100.00

100.00

60

45

-

-

105

-

-

42

-

Servicio de Prevención Mancomunado del Grupo la Caixa, CB
Health and safety advisory and prevention service and
development of preventive activities

Gran Via Carles III, 103
08028
Barcelona

10.00

10.00

30

-

-

-

30

-

-

3

-

APPENDIX II: INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES AND ASSOCIATES
APPENDIX II
Investments in jointly controlled entities and associates
Thousands of euros

Company name and line of business

Registered office

% of ownership
Direct
Total

Share
capital

Reserves and
interim
dividend Profit/(Loss)

Other
equity
items

Total
equity

Dividends
from total
ownership
interest
in 2014

Carrying amount
amount
of direct
ownership Market price
interest
at 31.12.2014

Average
market
price in
last quarter
of 2014

Abertis Infraestructuras, SA
Transport and infrastructure management
communications

Av. del Parc Logístic, 12-20
08040
Barcelona
Spain

15.36

19.25 2,694,915

623,064

306,426 3,082,405

6,706,810

87,672

1,056,316

16.43

16.00

Gas Natural, SDG, S.A.
Gas and electricity business

Plaça del Gas, 1
08003
Barcelona
Spain

34.33

34.33 1,000,689

12,284,126

931,565 1,220,394

15,436,774

310,057

4,968,121

20.81

22.07

Palau-Migdia, SL
Real estate development

Gran Via Jaume I, 9
17002
Girona
Spain

50.00

50.00

3,523

2,232

81

-

5,836

500

1,856

-

-

Vithas Sanidad, SL
Management (holding companies)

Príncipe de Vergara, 110
28002
Spain

20.00

20.00

16,690

218,875

14,614

(1,219)

248,960

-

61,314

-

-

Note: For the listed companies, the figures shown relate to data published by the Spanish National Securities Market Commission (CNMV) at 31 June 2014, and for unlisted companies, the figures shown relate to the latest real or estimated data available
at the date of preparation of these notes to the financial statements.
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APPENDIX III: AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS – EQUITY INSTRUMENTS
APPENDIX III

Available-for-sale financial assets – Equity instruments

Compa ny na me a nd l i ne of bus i nes s

Regi s tered offi ce

Thous a nds of euros
Di vi dends
from di rect
owners hi p
% of owners hi p
i nteres t
Ma rket pri ce
Di rect
Total
i n 2014
a t 31.12.2014

Avera ge
ma rket
pri ce i n
l a s t qua rter
of 2014

Al i a nci a Zero, SL
Rea l es tate s ervi ces

C/ Jos é Echega ra y, 8
28232 Ma dri d
Spa i n

9.47%

9.47%

-

-

-

Vehícul o de Tenenci a y Ges tión 9, SL
Rea l es tate s ervi ces

Pa s eo de l a Ca s tel l a na , 89
28046 Ma dri d
Spa i n

19.89%

19.89%

-

-

-

Soci eda d Promotora Bi l ba o Ga s Hub, SA
Logi s tics , ma rket-rel a ted a nd fi na nci a l s ervi ces
needed to fa ci l i tate ga s tra ns a ctions

C/ Gra n Vi a De Don Di ego Lopez De Ha ro 23
48,001 Bi l ba o
Spa i n

17.11% 17.11%

-

-

-

Suez Envi ronnement Compa ny

Tour CB21 – 16, Pl a ce de l ’Iri s
92040 Pa ri s – La Défens e
Fra nce

5.67%

-

Empres a Metropol i tana de Ges tió del Ci cl e Integra l de l 'Ai güa , SACa rrer Genera l Ba tet 1-7
End-to-end wa ter ma na gement
Ba rcel ona

15.00% 15.00%

-

-

-

Agua s de Va l enci a , SA

Gra n Vi a Ma rqués del Turi a , 19
Va l enci a

14.51% 14.51%

-

-

-

Oquendo SCA SICAR

19-21, boul eva rd du Pri nce Henri
L-1724 Luxembourg

6.56%

6.56%

-

-

Oquendo Mezza ni ne II, SCA SICAR

20, rue de l a Pos te
L-2346 Luxembourg

0.62%

0.62%

-

-

-

Ys i os Bi oFund II Innvi erte FCR

Avda Di a gona l 600, entres uel o 2
08021 Ba rcel ona
Spa i n

1.97%

1.97%

-

-

-
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5.67%

14.44

13.63

